Characterization and expression patterns of five Winter Rye β-

1,3-endoglucanases and their role in cold acclimation

By

Shauna A. McCabe

A thesis

presented to the University of Waterloo

in fulfillment of the

thesis requirement for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Biology

Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, 2007

© Shauna A. McCabe 2007

I hereby declare that I am the sole author of this thesis. This is a true copy of the thesis, including any required final revisions, as accepted by my examiners.

I understand that my thesis may be made electronically available to the public.

Abstract

Winter rye produces ice-modifying antifreeze proteins upon cold treatment. Two of these antifreeze proteins are members of the large, highly conserved, β -1,3-endoglucanase family. This project was designed to identify glucanase genes that are expressed during cold acclimation, wounding, pathogen infection, drought or treatment with the phytohormones ethylene and MeJa. Additionally, a more detailed proteomic analysis was to be carried out to evaluate the glucanase content of the apoplast of cold-acclimated (CA) winter rye.

Results of 2D SDS-PAGE analysis revealed that non-acclimated whole leaf protein extracts contain at least two β -1,3-endoglucanses while CA whole leaf protein extracts contain at least three β -1,3-endoglucanses. Subsequent 2D SDS-PAGE analysis was conducted on the apoplast extracts of NA and CA winter rye plants revealed the limitations of standard 1D SDS-PAGE. The 2-dimensional gel analysis revealed that there is a minimum of 25 proteins within the apoplast of CA winter rye, including at least 5 β -1,3-endoglucanses.

Genome walking was used to isolate cold-responsive glucanase genes. The five genes isolated were designated scGlu6, scGlu9, scGlu10, scGlu11 and scGlu12. The cis-element pattern within the promoter of each gene was evaluated using online databases of documented plant cis elements. As expected, all of the promoters contained elements associated with cold, biotic and abiotic stresses, light regulation, and development. The expression patterns predicted by the cis elements in each promoter were compared to the mRNA abundance produced by each gene as detected by semi-quantitative reverse transcriptase PCR. In most cases, the abundance of transcripts arising from each gene loosely corresponded to the expression pattern predicted by the cis elements the corresponding promoter. Transcripts of scGlu9, 10 and 11 were present in cold-treated tissues and are candidates for β -1,3-endoglucanases with antifreeze activity.

The results presented in this thesis provide additional insight into the apoplast proteome of CA winter rye plants as well as the complexity of the signals controlling the proteins that reside there. Although there are still a number of unresolved questions, this research opens new directions for future studies in the cold acclimation process in winter rye and specifically for the contribution of β -1,3-endoglucanses.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Marilyn Griffith. She believed in me, and taught me to believe in myself. This thesis would never have been written were it not for her support and encouragement. I will never forget her.

Another huge thank-you goes out to Dr. Barb Moffatt who took on the huge task of my supervision after Marilyn's passing. My appreciation for her guidance and support through the difficult times, and through the trials of my research cannot be put in words.

A special thanks also goes out to Dr. Mahmoud Yaish who taught me the basic molecular biology techniques I needed to succeed.

This thesis could not have been finished if not for the generosity of Dr. Tom Hsiang, Professor, Dept. Environmental Biology, University of Guelph who donated pink snow mould used for pathogen infection experiments. And to Dr. Thomas Elthon at The Center for Biotechnology University of Nebraska-Lincoln for his help and troubleshooting during my 2D SDS-PAGE adventures.

I would also like to thank all the members of the Griffith and Moffatt labs I have worked with throughout the years. Your help and friendship made this experience worth while.

And finally a big thank-you to my family and my boyfriend who put up with my stress and crazy schedule.

Table of Contents

Abstract.	<i>iii</i>
Acknowl	edgementsv
Table of	Contentsvi
List of Fi	iguresx
List of To	ıblesxii
Abbrevia	tionsxiii
1 Intr	oduction1
1.1	Freezing in Plants A general Overview
1.1.1	I Freezing Avoidance vs. Freezing Tolerance
1.1.2	2 The Freezing Process and Consequences of Freezing in Plants
1.2	Models in Cold Research
1.2.1	Winter Rye as a Model Organism for Plant Cold Response
1.2.2	2 <i>A. thaliana</i> as a Model Organism for Plant Cold Response
1.3	β-1,3-endoglucanases11
1.4	Objectives 12
2 Mat	erials and Methods16
2.1	Chemical Sources
2.2	Plant germination, care and tissue harvesting16
2.3	Treatment of Winter Rye19

2.3	3.1 Treatment with Ethephon	19
2.3	3.2 Treatment with Methyl Jasmonate	19
2.3	3.2 Treatment with hydrogen peroxide	20
2.3	3.4 Wounding of Winter Rye	20
2.3	3.5 Pathogen Infection of Winter Rye with <i>Microdochium nivale</i>	21
2.3	3.6 Dehydration and Rehydration	21
2.4	Genomic DNA Extraction	23
2.5	RNA extraction	24
2.6	Gene Amplification Cloning and Sequencing	26
2.6	5.1 Genomic Walking	26
2.6	5.2 Cloning	31
2.6	5.3 Sequence data analysis	31
2.6	5.4 Promoter analysis	32
2.7	RT-PCR	32
2.7	7.1 cDNA Synthesis	32
2.7	7.2 RT-PCR conditions	33
2.8	SDS-PAGE and Immunoblotting	35
2.8	8.1 Whole leaf and crown tissue protein extraction for 1D-gel electrophoresis	35
2.8	3.2 Apoplastic protein extraction	36
2.8	8.3 Detection of β-1-3-endoglucanases using 1D immunoblotting	37
2.8	8.4 Whole leaf and crown Protein Extraction for 2D-electrophoresis	37
2.8	8.5 First Dimension IEF electrophoresis	38

	2.8	3.6 Second Dimension electrophoresis	39
	2.8	8.7 Visualization of 2D-PAGE using Ruby Red SYPRO Stain	40
	2.8	3.9 Detection of β-1,3-endoglucanases using 2D immunoblotting	40
	2.9	Antifreeze Activity Assay	40
3	Re	sults	44
	3.1	Results of plant treatments	44
	3.1	.1 Treatment with Ethephon	44
	3.1	.2 Treatment with Methyl Jasmonate	45
	3.1	.3 Treatment with hydrogen peroxide	45
	3.1	.4 Wounding of Winter Rye	45
	3.1	.5 Pathogen Infection of Winter Rye with Microdochium nivale	46
	3.1	.6 Dehydration and Rehydration	46
	3.2	Estimated antifreeze activity of winter rye apoplastic extract after treatm	ent
	with	cold, ethephon, hydrogen peroxide and MeJa	47
	3.3	A survey of the cold-induced β-1,3-endoglucanases of winter rye	51
	3.3	3.1 1D-SDS PAGE gel and immunoblotting results	52
	3.3	3.2 2D SDS-PAGE gel and immunoblotting results	62
	3.4	Isolation and Comparison of Glucanase Genes and Promoters in Winter I	Rye. 71
	3.4	1.1 Sequence Comparison between the Five isolated β -1,3endoglucanases and	
	glı	canases from other related plant species	75
	3.4	2 Promoter Analysis	93
	3.5	RT-PCR Analysis	99

4	Discussion	110	
	.1 Treatments leading to the expression of antifreeze activity	0	
	.2 Survey of β-1,3-endoglucanses of winter rye11	3	
	.3 Promoter analysis and expression patterns of 5 β -1,3-endoglucananses of winter ry	e	
		5	
	.4 Evolution of antifreeze proteins12	0	
5	References 12	3	

List of Figures

Figure 3-1: Estimation of antifreeze activity in apoplastic extracts of NA winter rye leaves
treated daily with cold, methyl jasmonate, ethephon or hydrogen peroxide 48
Figure 3-2: 1D SDS-PAGE of proteins extracted from NA and CA winter rye plants along
with their controls
Figure 3-3: 1D immunoblotting for β -1,3-endoglucanases in proteins extracted from NA and
CA winter rye
Figure 3-4: 1D SDS-PAGE of proteins extracted from winter rye treated with MeJa
Figure 3-5: 1D immunoblotting analysis for B-1,3-endoglucanases of proteins extracted from
winter rye treated with MeJa
Figure 3-6: 2D SDS-PAGE analysis of whole leaf protein extract from NA and CA winter rye
plants
Figure 3-7: 2D SDS-PAGE analysis of apoplastic protein extracts from NA and CA winter rye
plants
Figure 3-8: 2D SDS-PAGE of NA and CA whole leaf tissue extract, transferred to a PVDF
membrane and immunobloted with antibody against β -1,3-endoglucanses
Figure 3-9: 2D SDS-PAGE analysis of apoplastic protein extract from NA and CA winter rye
plants
Figure 3-10: Alignment of the UTR and coding regions of the scGlu6 gene obtained through
genomic walking, and the previously published scGlu6 cDNA sequence
Figure 3-11: The full length genomic sequence of scGlu6

Figure 3-12:The full length genomic sequence of scGlu9	82
Figure 3-13: The full length genomic sequence of scGlu10	84
Figure 3-14: The full length genomic sequence of scGlu11	86
Figure 3-15: The full length genomic sequence of scGlu12	88
Figure 3-16: Alignment of the deduced amino acid sequence of scGlu6, 9, 10, 11 and 12 with	n
comparison to deduced amino acids sequence of published glucanase sequences.	
	91
Figure 3-17: Results of the semi-quantitative RT-PCR reactions performed to test expression	of
the five glucanases after cold exposure	00
Figure 3-18: Results of the semi-quanitative RT-PCR reactions performed to test expression of	of
the five glucanases after pathogen infection	02
Figure 3-19: Results of the semi-quanitative RT-PCR reactions performed to test expression of	of
the five glucanases in the pollinated flower and after wounding	04
Figure 3-20: Results of the semi-quanitative RT-PCR reactions performed to test expression of	of
the five glucanases after dehydration and rehydration	06
Figure 3-21: Results of the semi-quanitative RT-PCR reactions performed to test transcript	
abundance of the five glucanase genes after treatment with 15mM MeJa and	
10mM ethephon	08

List of Tables

Table 2-1: Chemical Sources.	17
Table 2-2: Primers used for genomic walking and RT-PCR	
Table 3-1: Name, function and position of cis-acting regulatory elements located on each	ch of the
5 glucanase putative promoters	

Abbreviations

ABA	Abscisic acid
ABRE	ABA response element
AFP	Antifreeze protein
CA	Cold-acclimated
CBF	CRT binding factors
CRT	Cold response element
COR	Cold-regulated
DRT	Dehydration response element
DW	Dry weight
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
Ethephon	2-chloroethylphosphoric acid
FW	Fresh weight
GA	Gibberellic acid
ICE	Inducer of cold-expression
LTI	Low temperature induced
LTP	Lipid Transfer Protein
MeJa	Methyl Jasmonate
NA	Non-acclimated
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PPFD	Photosynthetic photon flux density
PR	Pathogenesis-related
RT	Reverse transcriptase
RWC	Relative water content
SDS	Sodium Dodecyl sulfate
TW	Turgid weight
UTR	Untranslated region

1 Introduction

Plants are poikilotherms, that is, they are incapable of controlling their own temperature and so they assume the temperature of their environment. They cannot avoid environmental extremes and have developed species dependant mechanisms to survive temperature shifts. Tropical plants, such as sugar cane or banana, suffer chilling damage only at temperatures below 15°C (Levitt, 1980). Plants native to the arctic, temperate, and high-altitude zones withstand seasonal sub-zero temperatures.

Plants survive sub-zero temperatures through physiological, biochemical and molecular adaptations. Annual plants will over winter as seeds, eliminating the need to protect their tissues from freezing-damage. Plant species that remain vegetative throughout the winter must avoid or tolerate ice formation within their tissues.

A number of species have been studied to evaluate the effect of cold on plants. Although *Arabidopsis thaliana* cannot survive sub-zero temperatures, it has been used extensively as a molecular model in cold-related studies, primarily because its complete genome has been sequenced and mutants are readily obtained. Plants that survive sub-zero temperatures such as poplar and winter cereals have also been used for cold studies, but to a lesser extent because these species are less suitable for molecular genetic analysis. This research focuses on winter rye (*Secale cereale* L.), an over-wintering cereal. It tolerates freezing temperatures by excreting <u>AntiFreeze Proteins</u> (AFPs) into the apoplast after a period of cool, non-freezing temperatures in a process known as cold acclimation (Levitt, 1980).

1.1 Freezing in Plants -- A general Overview

Although plants differ in their ability to withstand cold and sub-zero temperatures the process by which their tissues freeze is universal. Vegetative plants freeze when they cannot prevent ice nucleation and growth within their tissues (Levitt, 1980). Ice nucleation occurs when water molecules cluster and form ice spontaneously, or in response to an intrinsic or extrinsic ice nucleating substance. Certain biological molecules, such as some proteins, cell structures or inorganic debris serve as ice-nucleators. In addition, various species of bacteria are capable of acting as, or producing ice nucleators (reviewed in Griffith & Yaish, 2004). This process is exaggerated in moist climates where heterogeneous nucleation (nucleation in response to a chemical or organic substance) is a problem (Saki & Larcher, 1987).

1.1.1 Freezing Avoidance vs. Freezing Tolerance

Plant species that avoid ice crystal formation within their tissues do so by two known mechanisms. The first method involves using the ground or snow cover as an insulating blanket that prevents heat loss (Andrews, 1996). The second method is supercooling (Levitt, 1980), which involves cooling of the liquids within a plant below their freezing points without the formation of ice crystals. Supercooling is only possible in the absence of a nucleator. In fact, the introduction a nucleator or disturbance of any kind, a light touch for example, will cause instant freezing. Supercooling is a limited cold survival mechanism as water will flash freeze at -38°C and the solute concentrations in plants only allow them to supercool to -47°C. Therefore, plants that live in environments where temperatures may drop to as low as -60°C, such as trees in boreal forests, must have survival mechanisms in addition to supercooling (Levitt, 1980).

When compared to supercooling, freezing tolerance is a better long term coldtemperature survival strategy. Freezing tolerance develops after a period of cold acclimation and allows plants to endure ice formation within their non-cytoplasmic tissues (Levitt, 1980). Comparisons between non-acclimated and cold-acclimated plants show that cold acclimation causes changes at the anatomical, physical and molecular levels. Without these changes, extracellular ice formation can severely harm or even kill a plant through membrane damage and dehydration (Levitt, 1980).

Several factors affect the degree of freezing tolerance induced by cold acclimation. The temperature at which a plant cold acclimates is species dependant but is generally a few degrees above the point at which freezing damage would first occur in non-acclimated plants (Guy, 2003). In addition to temperature, cold acclimation and freezing tolerance is affected by light levels. In temperate zones, the onset of winter is characterized by cooler temperatures and an overall decrease in light levels. Many plants, such as barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) are more freezing tolerant if cold-acclimated with cool temperatures and a short-day length compared to plants acclimated solely by cooler temperatures (Guy, 2003).

1.1.2 The Freezing Process and Consequences of Freezing in Plants

Ice first forms externally at the surface of the plant (Burke *et al.*, 1976) followed by internal development within extracellular spaces, with cell walls and xylem acting as ice nucleators (Jeffree *et al.*, 1987; Olien, 1967). Ice continues to spread through the extracellular spaces, but is prevented from entering the intracellular spaces by the plasma membrane (Levitt, 1980). Although ice in the extracellular spaces can cause mechanical shearing of plasma membranes, create adhesions between the cell wall and the cell membrane, denature proteins

and produce reactive oxygen species, the main consequence of ice formation within plant tissue is cellular dehydration. Ice formed in extracellular spaces has a chemical potential less than that of the liquid water inside the cell, and as the internal water potential drops, water tends to move out of the cell. The extent of cellular water loss is correlated with the amount of ice within the extracellular tissues. Therefore, if ice continues to nucleate beyond a critical point, the plant will die from dehydration. Plants that can cold-acclimate have developed many mechanisms to tolerate extracellular ice formation, minimize membrane shearing and dehydration. Various plant models are used to delineate the molecular basis for these adaptations.

1.2 Models in Cold Research

Early research on cold tolerance involved plants of agronomic importance, such as cereal and vegetable crops. Winter rye and other winter cereals became popular due to their outstanding ability to withstand cold temperatures. In the late 1980s, increased interest in *A. thaliana*, a small, easily transformable dicot with a short generation time, drew cold-researchers away from un-transformable monocots such as rye. Although not highly cold-tolerant, *A. thaliana* gave researchers the ability to study cold tolerance through mutant analysis. This has led researchers further from cereal studies and enabled them to conduct genome-wide cold analysis of changes induced by low temperatures (for reviews see Chinnuswammy *et al.*, 2006; Van Buskirk & Thomashow, 2006)

1.2.1 Winter Rye as a Model Organism for Plant Cold Response

Winter rye is a member of the Poaceae family and is closely related to barley and wheat. Rye is used to make the dark, hard bread commonly consumed in Northern and Eastern

Europe, and is also consumed whole, rolled like oats, or refined into alcoholic beverages such as whisky and vodka. This over-wintering plant is recognized as being more drought resistant and cold tolerant than winter wheat; it can survive to -22°C (Krol *et al.*, 1984).

Initial studies of winter rye's cold tolerance were focused on the physiological and biochemical changes associated with low temperatures. In 1992, Marilyn Griffith and colleagues determined that apoplastic extracts of Cold-acclimated (CA) winter rye had both ice nucleation and antifreeze activity (Griffith et al., 1992). This research lead to the discovery of six major and seven minor CA apoplastic polypeptides. Of these polypeptides, seven modified the growth of ice crystals in vitro and displayed thermal hysteresis. Thermal hysteresis refers to an observed difference between melting and freezing temperatures of a liquid. These properties identified the polypeptides as antifreeze proteins, which until that time were known to be produced only by fish and insects (reviewed in Griffith & Yaish, 2004). The winter rye AFPs have the molecular masses of 13, 26, 29, 32, 35 and 36 kDa, are enriched with Asp/Asn, Glu/Gln, Ser, Thr, Gly, and Ala and contain 0-5% Cys (Hon et al., 1994). Interestingly, Nterminal sequencing revealed these polypeptides have striking identities to plant Pathogeneisis-Related (PR) proteins (Hon et al., 1995). Further studies using immunoblotting and enzyme activity assays confirmed the PR nature of the polypeptides. Two proteins of 32 and 35 kDa were identified as β -1,3-endoglucanases, the 29 and 36 kDa polypeptides were endochitinases, and the 13 and 26 kDa polypeptides were thaumatin-like proteins and the 13 kDa polypeptide proved to be a lipid transfer-like protein (Hon et al., 1995).

In addition to cold treatment, winter rye can also gain antifreeze activity and produce these 6 apoplastic PR proteins after treatment with the plant hormone ethylene, the ethylenereleasing chemical 2-chloroethylphosphoric acid (ethephon) or the ethylene precursor 1aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate (ACC) (Yu *et al.*, 2001). AFPs are not produced in response to the growth regulator salicylic acid or abscisic acid (ABA) (Yu *et al.*, 2001a). However, there is evidence that methyl Jasmonate (MeJa) and hydrogen peroxide may be involved in cold stress signaling.

MeJa is a well known cellular regulator of stress responses against pathogens and is also involved in a wide array of developmental processes (Cheong & Choi, 2003). The regulation pathway of MeJa is closely related to that of ethylene as MeJa can trigger the production of ethylene (Hudgins *et al.*, 2004). The fact that MeJa is closely linked to both the pathogen response pathway and the ethylene response pathway strongly suggests that MeJa may play a role in AFP production in winter rye. Preliminary work by Jennifer Merz, a German dipolme student in the Griffith lab, has shown that MeJa not only produces apoplastic proteins with antifreeze activity, but that it produces a greater concentration of apoplastic proteins compared to ethephon treatment (59.48 μ g \pm 13.77 g-1 FW versus 38.71 μ g \pm 6.46 μ g g-1 FW, respectively) (Merz, 2005). Although the concentration of accumulated apoplastic proteins appears to be different in the two cases, this may not correspond to the amount of antifreeze activity each treatment produces.

Hydrogen peroxide is a plant-signaling molecule that increases within leaf tissue in response to cold (Okuda *et al.*, 1991). There is some evidence to suggest that treatment with hydrogen peroxide improves cold tolerance in plants. Pre-spraying maize and mung bean with hydrogen peroxide increased the survival of seedlings after a period of chilling (Yu *et al.*, 2003). In addition, treatment of mung bean with 200mM hydrogen peroxide induced a chilling tolerance equivalent to that of cold acclimation, and had an effect on calcium levels within the leaves (Yang *et al.*, 2002). There is no evidence that hydrogen peroxide is involved in AFP

regulation, but the increased chilling tolerance and changes to calcium levels within leaves after spray treatment suggests that there may be a role for this signaling molecule in AFP accumulation (Stressman *et al.*, 2004).

Winter rye AFPs do not act as cyroprotectant, a property of many insect and fish AFPs have, nor do they dramatically lower the freezing point of plant tissues. Therefore, winter rye AFPs must have another mode of protecting plant leaves and crowns from ice propagation. There is strong evidence suggesting that winter rye AFPs interact directly with ice to modify its growth. Infrared video thermography shows that winter rye leaves producing AFPs have a lower freezing temperature but also display a diminished rate of ice propagation compared to leaves that do not produce AFPs (Griffith *et al.*, 2005).

The full cDNA sequences of the winter rye chitinases with antifreeze-activity have been established (Yeh *et al.*, 2000b). These chitinases, designated CHT9 and CHT46 encode signal peptides targeting for extracellular excretion followed by a sequence coding for the functional chitinase domains, which are greater than 90% similar to chitinases from related monocots. Transcripts of these genes increase by 5-10 fold in winter rye leaves and crowns during cold acclimation. Futhermore, these cold-induced chitinases retain their enzyme activity when expressed in either yeast and or *Escherichia coli* (Yeh *et al.*, 2000b). These proteins, therefore, do not require eukaryote post-translational modification for their enzyme or antifreeze activities.

Infection of winter rye plants by low-temperature pathogens such as snow mold does not induce AFP production in its crowns and leaves, but does induce homologous proteins without antifreeze activity. Surprisingly, CHT46a, the winter rye chitinase that lacks antifreeze activity has the identical predicted amino acid sequence to that of the winter rye chitinase CHT46 that does have antifreeze activity. In addition, mass spectrometry analysis has shown that neither CHT46a nor CHT46 are post-translationally modified save for the removal of their signal peptide. Perhaps the differences between the proteins are due to interactions with other expressed proteins. For instance, interaction studies have shown that PR proteins assemble into complexes of glucanases, chitinases, thaumatin-like proteins and lipid-transfer proteins (Yu & Griffith, 1999). These protein complexes have an increased number of calcium-binding domains compared to complexes without antifreeze activity. This suggests that calcium maybe a regulator of antifreeze activity (Stressman *et al.*, 2004). Clearly, there are distinct signals and cellular conditions necessary to produce antifreeze activity.

A recent bioinformatic study involving 2D protein modeling of AFPs revealed that AFPs contain hydrophilic groups that are spaced at regular intervals on one of the outside faces of the protein, allowing it to bind loosely to the ice crystal lattice. Using this information, an algorithm was developed to search protein databases for candidate AFPs. This algorithm recognized and differentiated AFPs from non-AFPs and has lead to a theoretical model explaining how AFPs bind to ice and modify their growth (Doxey *et al.*, 2006). Interestingly, this study suggests that most winter rye β -1,3-endoglucanases possess antifreeze activity between CA and NA plants lies not with the β -1,3-endoglucanases clone but with the chitinases, thaumatin-like proteins or other apoplastic factors.

1.2.2 *A. thaliana* as a Model Organism for Plant Cold Response

A. thaliana has established itself as the dominant model of choice for plant molecular biologists (Somerville & Koornneef, 2002). This little plant's popularity is largely due to its small genome, short life cycle, the ease to which it is transformed, and its abundant seed production. Additional interest in this plant has been encouraged by the availability of its completely sequenced genome, easily accessible mutant collections, and microarrays of its complete transcriptome (Huala *et al.*, 2001). *A. thaliana* is not particularly cold tolerant and cannot withstand extreme freezing temperatures. Despite these drawbacks, *A. thaliana* has still proven itself useful for molecular cold-stress studies, particularly in gene regulation analyses.

Studies, including those of *A. thaliana*, have shown that cold acclimation is associated with changes in gene expression. The genes involved in cold acclimation were given appropriate names such as Cold-Regulated (COR) and Low Temperature Induced (LTI) (reviewed by Shinozaki *et al.*, 2003). It was hypothesized that changes in the expression of these genes help plants become cold tolerant. The majority of scientists who work to test this hypothesis chose *A. thaliana* as their model organism and have focused on the identification of transcription factors and mapped the transcriptional control pathways that are important during cold-acclimation.

A. thaliana research shows that there are two main transcriptional control pathways for cold-tolerance: one is <u>ABscisic Acid</u> (ABA)-dependant, the other is ABA-independent (reviewed by Shinozaki *et al.*, 2003). In the first pathway, many transcription factors act by binding to cis-elements known as <u>ABA Response Elements</u> (ABREs). Often there is the requirement for promoters to contain two copies of these ABREs or another twin cis-elements

known as a coupling element. The coupling elements are highly conserved in cold-promoter regions (reviewed by Van Buskirk, 2006) and are collectively known as Dehydration Response/Cold Response elements (DRT/CRT) as they are involved in transcription of cold and dehydration related genes. In fact, initial research on the ABA-independent cold transcription pathway found that it was identical to a large portion of the dehydration pathway (reviewed by Van Buskirk, 2006). This isn't surprising given that dehydration is a key component of cold stress.

Researchers using A. thaliana as a model organism discovered a family of transcription factors that are involved in both ABA-dependant and -independent pathways. These transcription factors are collectively known as <u>CRT Binding Factors</u> (CBFs) because they bind to genes containing the CRT cis-elements within promoters (reviewed by Van Buskirk et al., 2006). The discovery of the CBF family of transcription factors was accomplished by isolating A. thaliana mutants with the ability to survive freezing temperatures, and identifying mutants that influence cold gene expression. Further mutant studies lead to the discovery of another cold-related transcription factor called Inducer of CBF Expression (ICE1) that binds directly to cis-elements within the promoter of CBF3 (Chinnusamy et al., 2003). This transcription factor was called the "Master regulator of cold acclimation" in a recent review by Chinnusamy et al., (2006) because transcriptome analysis revealed that a large proportion of CBF-dependant and independent cold regulated genes are either not induced or have severely decreased expression levels in ICE1 null mutants (Chinnusamy et al., 2003). Other studies have shown that constitutive over expression of ICE1 enhances freezing tolerance (Chinnusamy et al., 2003). In addition to ICE1, another ICE transcription factor (ICE2) has been suggested to be relavant to cold-acclimation, by more than one group (Van Buskirk & Thomashow, 2006). ICE2 binds to

cis-elements within CBF2 (and possibly CBF1) inducing CBF2 expression (Zarka *et al.*, 2003; Van Buskirk & Thomashow, 2006).

Other studies using *A. thaliana* have revealed a number of smaller pathways running parallel or downstream of CBF transcription factors (reviewed by Chinnusamy *et al.*, 2006). These additional pathways enable *A. thaliana* to fine tune its cold response. For instance, some zinc finger proteins and some double-stranded RNA binding proteins have been recognized as negative regulators of CBF expression (reviewed by Chinnusamy *et al.*, 2006). Other research has identified CBF-independent as well as post-transcriptional regulation of cold gene transcription (reviewed by Chinnusamy *et al.*, 2006). Identification of these additional cold-response pathways in *A. thaliana*, as well as identifying the role of all of the hundreds of genes (Saki *et al.*, 2001) shown to change their expression pattern after cold-stress are the next major goals of cold research in *A. thaliana*.

Although the use of *A. thaliana* has revealed the molecular response pathways involved in cold-regulation, it is not tolerant of extreme cold temperatures, nor does it produce antifreeze proteins. Winter rye and other plants able to survive extremes by producing antifreeze proteins must be used to study these aspects low-temperature survival.

1.3 β-1,3-endoglucanases

CA winter rye produces a number of AFPs, the research described in this thesis focuses on the two β -1,3-endoglucanases. These enzymes hydrolyze β -1,3-glucans, such as the linear form found in the carbohydrate laminarin. For this reason, β -1,3-endoglucanses are sometimes referred to as laminarinases. β -1,3-glucans are common structural components of the cells of bacteria, fungi, algae, higher plants and a few invertebrates (Bull & Chesters, 1963) and β -1,3-

endoglucanses are produced by all of these organisms where they facilitate the breakdown and turnover of β -1,3-glucan-containing structures. In plants, β -1,3-glucans are found in several plant structures including the wall of pollen tubes, endosperm cell walls, in the sieve elements of parenchyma cells, and in cell walls, especially those in fruiting bodies (Bull & Chesters, 1966). In addition to their role in protection against pathogens and their role in ice recrystallization, β -1,3-endoglucanases are involved in a number of key cellular processes including cell division, microsporogenesis, pollen germination and tube growth, fertilization, embryogenesis, fruit ripening, seed germination, mobilization of storage reserves in the endosperm of cereal grains and bud dormancy (Leubner-Metzger & Meinz, 1999). Stresses that are known to upregulate β -1,3-endglucanses include infection with a fungal pathogen, wounding, cold, ozone and UVB exposure (Jin et al., 1999). These stresses are associated with increases in the phytohormones known to upregulate expression of β -1,3-endoglucanases such as ethylene, ABA and salicylic acid (Leubner-Metzger & Meinz, 1999). In addition, the jasmonates, such as MeJa, and signaling molecules such as hydrogen peroxide, are potentially involved in glucanase expression (Cheong & Choi, 2003).

Without a complete genome sequence it is impossible to determine the exact number genes coding for β -1,3-endoglucanases in a given species. A ball-park Figure can be obtained from analysis of the Arabidopsis genome. The genome of this plant contains at least 50 genes having the potential to code for an active β -1,3-endoglucanase (Yaish *et al.*, 2006).

1.4 Objectives

Winter rye has been shown to produce ice-modifying AFPs upon treatment with cold but not freezing temperatures which allow the plant to tolerate ice formation within its tissues (Griffith, 1992). Two of these AFPs are represented by members of the β -1,3-endoglucanase family. Although the winter rye β -1,3-endoglucanase family is poorly characterized, studies of β -1,3-endoglucanases from prokaryotes and eukaryotes have revealed that these widely occurring enzymes have various functions. Plant glucanases are known to be involved with pathogen resistance, cell wall synthesis, and pollen development (for a review see Meins *et al.*, 1992). The members of the winter rye β -1,3-endoglucanase family that have been characterized show strong sequence homology to other plant β -1,3-endoglucanases. At least one β -1,3endoglucanase with antifreeze activity is excreted into the apoplast of winter rye after treatment with ethylene and cold but not after treatment with ABA, salicylic acid, or pathogens (Yu & Griffith, 1999). In addition, some recombinant cold-induced glucanases have both antifreeze activity and retain partial hydrolytic activity at even subzero temperatures (Yaish et al., 2006). The known winter rye cDNA sequences separate into two phylogenetic groups (Group I and Group II). The first group (Group I) has seven known members and up to 96% sequence identity with barley B-1,3-endoglucanases while the second group has only one member and only an 80% sequence identity. All of the sequences contain the glycosyl hydrolase domain (Yaish et. al. 2006) that is indicative of glucanases. Because both groups contain members that display antifreeze activity, sequence alone cannot be used to identify glucanases with this property.

The goal of this project is to identify the genes encoding β -1,3-endoglucanases that are expressed during cold acclimation or after wounding, pathogen infection, drought or treatment with the phytohormones ethylene and MeJa. Treatments of cold, drought or ethylene are known to cause plants to excrete AFPs similar to PR proteins into their apoplast. There is preliminary evidence to suggest that MeJa treatment also results in apoplastic antifreeze activity. Because there is a high sequence identity between β -1,3-endoglucanases, it is impossible to differentiate glucanases on their coding sequences alone. It is anticipated that promoters of cold-regulated glucanse genes will contain known cold-related cis-elements where the promoters of non-cold-related β -1,3-endoglucanases will contain cis-elements relating to other known roles of β -1,3-endoglucanases, such as flower development and cell wall production. These differences will allow researchers a means to easily distinguish the genes coding glucanases with and without cold-related functions. To approach this, full-length sequences, including the promoter sequence of a number of β -1,3-glucanases from winter rye will be obtained and the cis-element pattern within the promoter of each gene will be determined and compared to the expression pattern of each gene for verification.

Semi-quantitative <u>Reverse Transcriptase (RT</u>)-PCR analyses will be used to test whether putative cold-regulated β -1,3-endoglucanase genes are transcriptionally upregulated after cold-acclimation and not at 20°C. Other β -1,3-endoglucanases may be transcribed at 20°C, or at 20°C and 4°C, but not at 4°C alone. RT-PCR will test whether β -1,3endoglucanases have distinct transcription patterns after exposure to cold, ABA, ethylene, MeJa, drought, pathogen infection or wounding. The transcription pattern should be distinct to each β -1,3-endoglucanase, but only cold-regulated β -1,3-endoglucanases should be induced by cold treatment. In addition, cold-regulated β -1,3-endoglucanases may be induced by hormones involved in cold-response such as ethylene but not by treatments unrelated to cold such as wounding.

The size of the winter rye gene family in winter rye is unknown, but because of their diverse roles, glucanases are expected to be present in all tissue types to some degree. Previous immunoblots determined that there is at least one CA β -1-3-endoglucanase in the winter rye

leaf apoplast, but there may be more within the cell. Immunoblots of two-dimensional <u>S</u>odium <u>D</u>odecyl <u>S</u>ulfate (SDS)-PAGE of CA apoplastic extract and whole tissue extracts of NA and CA crowns and leaves were performed to address this question. Immunoblots of 2D-PAGE separated proteins from CA and NA winter rye leaves and apoplast will aid in the discovery of additional β -1,3-endoglucanases not seen on traditional 1D-PAGE blots. It is important to know how many glucanases are involved in winter rye cold defense in order to fully understand their roles in cold tolerance.

Finally, hydrogen peroxide, a common stress induced signaling molecule, is known to be produced in plant leaves in response to cold (Okuda *et al.*, 1991; Hung *et al.*, 2005). There is some evidence to suggest that treatment with hydrogen peroxide improves cold tolerance in plants (Prasad *et al.*, 1994) but there is no evidence that hydrogen peroxide is involved in AFP regulation. This thesis will determine if treatment with hydrogen peroxide results in AFP excretion into the leaf apoplast. This information would be beneficial in determining if hydrogen peroxide is involved in a signaling pathway for AFP expression.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Chemical Sources

All general chemicals used for experiments described in this thesis can be found, along with the names of the supplier in Table 2-1. Chemicals that were used for specific purposes or those supplied in a kit are mentioned within the text along side the supplier.

2.2 Plant germination, care and tissue harvesting

Seeds of winter rye (Secale cereale L. cv Musketeer) were surfaced sterilized for 5 minutes using a 0.3% (v/v) sodium hypochlorite solution and then rinsed 10 times with deionized water. Except for floral organ collection, seeds were sown in 15cm pots containing Pro-mix BX potting soil (Premier Horticulture, Riviere de Loup, Quebec, Canada) at a density of 5g per pot. These were germinated at 20/16°C (day/night) with a 16-hour day length and an average Photosynthetic Photon Flux Density (PPFD) of 300 umol.m⁻².s⁻¹ for 1 week. Non-Acclimated (NA) plants and those designated for dehydration and wounding experiments were grown under the same conditions for an additional two weeks prior to harvest. CA plants were transferred to a chamber at 5°C/4°C (day/night) with a day length of 16 hours, and an average PPFD of 300 µmol.m⁻².s⁻¹ for an additional 7 weeks. CA plants grown for 7 weeks in these conditions are similar in physiological age to NA plants grown at 20/16°C for 3 weeks (Krol et al., 1984; Griffith & McIntyre, 1993). Plants that were designated for hormone treatment or pathogen infection were grown for 1 week prior to treatment because if these treatments are applied to older plants, the larger leaves become weighed down by the amount of liquid that accumulates on the leaf surface causing erratic leaf growth. This erratic leaf growth leads to

Table 2-1: Chemical Sources.

The general chemicals used in this thesis are listed below. The name of the chemical supplier, and location of the supplier's office is also listed.

Chemical	Source	Location
	Roche Applied	
1,4-diothreitol (DTT)	Science	Mannheim, Germany
2-amino-2-(hydroxymethyl)propane-1,3-diol (Tris)	BioShop Canada	Burlington, ON, Canada
2-β-mercaptoethanol	Sigma-Aldrich	St. Louis, MO, USA
3-(N-Morpholino) propanesulfonic acid (MOPS)	BioShop Canada	Burlington, ON, Canada
3-[3-(cholamidopropropyl)-1-propanesulfonate (CHAPS)	BioShop Canada	Burlington, ON, Canada
40% acrylamide/bis-acrylamide	BioShop Canada	Burlington, ON, Canada
agarose biotechnology grade	BioShop Canada	Burlington, ON, Canada
ammonium acetate	Sigma-Aldrich	St. Louis, MO, USA
ammonium persulfate (APS)	Sigma-Aldrich	St. Louis, MO, USA
ascorbic acid	Fisher Scientific	Burlington, ON, Canada
bromophenol blue	Sigma-Aldrich	St. Louis, MO, USA
calcium chloride	Fisher Scientific	Burlington, ON, Canada
Chloroform	Fisher Scientific	Ottawa, ON, Canada
deoxyribonucleotides (dNTPs)	Fermentas	Burlington, ON, Canada
diethylpyrocarbonate (DEPC)	BioShop Canada	Burlington, ON, Canada
Ethephon	PhytoTechnology Labs	Shawnee Mission, KS, USA
ethidium bromide	VWR	Mississauga, ON, Canada
ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA)	BioShop Canada	Burlington, ON, Canada
Formaldehyde	Fisher Scientific	Ottawa, ON, Canada
Formamide	Fisher Scientific	Ottawa, ON, Canada
Glycerol	BioShop Canada	Burlington, ON, Canada
hexadecyltrimethylammoniumbromide (CTAB)	J.T. Baker	Phillipsberg, NJ, USA
hypochloric acid	Sigma-Aldrich	St. Louis, MO, USA
hyrogen peroxide	BioShop Canada	Burlington, ON, Canada
methyl Jasmonate	Sigma-Aldrich	St. Louis, MO, USA
N,N,N',N'-Tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED)	BioShop Canada	Burlington, ON, Canada
Phenol	Fisher Scientific	Ottawa, ON, Canada
phosphoric acid	Sigma-Aldrich	St. Louis, MO, USA
Polyvinylpyrrolidone	Sigma-Aldrich	St. Louis, MO, USA
Polyvinylalcohol	Sigma-Aldrich	St. Louis, MO, USA
sodium acetate	Sigma-Aldrich	St. Louis, MO, USA
sodium chloride	BioShop Canada	Burlington, ON, Canada
sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS)	BioShop Canada	Burlington, ON, Canada
sodium hypochlorite (Javex TM)	Collgate- Palmolive	Toronto, ON, Canada
Sucrose	Fisher Scientific	Burlington, ON, Canada
Thiourea	BioShop Canada	Burlington, ON, Canada
trichloroacetic acid	Fisher Scientific	Ottawa, ON, Canada
Triton-X TM 100	BioShop Canada	Burlington, ON, Canada
Tween [™] 20	ICI Americas Inc.	Wilmington, DE, USA
Urea	BioShop Canada	Burlington, ON, Canada
xylene cyanol	Sigma-Aldrich	St. Louis, MO, USA

over crowding in growth chambers and damages leaves causing unwanted wound responses. Plants were maintained in controlled environment chambers (Model E-15, Conviron, Winnipeg, MB, Canada).

To collect floral organs for RNA extraction, seeds of winter rye (*Secale cereale* L. cv Musketeer) were surfaced sterilized as above then evenly sown in 40cm pots containing Promix BX potting soil at a density of 10 seeds per pot. These were germinated and grown in a greenhouse until mature flowers appeared (approximately 12 weeks).

All plants were watered as needed and treated with 1mg·mL⁻¹ 20-20-20 (20% nitrogen, 20% potassium, 20% phosphorus) solution (Plant Products, Brampton ON, Canada) once a week.

2.3 Treatment of Winter Rye

During all hormonal treatments, experimental and control plants were kept in different growth chambers set at similar growth conditions to eliminate any contaminating volatile transcription signals. Each treatment was performed in triplicate.

2.3.1 Treatment with Ethephon

For ethephon (2-chloroethylphosphoric acid) treatment, leaves of 1-week-old NA plants were sprayed with 10mM ethephon and 0.005% (v/v) Tween 20 daily for 4 days at the beginning of the dark period. Control plants were sprayed daily with 2mM hypocholoric acid, 2mM phosphoric acid, and 0.005% Tween 20.

2.3.2 Treatment with Methyl Jasmonate

For MeJa treatment, leaves of 1-week-old NA plants were sprayed to run off with 15μ M MeJa and 0.005% (v/v) Tween 20 daily for 4 days at the beginning of the dark period.

Control plants were sprayed with a 0.005% (v/v) Tween 20 solution. All spraying was performed in a fume hood. Plants were transported to the hood, sprayed, covered in a dark plastic garbage bag to prevent evaporation and light-induced breakdown of the MeJa and then transported back to the growth chamber where the plastic bag was removed. Care was taken not to transport control and experimental plants on the same cart and to use a clean pair of gloves while handling plants in order to ensure control plants did not come into contact with the MeJa.

2.3.2 Treatment with hydrogen peroxide

For hydrogen peroxide treatment, leaves of 1-week-old NA plants were sprayed to run off with 200mM hydrogen peroxide and 0.005% (v/v) Tween 20 daily for 4 days at the beginning of the dark period. Control plants were sprayed with a 0.005% (v/v) Tween 20 solution. All spraying was performed in a fume hood. Plants were transported to the hood, sprayed, covered in a dark plastic garbage bag to prevent evaporation and light-induced breakdown of the hydrogen peroxide and then transported back to the growth chamber where the plastic bag was removed. Care was taken not to transport control and experimental plants on the same cart and to use a clean pair of gloves while handling plants in order to ensure control plants did not come into contact with the hydrogen peroxide.

2.3.4 Wounding of Winter Rye

Wounding treatment was carried out on 3-week-old NA plants by nicking individual winter rye leaves at 1cm intervals using a sharp double sided razor blade. Unwounded NA plants were used as a control. The experiment was performed in triplicate.

20

2.3.5 Pathogen Infection of Winter Rye with *Microdochium nivale*

Mycelial inoculation of winter rye plants by the North American strain of Microdochium nivale, was carried out on 1-week-old NA plants. M. nivale that had been grown in wheat bran, dried, ground and diluted in uninoculated wheat bran was provided by Dr. Tom Hsiang, Professor, Dept. Environmental Biology, University of Guelph. The mycelia were kept sealed in a re-sealable sandwich bag at 4°C until use. To inoculate the plant, leaves were first sprayed lightly with MilliQ water to aid the wheat bran inoculum's adherence to the leaves. M. *nivale* was introduced to the plants by sprinkling the inocculum on moistened leaves at an approximate concentration of 0.01g per square centimeter of plant tissue, which averages approximately 8.3g per pot of winter rye. Pots were wrapped in clear plastic lawn waste bags and placed in a dark refrigerator set at 4°C for 3 days, this facilitated mycelial growth and entrance into plant leaves. After the 3 day period, the plants were removed from the refrigerator, sealed in clean, fresh, plastic bags and placed in a growth chamber under normal growing conditions (day length of 16 hours, 20°C day, 16°C night with an average PPFD of 300 µmol.m⁻².s⁻¹). Control plants were sprinkled with sterile wheat bran and were grown under identical conditions. The experiment ran for a total of eight days and was performed in triplicate.

2.3.6 Dehydration and Rehydration

In order to determine the point at which winter rye becomes irreversibly damaged by drought stress, 10 pots of 3-week-old winter rye were placed in a growth chamber and watered to run-off. Pots were checked twice a day for evidence of wilting. When wilting first occurred, two pots were watered to run-off, left for 2 hours and re-checked for reversal of wilting. If

wilting was reversed the next set of two pots were watered the following day and checked for recovery. The experiment stopped when plants would no longer recover after re-watering.

In order to determine <u>Relative Water Content (RWC)</u>, a 5-10cm section from each leaf was cut with a pair of scissors and placed basal side down in a pre-weighed air-tight, ovenproof vial. The <u>Fresh Weight</u> (FW) of the tissue was determined by weighing the vial containing the leaf section, and subtracting the weight of the vial. After determining the mass of the sample, 2cm of MilliQ water were added to the bottom of each vial and the leaf sections were left to sit at room temperature for 4 hours. After which the vial was emptied and the leaf section was gently surfaced dried to remove excess water. The leaf was then weighed to determine its <u>Turgid Weight</u> (TW). The section was once again placed in the pre-weighed glass vial without the cap, baked at 80°C overnight, quickly capped, then cooled to room temperature in a desiccator before determining its <u>Dry Weight</u> (DW). The RWC of the leaf was calculated using the equation:

$[TW-(DW/FW-DW)] \ge 100\% = RWC$

Six pots of 2-week-old winter rye plants were divided into 2 groups, a control group and the dehydration/rehydration group. At the onset of the experiment, all pots in both groups were well watered to run-off. After 1 hour the RWC of 3 plants from each pot was determined, and the average RWC was assumed to represent the RWC of the growth. From this point, the control group was watered every day to run-off while the dehydration/rehydration was not. All pots were kept under normal growth conditions for the entire experiment (day length of 16 hours, 20°C day, 16°C night with an average PPFD of 300µmol.m⁻².s⁻¹). The RWC of both groups was determined 24 hours prior to the point of irreversible drought damage. It was at this time that tissue for RNA and protein extraction was harvested from both groups for the dehydration and control samples. Both groups of plants were watered to run-off every day for 3 days at normal growth conditions. The relative water content of the plants was again determined and tissue from rehydrated samples of each group was harvested for RNA and protein extraction for the rehydration samples.

2.4 Genomic DNA Extraction

Genomic DNA was extracted using a modified version of the protocol described by Rogers & Bendich (1988). Approximately 1g of 1-week-old winter rye was quickly cut into sections roughly 3cm long and immediately placed in a mortar containing liquid nitrogen. The leaves were ground into a fine powder and then transferred to a 1.5mL microcentrifuge tube containing 450µl of 2 x hexadecyltrimethylammonium bromide extraction solution (2% hexadecyltrimethylammonium bromide (w/v); 100mM Tris, pH 8.0; 20mM EDTA, pH 8.0; 1.4M NaCl; 1% polyvinylpyrrolidone (MW 40000) supplemented with 1μl of 2-βmercaptoethanol. Contents were mixed by inversion and then incubated in a 70°C heat block for 30 minutes. This solution was centrifuged at 12,000xg, 4°C for 15 minutes and the top phase was removed and placed in a clean 1.5mL centrifuge tube. The bottom layer containing leaf debris and other unwanted material was discarded. To the aqueous phase 300µl saturated phenol and 300µl chloroform/isopropanol (24:1 v/v ratio) were added, and the contents mixed gently by inversion until an emulsion formed. This mixture was subsequently centrifuged at 12,000xg, 4°C for 10 minutes. The top aqueous layer was transferred to a clean 1.5mL microcentrifuge tube, and the bottom layer was discarded. Then, 600µl of chloroform were added to the retained aqueous phase. This solution was mixed by inversion and centrifuged at 12,000xg, 4°C for 10 minutes. The top aqueous phase was removed to a clean 1.5µl centrifuge tube, to which a 60% volume of cold 100% isopropanol was added along with a 10% volume
of 3M sodium acetate, pH 5.2. The solution was mixed by inversion, and then incubated at -80°C for 20 minutes. DNA was precipitated by centrifugation at 12,000xg, 4°C, for 30 minutes. The aqueous layer was carefully poured off of the DNA pellet, and salt was removed by washing the pellet in 1mL 70% ethanol followed by centrifugation at 12,000xg, 4°C for 10 minutes. The aqueous phase was drawn off and the pellet was dried by incubating the samples at 37°C for approximately 10 minutes. Pellets were resuspended in 50µl PCR grade water (sterile, UV-treated). Tubes were incubated in a 50°C water bath for 5 minutes to ensure DNA was completely in solution. RNA contamination within the sample was removed by treating the sample with 2µg.µL⁻¹ RNase A at 37°C for 30 minutes. DNA was re-pelleted and washed as previously described. The final pellet, was resuspended in 50µl PCR grade water. The DNA concentration of the sample was estimated through spectrophotometric analysis at wavelenghs of 260 and 280nm. The 260/280 ratios ranged from 1.8 to 1.9. The integrity of the DNA was assessed by electrophoresis of 5µl on a 0.8% (w/v) agarose gel containing ethidium bromide. DNA was visualized under UV light with a Fluorochem 8000 chemiluminesence and visible imaging system. Average recovery was 320µg DNA per gram of fresh leaf. All DNA stocks were stored at -20°C until needed.

2.5 RNA extraction

To harvest tissue for RNA, two 2-3cm tissue sections containing tissue from both the leaf and crown were cut quickly and placed into RNase-free 1.5mL microcentrifuge tubes, and flash frozen in liquid nitrogen. For plants treated with hormones, wounding and controls associated with these treatments, tissue was harvested for RNA extraction before the treatment and then 1, 2, 3, 6, 9, 12, 16, 24, 48 and 168 hours after the initial treatment. Tissue from cold-treated plants was harvested for RNA extraction at 0, 1, 2, 3, 6, 9, 12, 16, 24, 48 hours and 1

week, 3 weeks and 7 weeks after initial treatment. Tissue from non-acclimated plants was harvested for RNA extraction at 0, 1, 2, 3, 6, 9, 12, 16, 24, 48 hours, 1 week after initial treatment. The tissue from pathogen-infected tissue and uninfected control plants was harvested for RNA extraction immediately prior to infection and then again at 1, 3, 6 and 8 days after infection. All tissue was stored at -80°C until needed.

RNA was extracted from leaf and crown tissue of winter rye by TriPure[™] (Roche, Mannheim, Germany) following the manufacturer's directions. All steps are carried out in a fume hood using RNAse free equipment. Approximately 50mg of leaf and crown tissue was added to a 1.5mL centrifuge tube, quickly ground to a fine powder using liquid nitrogen and a plastic pestle. To this, 1mL of TriPure isolation reagent was added, mixed by inversion and incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes to allow the dissociation of nucleoprotein complexes. Then, 200µl of chloroform were added to the solution, which was vigorously shaken for at least 15 seconds. The TriPure, chloroform, leaf solution was incubated at room temperature for 15 minutes and then centrifuged at 12,000xg, 4°C for 15 minutes. Three distinct phases were present in the centrifuged sample; the top aqueous layer contained RNA and was removed to a clean 1.5mL centrifuge tube. RNA was precipitated by the addition of 0.5mL of cold isopropanol, an incubation time of 20 minutes at -20°C and a subsequent centrifugation (12,000xg, 4°C for 10 minutes). The aqueous layer was discarded, and the RNA pellet was washed by the addition of 1mL of 75% absolute ethanol. The solution was gently inverted several times and then centrifuged at 12,000xg for 5 minutes. The aqueous layer was removed and the RNA pellet was air dried in the hood. The RNA pellet was resuspended in 30µl of diethylpyrocarbonate treated water and warmed at 50°C for 5 minutes to ensure the RNA was fully dissolved.

The concentration of the RNA sample was determined by reading its absorbance at 260nm and 280nm using a spectrophotometer equipped with a 96-well plate reader. Typical 260/280 ratios were in the range of 1.6 to 2.0. The quality of the RNA was analyzed on a 2% (w/v) agarose gel. Approximately $3\mu g$ of RNA were resuspended in 5μ l of loading dye [19% (v/v) formaldehyde, 0.54% (v/v) formamide, 0.5mL formaldehyde gel-running buffer (5X formaldehyde gel-running buffer is 0.1 M 3-(N-Morpholino) propanesulfonic acid, pH 7.0, 40mM NaOAc, 5mM EDTA, pH 7.0), 50% (v/v) glycerol, 1mM EDTA, pH 8.0, 0.25 % (w/v) bromophenol blue, 0.25% (w/v) xylene cyanol, 0.54% ethidium bromide] and denatured by heating at 70°C for 10 minutes. The gel was electrophoresed 100mA for approximately 1 hour and the RNA was visualized under UV light with a Fluorochem 8000 chemiluminesence and visible imaging system. Typical RNA yield was $3\mu g$ RNA per milligram of leaf tissue. RNA was stored in water at -80° C until needed.

2.6 Gene Amplification Cloning and Sequencing

2.6.1 Genomic Walking

The Universal GenomeWalker[™] Kit (BD Biosciences, Mountainview, CA, USA) was used to obtain genomic sequences in both directions along each glucanase gene. This was accomplished following manufacturer's instructions. In brief, four uncloned adapter-ligated "libraries" of winter rye DNA fragments were produced by digestion with one of the restriction enzymes (DraI, EcoRV, PvuII and StuI) supplied in the kit. The fragments in each of these libraries ligated oligonucleotide (5'-GTAATACGACT were to adapter an CACTATAGGGCACGCGTGGTCGACGGCCCGGGCTGGT- 3') using T4 ligase. Two adapter-specific nested primers (AP1 and AP2) are provided with the kit while gene-specific

primers (GSP) (Table 2-2) were designed from available cDNA sequences, or from previous

rounds of walking.

The 25µl PCR mix for each genome walking reaction is as follows:

16.0µl MilliQ PCR water
1.0µl AP1/AP2 [0.4µM]
1.0µl GSP1/GSP2 [0.4µM]
0.5µl 10mM dNTP mix
2.5µl 10 x Advantage cDNA Polymerase buffer (Clontech, CA, USA)
2.5µl 10x PCRx enhancer solution (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA)
1.0µl library DNA [0.5 µg/µl]
0.5µl Advantage cDNA polymerase mix (Clonetech,CA, USA)

The PCR cycle for genomic walking is as follows:

94°C-4 minutes

94°C -45 seconds 67°C - 1°C/cycle - 3 minutes 10x

$94^{\circ}C - 45$ seconds	32x
$67^{\circ}C - 3$ minutes	

 $68^{\circ}C - 5$ minutes $72^{\circ}C - 10$ minutes

Table 2-2: Primers used for genomic walking and RT-PCR

The primers used in first strand synthesis and cDNA amplification reactions are listed. These primers were used for either forward or reverse walking, as indicated. An asterisk marks the primers used for both genomic walking and RT-PCR reactions.

	Primer Sequence 5' - 3'
I primer for primary PCK designed against the ide adapter from the genomic walking kit	GTAATACGACTCACTATAGGGGC
I nested primer for secondary PCR designed against leotide adapter from the genomic walking kit.	ACTATAGGGCACGCGTGGT
R of cold glucanase	ATGCCGTTGATGCCCTTGGACCTGTAA
CR of cold glucanase	GAGTTGCGGAGCGCGGAGAGGGCTTG
R based on intron sequence of scGlu6 obtained from f genomic walking	CCAGTGGTCCATTAGAAAACAACAGG
CR based on intron sequence of scGlu6 obtained und of genomic walking	TTTTGTTTGTAAGGATGCTAAGGATG
R for reverse walking from scGlu6 promoter	ACCACGCGTGCCCTATAGTAATCA
CR for reverse walking from scGlu6 promoter	ACCATCCTTTACCTTCTCGCACCA
king to confirm exon 2 of scGlu6	ACGCACATTGTTCTGTACCCAGGA
king to confirm scGlu9	TGTCGAGCAATGGCTAGAAAGA
king to confirm scGlu10 sequence	GGCACGAGAGCAGATACATAG
king to confirm scGlu11 sequence	ACGATGTTGCTTCCATGTTTG
king to confirm scGlu12 sequence	GAATTGGGCTCAGCAAAGAAAGTCTATT
Glu9 promoter sequence by genomic walking	CTCCCTATGTATCTGCTGCTG
Glu10 promoter sequence by genomic walking	CCTATGTATCTGCTCTCGTGC
Glu11 promoter sequence by genomic walking	CTAGCATACTCCTGTCTG
Glu12 promoter sequence by genomic walking	GTATCCTCGTGCCGAATTC
	A of cold glucanase based on intron sequence of scGlu6 obtained for malking for reverse walking from scGlu6 promoter for reverse walking from scGlu6 promoter for reverse walking from scGlu6 promoter ing to confirm exon 2 of scGlu6 ing to confirm scGlu9 ing to confirm scGlu10 sequence ing to confirm scGlu11 sequence ing to confirm scGlu11 sequence ing to confirm scGlu12 sequence by genomic walking ilu11 promoter sequence by genomic walking ilu12 promoter sequence by genomic walking

Primary PCR was accomplished using the manufacturer's primer along with the GluR1a primer (Table 2-2) which was designed against a cDNA sequence obtained by another Griffith lab member. All primers were designed using Primer 3 which publicly available at http://frodo.wi.mit.edu/cgi-bin/primer3/primer3_www.cgi. Primary PCR products were cleaned using the GFX PCR and Gel band purification kit (Amersham, Buckinghamshire, UK). The purified product was diluted by a factor of 1/50 with MilliQ water and used in secondary PCRs using the nested primer provided in the kit along with GluR1b. The main PCR products were purified, cloned and sequenced as per Section 2.6.2.

Sequence obtained from this first round of walking provided the information to design two more nested primers, IntronR1a and IntronR1b. These were used to walk further along the glucanase coding regions and farther upstream in the promoter. Subsequent cloning and sequencing (as described in Section 2.6.2) resulted in five distinct glucanase sequences, only one of which belonged to scGlu9. These unexpected sequences were used to design nonnested primers to walk both upstream and through their promoters, and downstream, through the coding sequence and intron region of the corresponding coding regions.

The primers designed to walk through each promoter were designated: forward walk R2, forward walk R3, forward walk R4 and forward walk R5. The primers designed to walk backwards to obtain the coding sequence for each gene were designated: reverse walk R2, reverse walk R3, reverse walk R4 and reverse walk R5. These were used along with the nested primer provided in the kit. The template used for both forward and reverse walking was the diluted secondary PCR products from the last round of nested PCR. Major bands from each PCR reaction were purified, cloned and sequenced as per Section 2.6.2.

2.6.2 Cloning

Secondary PCR products were analyzed and resolved on 1% (w/v) agarose gel. Gel bands thought to contain the product of interest were excised from the gel with a razor blade and purified using the GFX DNA gel band purification kit (GE Biosciences, Buckinghamshire, UK). The purified DNA was then cloned into the pGEM-T easy vector (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) according to manufacturer's instructions. Ligation products were examined on a 1% (w/v) agarose gel and transformed into competent DH5 α *E. coli* cells. Positive recombinant clones were authenticated by screening on LB agar plates containing ampicillin, isopropylbeta-D-thiogalactopyranoside and 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl-b-D-galactoside and by colony PCR. Positive colonies were cultured overnight in LB broth at 37°C and plasmids were extracted using the Fast Plasmid Mini Plasmid Purification Kit (Eppendorf, Hamberg, Germany). Plasmids containing inserts of interest were randomly chosen from the positive recombinants and sequenced by MOBIX laboratories (McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada) or by the University of Waterloo Sequencing Facility (University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada) using T7 and SP6 primers.

2.6.3 Sequence data analysis

Analysis of sequence and prediction of amino acid sequences was performed using the program BioEdit (ver 7.0.5.3; Hal, 1999). Additional β -1,3-endoglucanse sequences not obtained from this thesis research were obtained from the GenBank database (NIH, Bethesda, MD, USA) using the default settings of the program BLAST (Altschul *et al.*, 1994). This program is publicly available at http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/BLAST/.

Due to the strong sequence similarities between amino acid glucanase sequences, multiple sequence alignments of gene and amino acid sequences were performed using the Clustal-W alignment algorithm (Thompson *et al.*, 1994) which was implemented using BioEdit.

2.6.4 Promoter analysis

Analysis of the cis-elements within each β -1,3-glucanase promoter was carried out by searching the online database of plant cis-acting regulatory DNA elements known as PLACE, (Higo *et al.*, 1999) which is publicly available at on the internet at the web address http://www.dna.affrc.go.jp/htdocs/ (as of November, 2006).

Due to the length of the cis-elements, there is a degree of probability that some of the cis-elements found by the databases are not true cis-elements, and that the sequence matches only by chance. Published articles describing each cis-element were examined to determine the criteria necessary for each element to be involved in gene expression. Only cis-elements found to meet all necessary published criteria are reported in this thesis.

2.7 RT-PCR

2.7.1 cDNA Synthesis

All reagents used for creating cDNA were from Fermentas (Burlington, ON, Canada) unless otherwise noted. To remove contaminating DNA, approximately 2 µg of RNA was placed into a 1.5mL microcentrifuge tube along with 2µl of DNase I (RNase Free) and 2µL 10x DNase Buffer. The final volume was brought to 20uL using MilliQ water that was made RNase free by UV light treatment. The mixture was incubated for 30 minutes at 37°C and the reaction was stopped by adding 2µl of the EDTA stop solution provided with the DNase,

followed by heating at 65°C for 10 minutes. From this stock of DNA-free RNA, 10µl was used to create cDNA, the rest (approximately 12µL) was stored at -80°C for later use.

The 10µl aliquot of RNA was mixed with 1 µl of oligo dT primer $(20U \cdot \mu l^{-1})$ and heated at 70°C for 10 minutes after which the tubes were cooled on ice. Then, 4µl of 5X RT buffer, 2µl of 10mM dNTPs and 0.5µl of RNase inhibitor $(40U \cdot \mu l^{-1})$ were added to the reaction which was subsequently placed in a 37°C water bath for 5 minutes. Finally, 2ul of MuLV-RT $(20U \cdot u l^{-1})$ was added and the tubes continued to incubate at 37°C for 1 hour. Finally, the reaction was stopped by heating the tube to 70°C for 10 minutes. Samples were stored at -20°C until needed.

2.7.2 RT-PCR conditions

The primers used for RT-PCR are identical to those used for reverse genomic walking (Table 2-2). The reverse primers used were designated gluR1 exon2 reverse, reverse walk R2 through R5, along with the forward primer GluR1a. Specific forward primers for all genes could not be designed due to the high sequence similarity between all five genes. The primers 5' –CGTGATCGATGAATGCTACC-3' and 5' -GGGTTTGTTGCACGTATTA-' 3 were used to amplify a 199bp stretch of the Arabidopsis 18S ribosomal RNA, this was used for the internal standard in all RT-PCR reactions.

In order to determine the exponential range for product amplification, each set of primers was used to prepare a master mix which contained equal concentrations of each of the 56 cDNA samples to be tested. This master mix was divided equally into 10 thin walled 0.2µl PCR reaction tubes. These were placed in a thermocycler programmed with the following cycle parameters:

94°C – 4 minutes

$94^{\circ}C - 45$ seconds	
$56^{\circ}C - 45$ seconds	40x
$72^{\circ}C - 45$ seconds	

Tubes were removed from the thermocycler after cycles 15,19, 22, 25, 29, 32, 34, 36, 38 and 40. From these tubes, 10µl of each reaction was electrophoresed on a 3% (w/v) agarose gel containing ethidium bromide; the resulting DNA bands were visualized under UV light with a Fluorochem 8000 chemiluminesence and visible imaging system. Flourochem 8000 software was used to determine the spot density of each of the bands which were plotted against cycle number to determine the number of cycles that would put product amplification in the mid logarithmic range for each primer set.

The 25µl mix for each RT-PCR reaction is as follows:

18.5µl MilliQ PCR water
1.0µl UTR specific primer or 18S specific primer 1
1.0µl gluR1 exon 2 reverse of 18S specific primer 2
0.5µl 10mM dNTP mix
2.5µl 10 x Taq polymerase buffer
(500mM KCl, 100mM Tris HCl pH 9.0, 20mM MgCl₂ pH 8.)
0.5µl cDNA
1µl Taq DNA polymerase (Roche, Mannheim, Germany)

These were placed in a thermocycler programmed with the following cycle parameters:

 $94^{\circ}C - 4$ minutes

$94^{\circ}C - 45$ seconds	25 cycles for 18S primers
$56^{\circ}C - 45$ seconds	30 cycles for scGlu9, 10 and 12 primers
$72^{\circ}C - 45$ seconds	35 cycles for scGlu6 and 11 primers

 $72^{\circ}C - 5$ minutes

Each cDNA sample was used in 6 RT-PCR reactions: one for each of the 5 glucanses and another for the 18S standards. Exactly $10\mu l$ of each reaction which was electrophoresed on a 3% (w/v) agarose gel and visualized as previously described.

2.8 SDS-PAGE and Immunoblotting

2.8.1 Whole leaf and crown tissue protein extraction for 1D-gel electrophoresis

For untreated non-acclimated plants and those for 4 days treated with MeJa and their associated controls, protein was extracted 1 week after initial treatment. CA leaf extracts were prepared from plants that were grown at 4°C for 7 weeks. One gram frozen leaf material was ground to a powder with a mortar and pestle; the tissue was kept frozen by periodic addition of liquid nitrogen. Additional liquid nitrogen was added to the mortar followed immediately by 2.5mL of tissue extraction medium (0.1M Tris base pH 8.8, 10mM EDTA, 0.9M sucrose and 0.4% β-mercaptoethanol which was added just prior to use). Grinding continued until the mixture of leaf tissue and tissue extraction medium resembled a fine powder. This was transferred to a sterile 15mL plastic centrifuge tube containing 2.5mL of Tris pH 8.8 buffered phenol. The solution was thoroughly mixed and then sonicated once for 30 seconds at output level 5 (Sonic Dismembrator model 100, Fischer Scientific, Fair Lawn, USA). The mixture was agitated for 30 minutes at 4°C and subsequently centrifuged (8000xg, 4°C for 10 minutes). The phenol (top) phase was removed to a clean, sterile 15mL plastic centrifuge tube. To precipitate the protein, 5 volumes of 0.1M ammonium acetate in 100% methanol were added to the tube, which was then vortexed and incubated overnight. The precipitate was collected by centrifugation (8000xg, 4°C for 10 minutes) and the pellet was completely resuspended in 600µl of 0.1M ammonium acetate in 100% methanol. The suspension was transferred to a microcentrifuge tube containing an additional 600µl of ammonium acetate in methanol. To ensure complete suspension, the solution was sonicated 10 times for 5 second intervals output level 5 (Sonic Dismembrator model 100, Fischer Scientific, Fair Lawn, USA). The suspension was kept on ice during sonication to keep the sample cool. The protein was precipitated at -20°C for 2 hours and then collected by centrifugation (8000xg, 4°C for 5 minutes). The washing process in ammonium acetate in methanol was repeated twice, followed by a wash with 80% acetone and then in cold 70% ethanol. The final pellet was dried at room temperature and resuspended in a minimum volume of 50mM Tris Buffer, pH 8.8 ranging from 100 to 200µl.

2.8.2 Apoplastic protein extraction

Apoplastic protein was only extracted from winter rye plants that had been CA for 7 weeks, from 3-week-old NA plants and from plants treated with ethephon, MeJa and hydrogen peroxide. The procedure for apoplastic protein extraction was performed according to the method of Hon *et al.*, (1994). Leaves were cut into 2cm sections, washed three times with deionized water, and then vacuum-infiltrated with cold extraction buffer (20mM ascorbic acid, 20mM calcium chloride) for 30 minutes using a DuoSeal vacuum pump (model 1402; Welch Scientific Company, Skokie, USA). The brittle leaves were carefully dried with paper towels, and centrifuged at 2000xg (GSA rotor, Sorvall, Mississauga, Canada) for 15 minutes. Infiltrate was concentrated by spinning for 10 minutes at 5000xg in Amicon Ultra-15 centrifugal filter device with a molecular weight cut off of 10kDa (Millipore, Carrigtwohill Ireland). Concentrated apoplastic extract was stored at -20°C until needed.

2.8.3 Detection of B-1-3-endoglucanases using 1D immunoblotting

Approximately 5µg of protein from whole tissue extracts and 10µg of apoplastic extract were separated on a SDS-polyacrylamide (12% w/v) gel. The gel was equilibrated in TBS-T (48mM Tris base, 39mM glycine, 0.05% Tween-20, pH 9.2) for 20 minutes and transferred to Polyvinylidene Fluoride (PVDF) western blotting membrane (Roche, Mannheim, Germany) using a Trans-Blot SD Semi-dry transfer cell and a Semi-dry western transfer buffer (5.82g Tris, 2.93g glycine, 200mL methanol, 3.75mL of 10% SDS, 680mL water). The blots were transferred at 20V for 45 minutes. The PVDF membrane was blocked with 1% Poly(vinyl alcohol) (MW 30,000 - 70,000) for 30 seconds at room temperature, then quickly rinsed 3 times, 10 seconds each in water, followed by 2 washes of 10 seconds in TBS-T followed by 3 more washes in TBS-T each of 10 minutes. All washes are performed at room temperature. The blot was incubated at room temperature, with gentle agitation for 1 hour in 1:3000 anti- β -1-3-endoglucanase antibody (Hon *et al.*, 1995). The blot was washed three times in TBS-T and then incubated at room temperature for 1 hour in a 1:10000 dilution of peroxidase-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG (H+L) (Jackson Immunoresearch, West Grove, PA, USA) in diluted in 5% (w/v) fat-free milk powder in TBS-T. The blot was washed for 10 minutes 3 times in

TBS-T. The antibody binding was detected by chemiluminesence by incubating the membrane in ECL Western Blotting Reagent System (Amersham, Buckinghamshire, UK) as per the manufacturer's instructions, after which the membrane was exposed to photographic film (X-omat AR, Kodak, Chicago IL, USA).

2.8.4 Whole leaf and crown Protein Extraction for 2D-electrophoresis

Protein was extracted from whole leaf and crown tissue using the method outlined in Section 2.8.1 – with the following changes. The final pellet was dried at room temperature and

resuspended in a minimum volume (around 100µl) of IEF Sample Buffer (8M urea, 2M thiourea, 2% CHAPS, 2% Triton X-100). Salt was removed from samples using an Ettan Sample Preparation Mini Dialysis Kit, 8kDA cut-off, 250µl volume (GE Biosciences, Buckinghamshire, England). Samples were dialyzed overnight at 4°C against IEF Sample buffer and stored at -20°C until needed.

2.8.5 First Dimension IEF electrophoresis

Protein samples for 2D-electrophoretic analysis were thawed at room temperature for 1 hour to ensure that urea present in the buffer was fully dissolved. Approximately 10µg of each CA and NA protein sample, or 2µg of CA apoplastic protein sample were added to Destreak Rehydration Solution (GE Biosciences, Buckinghamshire, England) containing 0.05% IPG Buffer pH 3-10NL (GE Biosciences, Buckinghamshire, England) to a final volume of 120µl. The solution was placed in the 7cm ceramic DryStip strip holder and a 7cm Immobiline DryStrip pH 3-10 NL (GE Biosciences, Buckinghamshire, England) was laid in the solution and overlaid with drystrip solution (GE Biosciences, Buckinghamshire, England) to prevent evaporation. The holder was placed on the GE Biosciences (Buckinghamshire, England) IPGphor focusing system and cycled as follows:

Step and Hold -30 m, 150V Step and Hold -30 m, 300V Step and Hold -60m, 600V Gradient -2h, 1000V Gradient -1h, 3500V Step and Hold 1h, 3500V

Samples were maintained at a constant 50V until the strips were removed from the apparatus.

After focusing, the strips were immediately placed inside individual sterile 15mL Falcon tubes (BD biosciences, San Jose, USA) and carried on dry ice to a -80°C freezer where they were stored until use.

2.8.6 Second Dimension electrophoresis

The strips were removed from the -80°C freezer. Each strip was placed in 10mL SDS equilibration buffer solution (50mM Tris-HCl pH 8.8, 6M urea, 30% (v/v) glycerol, 2% SDS (w/v), 0.0002% bromophenol blue) supplemented with 100mg freshly prepared 1,4dithiothreitol (Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim Germany). The strips were incubated in this solution for 10 minutes at room temperature with gentle shaking. The strips were then placed in clean 15mL falcon tubes containing 10mL SDS equilibration buffer solution supplemented with 250mg freshly prepared iodoacetamide (BioShop, Burlington, ON, Canada). The strips were incubated in this solution at room temperature, with gentle shaking for 10 minutes. Strips were then quickly washed in Milli Q water (2 seconds) to remove excess buffer and placed on top of a 1mm thick 12% SDS-polyacrylamide separating gel that was overlaid with 1% agarose (w/v) in running buffer (g L⁻¹ Tris base, 14.4g L⁻¹ glycine, and 1g L⁻¹ SDS). The agarose overlay contained a trace of bromophenol blue to allow the progress of electrophoresis to be visualized. A pre-stained molecular weight marker (20 to 118kDA, Fermentas) was loaded on the gel to help assess protein size. Electrophoresis was performed in a Bio-Rad Mini-Protein III Dual Slab Cell Apparatus [50 mV for 1 hour, then at 100mV until bromophenol blue dye front reached the end of the gel, approximately 2 hours].

2.8.7 Visualization of 2D-PAGE using Ruby Red SYPRO Stain

All fixing, staining and destaining steps were performed in a round, 750mL Rubbermaid Servin' saver container, as recommended by the stain supplier. After electrophoresis, the gel was rinsed briefly in MilliQ water (2 seconds) and then added to a fixing solution of 50% (v/v) methanol, 10% (v/v) trichloroacetic acid and placed on an orbital shaker, at a gentle rotation speed, for 3 hours. The gel was rinsed of fixing solution by washing 3 times with MilliQ followed by the addition of 50mL of SYPRO Ruby protein gel stain (Invitrogen Molecular Probes, Eugene, USA). As SYPRO Ruby is light sensitive, the container containing the gel and the stain was tightly wrapped in aluminum foil before it was placed on an orbital shaker at room temperature over night. The gel was destained for 1 hour with a 10% (v/v) methanol, 7% (v/v) acetic acid solution and then rinsed 3 times for 5 minutes with MilliQ water. The gel was visualized under UV light with a Fluorochem 8000 chemiluminesence and visible imaging system.

2.8.9 Detection of B-1,3-endoglucanases using 2D immunoblotting

A 2D SDS-PAGE gel of whole tissue protein extract from NA and CA winter rye as well as apoplastic protein extract from CA winter rye was performed as described in section 2.86. Detection of β -1,3-endoglucanases was accomplished using the protocol described in section 2.8.3.

2.9 Antifreeze Activity Assay

To assay for antifreeze activity, a Clifton nanoliter osmometer (Clifton Technical Physics, Harford, NY, USA) and a phase contrast photomicroscope (Olympus BHT, Carsen Medical and Scientific Co. Ltd, Ontario, Canada) were used following the method first described by DeVries (1986). Antifreeze activity is determined qualitatively by observing the morphology of ice crystal growth in a given solution (Figure 1-1). Ice crystals grown in the absence of AFPs grow normal to the c axis producing spherical crystals. If AFPs are present, ice crystal formation along the a axis is inhibited and so ice crystals form hexagonal shapes. The amount of hexagonal structure formed is proportional to the amount of AFP in the solution such that a solution low in AFP will produce crystals shaped as simple hexagons, while solutions high in AFP will produce hexagonal bipyramids along the c axis.

Figure 2-1: Morphology and growth performance of ice crystals in the presence of different concentrations of antifreeze proteins.

(A) In solutions without AFPs, new water molecules adsorb onto the prism face of existing ice crystals. Therefore, crystals increase in width (a-axes) but not in height (c-axes). (B) In solutions with low antifreeze activity, AFPs adsorb onto the prism faces of the ice crystal and limits, but does not prevent growth along the a-axis. This results in an ice crystal with a hexagonal shape. (C) When there is a high concentration of AFPs, the adsorption to the prism face inhibits growth along the a-axis, making it energetically favourable for water to bind to the basal plane. This causes crystal growth along the c-axis generating bipyramids that are hexagonal in cross-section.



3 Results

The β -1,3-endoglucanase gene family of winter rye is poorly characterized at the molecular level. At the onset of this project only one winter rye cDNA sequence was available. Since that time seven additional β -1,3-endoglucanase cDNAs, all displaying high amino acid sequence conservation (95-98%) have been fully or partially sequenced (Yaish *et al.*, 2006). This project aims to compare the genetic structure of genes coding for β -1,3-endoglucanases with and without antifreeze activity. In order to accomplish this goal it was first important not only to determine the conditions that cause winter rye to produce β -1,3-endoglucanases but also to determine whether winter rye produces more than one β -1,3-endoglucanase after cold-acclimation.

3.1 Results of plant treatments

3.1.1 Treatment with Ethephon

Ten mM ethephon or the ethephon spray control (2mM hypocholoric acid, 2mM phosphoric acid, and 0.005% Tween 20) was sprayed onto the foliage of 1-week old winter rye plants for a period of 4 days. The appearance of control plants and ethephon-treated plants remained physically similar throughout the experiment with the exception that after 4 days the leaves of ethephon-treated plants appeared to have a slightly decreased levels of anthocyanins. That is, they had a brighter green appearance than the control plants. These are described below.

3.1.2 Treatment with Methyl Jasmonate

One-week old winter rye plants were sprayed daily for 4 days with 5mL of 15µM MeJa or a 0.05% Tween 20 spray control. After 1 day, a few of the plants sprayed with MeJa began turning a pale purple. In addition, the leaves of all treated plants began to curl. After two days, the tips of each plant had started to yellow and most plants had gained a purple tinge. After 4 days of treatment, some experimental plants had turned dark purple and the tip of each plant had died back around 0.5cm. None of these changes occurred in the control plants.

3.1.3 Treatment with hydrogen peroxide

Two-hundred mM hydrogen peroxide or a 0.005% Tween 20 spray control was applied onto the foliage of 1-week old winter rye plants. The only observable physical difference between experimental and spray control plants involved leaf length. The leaves of plants sprayed with hydrogen peroxide were 2 ± 0.2 cm longer then those of the control group. This average was determined by measuring the leaf length of 50 randomly chosen plants. This was repeated once for each of the three replicates.

3.1.4 Wounding of Winter Rye

For the wounding experiments, leaves of three-week old winter rye plants were scored at 1cm intervals with a double-sided razor blade. Control plants were not damaged. The plants were followed for 2 days. Wounded leaves of experimental plants became flaccid 6 hours after wounding and did not become turgid before the end of the experiment. Wounded smaller leaves, that is those that were less than 0.4cm wide, died before the end of the experiment. Thus, the leaves sampled for glucanase expression were greater than 1cm wide.

3.1.5 Pathogen Infection of Winter Rye with *Microdochium nivale*

To study the effect of pathogen infection on winter rye, wheat bran laced with *M.nivale* was sprinkled at a density of $0.01g \cdot cm^{-2}$ on the leaves of 1-week old winter rye. The leaf surface area of a 15cm pot of winter rye containing approximately 110 plants was estimated to be $828cm^2$. This was calculated by averaging the surface area of 10 randomly selected leaves and multiplying this area by the average number of winter rye plants per 15cm pot. Plants were then wrapped in plastic bags and placed in a refrigerator at 4°C for 3 days to facilitate mycelial growth before transfer to a growth chamber set to optimal winter rye growth conditions. The experiment ran for a total of eight days and was performed in triplicate.

In all replicates, mycelial growth was not visible to the human eye until day 4. By day 8, mycelial growth had created a white blanket across the soil and surrounded the winter rye crowns with a web. Control plants, which were sprinkled with sterile wheat bran had no visible signs of infection.

3.1.6 Dehydration and Rehydration

Although wilting is a traditional sign of dehydration, this visible indication of water loss does not occur at similar stages for all plant species. Plants that are dehydration intolerant, such as the water lily, will wilt within minutes if removed from a saturated environment (Salisbury and Ross, 1991). Succulents, on the other hand may not wilt until deprived of water for months and even years (Salisbury and Ross, 1991).

The point at which each plant begins experiencing drought stress also differs, and this point is generally considered to start before any visible signs of drought stress, such as wilting, become evident. Drought stress was quantified by determining the RWC of rye plants experiencing a water deficit. This measure, allows one to estimate how much water is in a fully

hydrated plant tissue and then determine to what extent a plant is dehydrated. In the case of the analysis of winter rye, it was necessary to determine how long it took winter rye to lose a fatal amount of water. This point was reached 4 days after onset of drought conditions. Next, the RWC was determined for well-watered plants and water stressed plants that displayed the effects of drought (wilting). This experiment was performed with 3 sets of plants, with each set consisting 6 pots (3 experimental and 3 control). The plants were watered to run-off and then the RWC of one plant from each pot was determined. The experiment continued for 4 days, during this time the experimental pots of winter rye were not watered, while the control pots were watered to run-off. At this point the RWC of 150 random plants from each set (50 plants per pot) was taken and compared. At the onset of the experiment, the winter rye had a RWC of 94.8 \pm 0.98% After four days, water stressed plants had a RWC of 82 \pm 1% while control pots had a RWC of 96 \pm 2%.

3.2 Estimated antifreeze activity of winter rye apoplastic extract after treatment with cold, ethephon, hydrogen peroxide and MeJa

The effect of cold, MeJa and ethephon treatements on antifreeze activity were tested and compared. Previous studies determined the length of cold-treatment and the concentration of hormones necessary to produce apoplastic extracts with maxium levels of AFPs (Yu *et al.*, 2001; Merz, 2004). As a preliminary study, plants were treated with 200mM of hydrogen peroxide for 4 days. The apoplast from treated plants and their spray controls were extracted, dialyzed against dH₂O, concentrated to 1mg·mL⁻¹ and tested for antifreeze activity. A solution of 0.005% Tween-20 was used as the spray control for both MeJa and hydrogen peroxide treatment. An additional ethephon spray control (2mM hypocholoric acid, 2mM phosphoric acid, and 0.005% Tween-20) for antifreeze activity. The apoplastic extract of 3-week-old NA winter rye plants, which are at an equivalent growth stage to 7-week old cold-treated plants, were used as a cold-treatment control while MilliQ water was used as the as a negative control.

In order to compare the antifreeze activity between the samples, the salt and protein concentration of each extract were equilibrated by dialyzing each sample against water and adjusting the protein concentration of each extract to 1mg·mL⁻¹. Aliquots of approximately 10nL of each sample were analyzed for antifreeze activity on a Clifton nanoliter osmometer. As expected, the apoplastic extracts from NA plants, both sets of spray controls plants, and the MilliQ water control formed disc-shaped, circular ice crystals. This growth along the a-axis but not along the c-axis indicates that these samples have no antifreeze activity (Figure 3-1). Using the same assay, apoplastic extracts from MeJa, ethephon, hydrogen peroxide and cold exposed plants all displayed antifreeze activity, but to different degrees. The apoplastic extract from MeJa-treated plants had very weak for antifreeze activity, producing ice crystals with a rounded hexagonal shape and no growth along the c-axis. Extracts from plants treated with hydrogen peroxide, ethephon, or cold produced ice crystals with increased antifreeze activity over the apoplastic extract from MeJa-treated plants. Ice crystals were hexagonal in shape, and had sharp angular edges. These samples had apparently equivalent levels of antifreeze activity.

Figure 3-1: Estimation of antifreeze activity in apoplastic extracts of NA winter rye leaves treated daily with cold, methyl jasmonate, ethephon or hydrogen peroxide.

Plants were sprayed with 5mL of the appropriate hormone solution or spray control daily. The apoplastic proteins were extracted after 4 days of treatment. Each extract was dialyzed against dH_2O and concentrated to $1mg \cdot mL^{-1}$. Each assay was performed on an

approximate volume of 10nL. The ice crystals formed in the control extracts and the negative water control did not display antifreeze activity. Treatment with MeJa yielded apoplastic extract with the lowest amount of antifreeze activity. Ice crystals formed in the MeJa sample were so low that the ice crystal was hexagonal in shape, but the edges still had a slightly rounded appearance. The plants treated with hydrogen peroxide, ethephon and cold displayed higher antifreeze activity then that seen from MeJa produced extract, as evidenced by the presence of crystals with hexagonal shapes with linear edges. A: Apoplastic extract from the spray control, sprayed daily with 5mL of 0.005% Tween 20 in dH₂O. B: Apoplastic extract from plants treated with 15 μ M MeJa + 0.005% Tween 20. C: Apoplastic extract from plants treated with 5mL of 200mM hydrogen peroxide in 0.005% Tween 20 D: Apoplastic extract of plants treated with the ethephon spray control (2mM hypochoric acid, 2mM phosphoric acid and 0.005% Tween 20). E: Apoplastic extract of plants treated with 10mM ethephon plus 0.005% Tween 20 daily. F: Apoplastic extract from 2-week old NA winter rye plants G: Apoplastic extract of plants cold-treated for 7 weeks H: dH₂O control. Bar = 10 μ m



3.3 A survey of the cold-induced β -1,3-endoglucanases of winter rye

There have been no tests to determine the β -1,3-glucanase content within whole leaf tissue of treated and untreated plants. Cold-acclimation may lead to the presence of glucanases within the cell that may contribute to the cold-tolerance of winter rye. In addition, it is unknown whether the apoplastic extracts of MeJa treated plants contain β -1,3-endoglucanases. The presence of these proteins within the apoplast would suggest that these glucanases could contribute to the observed antifreeze activity. In order to clarify both issues, analysis of whole leaf tissue and apoplastic extracts from NA, CA and MeJa treated plants were examined by 1D SDS-PAGE followed by immunoblotting with anti-glucanase antibody. Protein analysis and subsequent immunoblotting with anti-glucanase antibody is the conventional method to test for the presence of glucanese within the apoplastic extract of winter rye.

Proteins of identical or nearly identical sizes can fail to be differentiated using 1D-SDS PAGE analysis. A single stained protein band may contain any number of proteins that cannot be separated by size alone. Two-dimensional SDS-PAGE analysis separates proteins based on size and charge. Thus, 2D SDS-PAGE is a powerful tool for protein composition studies. It may be possible that there are additional proteins, including additional glucanases, within the apoplast of CA and NA winter rye that have eluded detection by the previous one dimensional SDS PAGE studies. To examine this possibility, that apoplastic extracts CA and NA winter rye were examined by 2D-SDS PAGE followed by immunoblotting with an anti β -1,3endoglucanase antibody. This method was also used to closely examine the glucanase content within whole leaf extracts of identically treated plants. These were compared and contrasted to the results of the corresponding 1D SDS-PAGE analysis of the same samples.

3.3.1 1D-SDS PAGE gel and immunoblotting results

Samples were analyzed by 1D-SDS PAGE were prepared from untreated and coldtreated winter rye plants. Whole leaf extracts of all treatments were analyzed at a concentration of 10µg/lane while apoplastic extracts that contain far fewer polypeptides were loaded at a concentration of 2µg/lane. Duplicate gels were prepared for each experiment; one gel was stained with colloidal coomassie blue to visualize the proteins while the other was used in immunoblotting analysis.

For the most part, the Colloidal Coomassie Blue staining revealed a banding pattern (Figure 3-2) characteristic of previously described whole leaf and apoplastic protein extracts (data not shown, see Yu *et al.*, 2001). In contrast, the protein collected from whole leaf tissue that had had its apoplast removed was missing the expected AFP protein bands and had poor resolution. The protein extraction from apoplastic free leaf tissue was repeated several times with the same result.

Immunoblots using β -1,3-endoglucanse specific antibodies showed that all NA samples, including controls, have low levels of the 32 kDa glucanase (Figure 3-3). This was expected, as glucanases are not only important in stress responses but are also required to build and maintain cell wall structure. When compared to the controls, CA whole leaf and apoplastic extracts have increased β -1,3-endoglucanase concentrations. The results between CA whole tissue and CA apoplast cannot be directly correlated as the amount of protein in each lane differs due to the nature of the extracts. There was a noticeable absence of the 35kDa glucanase within these samples. It is possible that the concentration of 35kDa polypeptide is too low to be detected in NA whole leaf protein extract and that the large signal of the 32kDa glucanse in proteins taken from CA plants masks the presence of the 35kDa protein. A 35kDa protein band

is present in the 1D Coomassie stained SDS-PAGE of these extracts, but the extract is known to contain chitinases of a similar (36kDa) size; thus, the Coomassie stained gel cannot be used to positively identify this glucanase as the 36kDa chitinase will not appear as a separate band from the 35kDa glucanase band.

The colloidal coomassie stained gel of proteins extracted from MeJa treated winter rye (Figure 3-4) showed a banding pattern characteristic of apoplastic extracts from CA winter rye. Similarly, immunoblot analysis of these proteins using an antibody against β -1,3- endoglucanses gave results similar to those expected from apoplastic extract from CA treated plants (Figure 3-5). Both whole leaf extract and apoplastic extracts from MeJa-treated leaves contain β -1,3-endoglucanases. The glucanase signal appears stronger in the apoplastic extracts then in the whole tissue extract, but semi-quantitative comparisons cannot be made due to differences in protein concentration and composition. The immunoblots provide evidence that the apoplast of MeJa-treated winter rye contains β -1,3-endoglucanses. These may contribute to the observed antifreeze activity (refer to Section 3.2).

Unlike the whole leaf tissue extract from CA plants, immunoblot analysis of whole leaf protein from MeJa-treated plants contained glucanases of 32kDa and 35kDa. The 35kDa glucanase is present at a much lower concentration than the 32kDa glucanase. Apoplastic protein extracts do not appear to contain glucanases of both sizes, but the strong positive signal from the 32kDa glucanse may mask the weak positive signal of the 35kDa glucanse. The control sample also has the potential to contain glucanases of both sizes,

Figure 3-2: 1D SDS-PAGE of proteins extracted from NA and CA winter rye plants along with their controls.

Protein samples from NA controls were taken from 1-week old plants while the protein samples from CA plants were taken from plants grown for 1 week at normal conditions and then transferred to a growth chamber set at 4°C for an additional 7 weeks. Samples visualized using colloidal Coomassie blue. Whole leaf protein from NA and CA plants present similar polypeptide banding patterns. Proteins within the CA whole leaf extract appear to have degraded and is poorly resolved. The banding pattern in the CA apoplastic extract is typical of this sample type. CA apoplastic extract (A) 10µg whole leaf protein from NA plants; (B)10µg whole leaf protein from CA plants; (C) 10µg whole leaf protein from CA plants with apoplast extracted; (D) 2µg CA apoplastic extract. (MW) Molecular weight marker.



Figure 3-3: 1D immunoblotting for β -1,3-endoglucanases in proteins extracted from NA and CA winter rye.

The protein sample from NA plants was taken from plants grown for 2 weeks at normal conditions. The protein samples from CA plants were taken from plants grown for 1 week at normal conditions and then transferred to a growth chamber set at 4°C for an additional 7 weeks. Weak glucanse signals are present in the NA whole leaf extract and the whole leaf extract with apoplastic proteins removed. A stronger glucanase signal is evident in whole leaf extract from CA winter rye plants. The glucanase signal is strongest in the apoplastic extract. (A) 10µg of whole leaf tissue protein extract of NA winter rye plants; (B) 10µg of leaf tissue protein with apoplastic proteins removed from CA winter rye plants; (C) 10 µg of whole leaf tissue protein from CA winter rye; (D) 2µg apoplastic extract from CA winter rye plants. Image is taken from area corresponding to the region between the 35 and 25kDa MW markers. The exposure time for this blot was 10 seconds.



Figure 3-4: 1D SDS-PAGE of proteins extracted from winter rye treated with MeJa.

One-week old winter rye plants were treated with 5ml of 15mM MeJa daily, for 4 days. The spray control plants were treated daily for 4 days with 0.005% of Tween 20. Proteins were visualized using colloidal coomassie blue. Whole leaf extracts presented a protein profile typical of all winter rye leaf protein extracts while the polypeptide banding pattern within the apoplastic extract appeared similar to the banding pattern of CA winter rye. (A) 10µg whole tissue protein from MeJa-treated plants; (B) 2µg apoplastic extract from MeJa-treated plants; (C) 10µg whole tissue protein from spray control plants; (MW) MW marker.


Figure 3-5: 1D immunoblotting analysis for B-1,3-endoglucanases of proteins extracted from winter rye treated with MeJa.

One-week old winter rye plants were treated with 5ml of 15mM MeJa daily, for 4 days. The spray control plants were treated daily for 4 days with 0.005% Tween 20. Proteins were run on a 12% (v/v) acrylamide gel and then transferred using a semi-dry transfer to PVDF. Samples were blotted using an antibody against β -1,3-endoglucanases and the signal was detected using chemiluminescence and x-ray film. Whole leaf protein from MeJa treated plants contained two glucanses, a 35 kDa glucanse (white arrow) and a more concentrated 32kDa glucanse (black arrow). A single glucanse of 32kDa is present in the apoplastic extract (red arrow). The strong signal may mask the presence of a 35kDa glucanase. (A) 10µg whole tissue protein from MeJa-treated plants; (B) 2µg apoplastic extract from MeJa-treated plants; (C) 10µg whole tissue protein extract from spray control plants. Image is taken from area corresponding to the region between the 35 and 25kDa MW markers. The exposure time for this blot was 7sec.



but the concentration of PR related proteins is expected to be lower than those produced by CA or hormone treated plants and may be present at concentrations too low to detect.

3.3.2 2D SDS-PAGE gel and immunoblotting results

Unlike the 1D-SDS PAGE gels and blots previously presented, the 2D versions give a fuller picture of the β -1,3-endoglucanases produced by winter rye as proteins were separated both by size and by charge instead of by size alone. For each SDS-PAGE gel, two IEF strips were loaded with 10µg of NA or CA whole leaf protein or 0.2µg of CA apoplastic protein. The extremely small sample concentration for the apoplastic protein is necessary, as the Ruby Red Sypro staining used for 2D gels is far more sensitive than that for 1D gels. Loading excess protein onto 2D gels results in gels with low resolution and high background, and immunoblots with high background and positive signals so strong that weaker positive signals are masked. The potential to mask weak signals by over abundant proteins is also a problem in over-loaded gels. Each replicate required 2 gels of each protein sample. One gel was stained with Sypro Ruby Red while the other was used in immunoblotting analysis. Samples used for 2D analysis included whole tissue protein extracts from NA and CA along with CA and NA apoplastic extracts.

Sypro Ruby Red staining of whole tissue protein extracts (Figure 3-6) resulted in gels with seemingly similar protein staining patterns. It was difficult to see upregulation of proteins after cold acclimation, but down regulation of a number of proteins after cold acclimation was obvious. Although the majority of winter rye proteins under both conditions appear to be acidic, alkaline proteins are not absent from the protein samples. The 55kDa large subunit of rubisco is present on both gels, and is indicated by an arrow. Due to the high concentration of this abundant plant protein, exposure time of the gel to UV light was limited to 1 second so that

the rubisco signal did not overwhelm and hide the signals of nearby proteins. Unfortunately, this short exposure time hid the signal of proteins present at low concentration.

Apoplastic extract from CA and NA winter rye plants were also separated using 2D SDS-PAGE (Figure 3-7). Previous studies of winter rye apoplastic extract (Hon et. al., 1995) revealed the presence of 13 proteins in NA winter rye apoplast and 7 in CA winter rye apoplast.

The proteins expected in the apoplast of NA winter rye are 144, 97, 36, 35, 34, 33, 32, 28, 26, 25, 16 (x 2) and 14kDa in size (Hon *et al.*, 1995). Due to the concentration of the acrylamide gel, and the length of time the gel was electrophoresed, only proteins of 18.4kDa or larger were visible. It is therefore not unexpected that the 2 16 and the 14kDa proteins are not represented on the gel. In addition, the 2D analysis does not confirm the presence of a 144kDa protein but it does reveal 9 other proteins. One protein is of the expected 97kDa size, and 8 proteins are in the 25 to 40kDa in size range.

Previous studies revealed that the CA apoplast contained 7 minor and 6 major proteins (Griffith *et al.*, 1992). 2D analysis of the CA winter rye reveal 25 proteins or protein complexes within the apoplast of winter rye. The β -1,3-endgoglucanases in CA winter rye apoplast are stable between pH 3-7 (Stressmann *et al.*, 2004) and are 32 and 35kDa in size. The chitinases known to be in the apoplast of winter rye are similar in both size and pH stability, and cannot be distinguished from the glucanases on this gel without immunoblot analysis.

Immunoblots of proteins from both treated and untreated leaves confirm the presence of at least 3 β -1,3-endoglucanases (Figure 3-8). These 3 glucanases appear to range in size from 32kDa to 35kDa and all are acidic. The concentration of glucanase is higher in cold-treated plants than in untreated plants.

63

The number of β -1,3-endoglucanses in the leaf apoplast of NA and CA winter rye plants was established by immunoblot analysis. No glucanases were detected in the apoplast of untreated leaves despite the high sensitivity of the detection method and long exposure time (600x longer than the CA blot) (Figure 3-9). In contrast, strong positive signals for 5 glucanases, as well as another weak positive were seen after exposing the blot to film for only 2 seconds. The strong positive signal makes it difficult to determine the size of each glucanase, but they fall in the range of 32 to 35kDa. Four of the glucanases with the strongest signals as well as the glucanase with the weakest signal have separated into the acidic range of the IPG strip and lie between pH 3.2 and and pH 6. Another unexpected glucanase signal is strongly alkaline with a pH nearing 9.5. All of these proteins are visible on the Sypro Ruby Red stained 2D gel, although the staining of the alkaline glucanase is very weak and appears to be background noise. This suggests that there may be additional proteins in the apoplast that are present at low concentrations in comparison to the major polypeptides that have been detected previously by 1D analysis and less sensitive staining methods. If the exposure time is increased the background of the gel and the bright signal from the major polypeptides within the sample blur the rest of the gel making it impossible to tell if there are additional polypeptides.

Figure 3-6: 2D SDS-PAGE analysis of whole leaf protein extract from NA and CA winter rye plants.

Ten µg of whole leaf protein extract from NA and CA winter rye plants were electrophoresed on separate IEF drystrips (pH 3-10NL) and then separated by SDS-PAGE on a 12% (w/v) gel. Proteins were stained overnight using Sypro Ruby Red visualized by a 1-second exposure to UV light. Both gels were processed in a similar manner. The large 55kDa subunit of Rubisco is indicated with an arrow. Red-dashed circles surround some proteins that are present in lower concentrations after cold acclimation.



Figure 3-7: 2D SDS-PAGE analysis of apoplastic protein extracts from NA and CA winter rye plants.

The apoplast of winter rye leaves recovered from 2-week-old NA plants and from CA plants grown for 1 week at normal conditions and then transferred to a growth chamber set at 4°C for an additional 7 weeks. After focusing on IEF pH 3-10NL dry strips, proteins were separated by size by electrophoresis on 12% (w/v) polyacrylamide gels. Proteins were stained overnight using Sypro Ruby Red and visualized by exposure to UV light. The apparent profile between the extracts was remarkably different. All polypeptides found in NA sample were absent from the CA extract. Separated NA apoplastic extract was exposed for 1s while the gel containing CA apoplastc extract was exposed for 2.5 seconds.



Figure 3-8: 2D SDS-PAGE of NA and CA whole leaf tissue extract, transferred to a PVDF membrane and immunobloted with antibody against β -1,3-endoglucanses.

Whole tissue protein of winter rye leaves was taken from 2-week-old NA plants and from CA plants grown for 1 week at normal conditions and then transferred to a growth chamber set at 4°C for an additional 7 weeks. Each extract was dialyzed against 50mM Tris buffer pH 7.0 prior to isoelectric focusing of 10µg of protein on IEF drystrips (pH 3-10NL). After focusing, proteins were separated by size by electrophoresed as before. Protein was transferred to PVDF membranes using a semi-dray transfer and were blotted using an antibody against β -1,3- endoglucanases and the signal was detected using chemiluminescence and X-ray film. The whole leaf extract from NA winter rye appeared to contain 2 glucanases while the CA extract appeared to contain 3. There are a number of weak glucanase signals apparent on the gel which may or may not be glucanses, these are highlighted with a dotted-red circle. The exposure time for each blot was 10 seconds.



3.4 Isolation and Comparison of Glucanase Genes and Promoters in Winter Rye

One goal of this project was to isolate and compare the genes that code for glucanases with and without antifreeze activity, this includeed isolating the corresponding promoters of the gene of interest. Promoters are highly variable in length and sequence as the non-regulatory regions are less evolutionarily conserved as compared to coding regions. This is especially true in large gene families such as the glucanases where duplication events would have allowed each new copy to evolve separately from the parent gene, allowing family members to change both in function and regulation. It is therefore impossible to use conventional PCR to isolate gene promoter regions as a gene specific upstream 5' primer cannot be designed.

In order to obtain promoter regions, a PCR-based technique known as genomic walking was developed. This involves taking four different aliquots of genomic DNA and cutting each aliquot with a different restriction enzyme to create four collections of DNA fragments. The fragments in each aliquot are then ligated to an oligonucleotide adapter of known sequence, against which PCR primers are designed. Each collection of adapter ligated fragments can now be used as a template in a PCR reaction where only one gene specific region, either a 5' or 3' sequence is known. For this project, the commercially available Universal Genomic Walking Kit by Clonetech was used. This kit included the rare cutting restriction enzymes *Dra*I, *Eco*RV, *Pvu*II, and *Stu*I required to make a total of four unique collection of winter rye DNA fragments, and an oligonucleotide adapter to which a set of nested PCR primers was designed. Adapter-specific and gene-specific nested primers were used in successive PCR reactions eliminating much of the non-specific PCR products commonly produced in traditional genomic walking experiments.

Figure 3-9: 2D SDS-PAGE analysis of apoplastic protein extract from NA and CA winter rye plants.

The apoplastic proteins of winter rye leaves was taken from 2-week-old NA plants and from CA plants grown for 1 week at normal conditions and then transferred to a growth chamber set at 4 ° C for an additional 7 weeks. Each extract was dialyzed against 50mM Tris buffer pH 7.0 prior to isoelectric focusing of 0.2µg of protein on IEF drystrips (pH 3-10NL). After focusing, proteins were separated by size by electrophoresis on acrylamide gels. Protein was transferred to PVDF membranes using a semi-dray transfer and were blotted using an antibody against β -1,3-endoglucanases and the signal was detected using chemiluminescence and x-ray film. The exposure time for the NA apoplastic blot is 10 minutes, the exposure time for the CA apoplastic blot was 2 seconds.



The initial set of gene-specific nested primers were designed against a glucanase cDNA sequence obtained from a cold-acclimated winter rye cDNA library. This cDNA was designated scGlu9. The binding site of these nested primers, which were designated GSP1 and GSP2 (Table 2-2) were 3' of the predicted intron splice site as predicted by the online splice program GeneSplicer (http://www.tigr.org/tdb/GeneSplicer/gene_spl.html). PCRs using the *Dra*I library with this primer set 1.5 kb; a major PCR product of 2.4 kb was recovered from the *Stu*I library and two predominant PCR products of approximately 1kb and 800bp were isolated using the *Pvu*II library. The *Eco*RV library produced a small 500bp clone which was considered too small for further analysis.

The gene products of the *Dra*I, *Stu*I and *Pvu*II libraries were cloned and sequenced. Sequence alignment between the sequence obtained from the *Stu*I fragment and the known glucanase cDNA sequence revealed the strong sequence similarity to β -1,3-endoglucanases from barley (92%) and wheat (96%). The sequence revealed the presence of a 421bp intron that separated two exons of 81bp and 900bp. A 1.6kb fragment of the promoter region was also obtained, but could not be used for promoter analysis as it contained many sequencing errors. In order to confirm and obtain a longer fragment of this promoter sequence, another primer set (IntronR1a and IntronR1b) was designed against the intron with the assumption that this region was gene specific. Using the DNA 'libraries' as templates, primary PCRs were carried out using IntronR1a and used in a secondary PCR reaction with the nested primers, IntronR1b and AP2. A 1.5kb band was recovered in the *Stu*I library. This was cloned into the pGEM T-Easy vector. After transformation and plasmid isolation the plasmid DNA from positive transformants was sent for sequencing. Sequence alignment revealed that the IntronR1/R2 primer set amplified 5 different β -1,3-endoglucanases. One of these glucanases was identified as scGlu9, the other 4 sequences (which were subsequently designated scGlu10, scGlu11, scGlu12 and scGlu13) appeared to be different genes with strong sequence nucleotide similarity (96-98%) to each other.

In order to fully understand the differences between each of these glucanases a complete DNA sequence, including promoter and coding regions for each was required. Nested primers were designed from the 3' UTR sequence of each gene. One set of nested primers was designed for reverse walking through the promoter, the other set was needed to walk through the coding and intron regions. Each PCR was performed three times and the largest products from each PCR were sent for sequencing. Products verified as glucanases were used for subsequent sequence analysis.

3.4.1 Sequence Comparison between the Five isolated β -1,3endoglucanases and glucanases from other related plant species

Five full length β -1,3-endoglucanases from winter rye were obtained, including at least 600bp upstream of the transcription start site in each case. These were designated scGlu9 through scGlu13. As 8 full or partial cDNA sequences for winter rye glucanases had been recently published (Yaish *et al.*, 2006) new glucanase sequences were analyzed to ensure they represented unique genes. Sequence analysis determined that 4 of the 5 glucanase sequences were unique while scGlu13 was identical to scGlu6 (accession number AM101310). These sequences were identical save for two fact that the 5'UTR region obtained through genomic walking was truncated and that the second exon of scGlu6 contained two ambiguous nucleotides (Figure 3-10). These two nucleotides are conserved in all of the other glucanases as either a pair of cytosines or a pair of thymines. Based on the fact that there were no additional

differences between scGlu13 and scGlu6, it was concluded that scGlu13 was the same gene as scGlu6 and that the two ambiguous nucleotides were a pair of thymines. scGlu13 was redesignated scGlu6 to reflect these considerations.

The start and stop codons for each glucanase gene were determined by sequence alignments with known glucanase sequences. The start codon (ATG) and the surrounding nucleotides were conserved amongst the glucanases, as was the stop codon (TAA). In addition to the predicted stop codon, which was determined based on known glucanse amino acid sequences there were two subsequent stop codons in close proximity to the noted stop codon. The presence of these additional stop codons suggests a possibility of additional open reading frames.

Figure 3-10: Alignment of the UTR and coding regions of the scGlu6 gene obtained through genomic walking, and the previously published scGlu6 cDNA sequence.

The coding sequence of the scGlu6 gene obtained through genomic walking was compared to the published sequence (Gen Bank accession number AM181310) by aligning the sequences using Clustal X. The 3' UTR of scGlu6 obtained through genomic walking is 21bp shorter than the cDNA sequence. The coding region of each sequence is identical except that the cDNA sequence contains two ambiguous nucleotides at position 644 and 645 (underlined). These ambiguous nucleotides correspond to two thymines in the genomic walking sequence. Due to the high sequence similarities between the sequences, it was assumed that they represent the same gene. Start (ATG) and stop (TAA) codons are indicated by a box.

Glu-6 emb.AM181310 scGlu6		TCGTGCCGAA TCGTGCCGAA	TTCGGCACGA TTCGGCACGA	GGATACATAG GGATACATAG	GGAGCTAAGC GGAGCTAAGC	TAGCAGCAAT TAGCAGCAAT	GGCTAGAAAC GGCTAGAAAC	CATGTTGCTT CATGTTGCTT	70
Glu-6 emb.AM181310	71	CCATGTTTGC	CGTTGCTCTC	TTCATTGGAA	CGTTCGCTGC	TGTTCCTACC	AGTGTGCAAT	CCATCCGCGT	140
scGlu6	71	CCATGTTTGC	CGTTGCTCTC	TTCATTGGAA	CGTTCGCTGC	TGTTCCTACC	AGTGTGCAAT	CCATCCGCGT	140
Glu-6 emb.AM181310	141	CTGTTACGGC	GTGATCGGCA	CCAACCTTCC	CTCCCGAACC	GACGTGGTGC	AGCTTTACAG	GTCCAAGGGC	210
scGlu6	141	CTGTTACGGC	GTGATCGGCA	CCAACCTTCC	CTCCCGAACC	GACGTGGTGC	AGCTTTACAG	GTCCAAGGGGC	210
Glu-6 emb.AM181310 scGlu6	211 211	ATCAACGGCA ATCAACGGCA	TGCGCATCTA TGCGCATCTA	CTTCGCCGAA CTTCGCCGAA	GGGCAAGCCC GGGCAAGCCC	TCTCCCGCCT	CCGCAACTCC	GGCATCAGCC GGCATCAGCC	280 280
Glu-6 emb.AM181310	281	TCATCCTCGA	CATCGGTAAC	GACCAGCTCG	CCAACATCGC	CGCCAGCACC	TCCAACGCGG	CGTCCTGGGT	350
scGlu6	281	TCATCCTCGA	CATCGGTAAC	GACCAGCTCG	CCAACATCGC		TCCAACGCGG	CGTCCTGGGT	350
Glu-6 emb.AM181310	351	ACAGAACAAT	GTGCGTCCCT	ACTACCCGGC	CGTGAACATC	AAGTACATCG	CTGCCGGCAA	CGAGGTCCTG	420
scGlu6	351	ACAGAACAAT	GTGCGTCCCT	ACTACCCGGC	CGTGAACATC	AAGTACATCG	CTGCCGGCAA	CGAGGTCCTG	420
Glu-6 emb.AM181310	421	GGAGGCGCCA	CGCAGAGCAT	CGTCCCTGCC	ATGCGGAACC	TCAACGCGGC	CCTCTCCGCC	GCCGGCCTCG	490
scGlu6	421	GGAGGCGCCA	CGCAGAGCAT	CGTCCCTGCC	ATGCGGAACC	TCAACGCGGGC	CCTCTCCGCC		490
Glu-6 emb.AM181310 scGlu6	491 491	GCGCCATCAA GCGCCATCAA	GGTGTCCACC GGTGTCCACC	TCGATCCGGT TCGATCCGGT	TCGACGCGGT TCGACGCGGT	GGCCAACTCA GGCCAACTCA	TTCCCACCCT	CCCCCCCCCCCCC	560 560
Glu-6 emb.AM181310	561	GTTCGCGCAG	TCGTACATGA	CGGACGTGGC	CCGGCTCCTG	GCGAGCACCG	GCGCGCCCCT	GCTGGCCAAC	630
scGlu6	561	GTTCGCGCAG	TCGTACATGA	CGGACGTGGC	CCGGCTCCTG	GCGAGCACCG		GCTGGCCAAC	630
Glu-6 emb.AM181310	631	GTGTACCCCT	ACTTNNCGTA	CCGCGACAAC	CCGCGCGCGACA	TCAGCCTCAA	CTACGCGACG	TTCCAGCCAG	700
scGlu6	631	GTGTACCCCT	ACTTTTCGTA	CCGCGACAAC	CCGCGCGCGACA	TCAGCCTCAA	CTACGCGACG	TTCCAGCCAG	
Glu-6 emb.AM181310	701	GCACCACTGT	GCGTGACCAG	AACAACGGGC	TGACCTACAC	TTGCCTCTTC	GACGCCATGG	TGGACGCCGT	770
scGlu6	701	GCACCACTGT	GCGTGACCAG	AACAACGGGC	TGACCTACAC	TTGCCTCTTC	GACGCCATGG	TGGACGCCGT	770
Glu-6 emb.AM181310 scGlu6	771 771	GTATGCGGCA GTATGCGGCA	CTGGAGAAGG CTGGAGAAGG	00000000000000000000000000000000000000	GGG <mark>CGTGAAG</mark> GGGCGTGAAG	GTGGTGATTT GTGGTGATTT	CCGAGAGCGG	GTGGCCGTCG GTGGCCGTCG	840 840
Glu-6 emb.AM181310	841	GCGGGCGGGGT	TTGCGGCGTC	GCCGGACAAC	GCGCGGACGT	ACAACCAGGG	GCTGATCAAC	CACGTCGGCG	910
scGlu6	841	GCGGGGCGGGGT	TTGCGGCGTC	GCCGGACAAC	GCGCGGACGT	ACAACCAGGG	GCTGATCAAC	CACGTCGGCG	910
Glu-6 emb.AM181310	911	GGGG <mark>CACGCC</mark>	CAAGAAGCGG	GAGGCGCTGG	AGACGTACAT	CTTCGCCATG	TTCAACGAGA	ACCAGAAGAC	980
scGlu6	911	GGGG <mark>CACGCC</mark>	CAAGAAGCGG	GAGGCGCTGG	AGACGTACAT	CTTCGCCATG	TTCAACGAGA	ACCAGAAGAC	980
Glu-6 emb.AM181310	981	CGGGGGATCCG	ACGGAGAGGA	GCTTCGGGGCT	GTTCAACCCG	GACAAGTCGC	CGGCCTACGC	CATCCAGTTC	1050
scGlu6	981	CGGGGGATCCG	ACGGAGAGGA		GTTCAACCCG	GACAAGTCGC	CGGCCTACGC	CATCCAGTTC	1050
Glu-6 emb.AM181310	1051	TAACTGGCTA	CCTACATCTT	CTTCATCCTA	AATAAATAAG	CTGCATGTAA	TGCGGCATCC	AAGTGTAATA	1120
scGlu6	1051	TAACTGGCTA	CCTACATCTT	CTTCATCCTA	AATAAATAAG	CTGCATGTAA	TGCGGCATCC	AAGTGTAATA	1120
Glu-6 emb.AM181310 scGlu6	1121 1121	TGTAGATTCA TGTAGATTCA	TCAAGGGAAG TCAAGGGAAG	AGTGCAACCA AGTGCAACCA	TGCATGCGTT TGCA	AACTTCCTGG	CGATG 1175 1154		

The coding sequence of each of the 5 glucanase genes is 1041bp long. The coding sequence is composed of 2; exons, the first exon codes for a signal peptide and is 81bp in length and the second exon, which codes for the functional enzyme is 960bp. The exons are separated by an intron that varies in size among the glucanase genes. The intron of scGlu6 (Figure 3-11) is 598bp long, scGlu9 has an intron of 421bp (Figure 3-12), the intron of scGlu10 is 162bp in length (Figure 3-13), scGlu11 has an intron of 592bp (Figure 3-14) and scGlu12 has an intron

of 550bp (Figure 3-15). The first 40bp of each intron share 96-99% nucleotide sequence identity. There is no apparent sequence conservation amongst the remaining intron sequences. The region upstream of the ATG codon of each gene also shares high sequence similarity (96-98%) for the first 40bp, after which this region becomes highly variable between glucanases. The received upstream regions, including the UTR and promoter of each gene were 659bp,

890bp, 941bp, 1238bp and 603bp for scGlu6, scGlu9, scGlu10, scGlu11 and scGlu12,
respectively. A longer upstream region (1.2kb) for scGlu9 was sequenced, but Blast analysis established that the sequence beginning 659bp upstream of the start of translation 87%
identical to the barley gene hv1LRR2 (GenBank accession number AF108010). This indicates that this sequence belongs to an adjacent gene and is not part of the promoter of scGlu9.

The core promoter contains all of the cis-acting regulatory elements required to initiate transcription. The TATA region is generally within 50bp of the start site of transcription (Smale and Kadonaga, 2003) and was predicted by searches on the PLACE database. The TATA box of each glucanase is identical, or nearly identical, to one of the known TATA box signals for rice, CTATAAATAC.

79

Figure 3-11: The full length genomic sequence of scGlu6

The full-length sequence of scGlu6 was obtained through genomic walking. The coding sequence of the gene is 1041bp in length; this includes the 81bp exon 1, which codes for a signal peptide that is presumably cleaved from the protein after transport. The longer exon 2 is 960bp in length and codes for the functional enzyme. The exons are separated by a 598bp intron. The region upstream of the transcription start site, including the UTR and promoter is 659bp in length. Boxes represent the start (ATG) and stop (TAA) codons. The intron is the region located between the arrows. The TATA box within the proximal promoter is underlined.

1321 TECCCATACA CCAAACCGCG CCGFGFGFGC AATCATCG CGTCTGTTAC GGCGFGATCG CCACCAACCT TCCCTCCCAA ACCGACGTGG TGCAGCTTTA CAGGTCCAAC GGCATCAACG CUTTCCGAA TCCTGGCTAT ATATAGAGAG GATCACAGAA AGCCGGTGGA TGCTACCGTG GCATGGATGT TTGGCCGGG ACCAACCAGC ATGGATACGG TCTTCACGGA ACGTCGCGTA 1441 CCATECECAT CIACTTECCE GAAGEGECAAG CCTTETECE CETECECAAC TEGECAAEA GCCTEATEA GCCTEATECT CGACAACAAT CGCCGECEAGE ACCTECAAEA 1921 CAGCACCAC TGTGCGTGAC CAGAACAACG GGCTGACCTA CACTTGCCTC TTCGACGCCA TGGTGGACGC CGTGTATGCG GCACTGGAGA AGGCCGGCGC GCCGGGCGTA AAGGTGGTGA CTICACCITI CIGICGICII CITICIACAAT IGGCIAATCI ACTIAGGAIG CACCGGIGCG CITCAGACIT ACCIGAAATA TATATAGCAA GTAACAAGAA GTAGCICAAG AAATGGITU CGAATGCTGG CTATATATAG AGAGGATGAC AGAAAGCGGG TGGATGGTAG CGTGGGATGG ATGTTTGGCG CGGGACGAAC CAGGATGGAT AGGGTGTTGA GGGAAGGTGG CGTAGTTGAG GUTGATGTCG CGCGGGTTGT CGCGGTACGC TAAATTAAGG GGTACACGTT TGGCCATCAA GGGGGGGGCC CGTTGCTTCG CCAGGAAACC GGGCCCACGT TCCGTAATGT ACCAATTGCC ATCCCGTCGT GCCGAATTCG GCACGAGGTA CATAGGGGAG CTAAGCTAGC AGCAATGCATG TTGCTTCCAT GTTTGCCGTT GCTGTTCA TTGCAAGGTT CGCTGCTGT CCTACCÀTTE ACCTITURE CGTECTETTE TACANTIGEC TAATETACTI AGGATGEACE GETGEGETTE AGACTIAGET GAAATATATA TAGEAAGTAA CAAGAAGTAG ETCAAGAAAT GTTGAGGCTG ATGTCGCGCG GGTTGTCGCG GTACGCTAAA TTAAGGGGTA CACGTTTGGC CATCAAGGGG CGCGCGTT GCTTCGCCAG GAAACCGGGC CCACGTTCCG TAATGTACCA GATTGFGGFG ACATGGGGC GGTTTGFGTA TTTTATTACG GATCCCCFGT CAAGTTTTCT ACGGCCGAACC ATCAGCACTC CCCCFGTATG TAGAAGAATC 1201 CTCGGGTAGC ACTAACTCCC TATGCAATTA ATTAATTAAT TAAGTTTTA TATGTTACAA ATTAAAAGCA ATGTTGGGCC TTGCTGGAGG ATTTTAATC AAAGGAGAAG GGTCAAGGG 1561 CGCCGTCCTG GGTACAGAAC AATGTGCGTC CCTACTACCC GGCGGTAAA ATGAAGTACA TCGCTGCGGG CAACGAGGTC CTGGCGGGGC CCACGCAGAG CATCGTCCCT GCCATGCGAG ACCTCAACC GECCCTCTC GECECEGEC TEGECECAT CAAGTETIC ACTCGATC GETTEGAEGE GETGGECAAC TEATTECEAE CUTCGGEGE CATTEGEG CAGTGETAEA TITCCGAGAG CGGGTGGCCG TCGCCGGGCG GTCGCCGGAC AACGCCGCGA CGTACAACCA GGGGCTGATC AACCACGTCG GCGGGGGCAC GCCCAAGAAG CGGGGGGCGC TGGAGACGTA CATCTTCGCC ATGTTCAACG AGAACCAGAA GACCGGGGAT CCGACGAGA GGAGCTTCGG GCTGTCAAC CCGGACAAGT CGCCGGGCTA GGCATCCAG TTGTAACTG GCGAATTCAC TAGTGATTGT GGTGAGGATG GCGGGGTTG TGTATTTTAT TAGGGATCCC CTGTCAAGTT TTCTAGGGCC GAGCATCAGC ACTCCCCCTG TATGTAGAAG AATCCTGGG TGACGGAGGT GECCGGGCTC CTGCGGAGCA CCGGCGCC CCTGCTGGCC ACCTGTACC CCTACTTTTC GTACCGCGAC ACATCAGCCT CAACTACGCG ACGTTCCAGC TAGCACTAAC TCCCTATGCA ATTAATTAAT TAATTAAGTT TTTATATGTT ACAAATTAAA ACCAATGTTG GGCCTTGCTG GAGGATTTTT ATTCAAAGGA GAACCGTCAA GGCTATAATA CTACCTACAT CITCITCATC CTAAATAAAT AAGCTGCATG TAATGCGGCA TCCAAGTGTA AIAIGTAGAT TCATCAAGGG AAGAGTGCAA CCATGCA 2377 ATTGCCCCCA ATTCACTACT н

Figure 3-12: The full length genomic sequence of scGlu9

The full-length sequence of scGlu9 was obtained through genomic walking. The coding sequence of the gene is 1041bp in length; this includes the 81bp exon 1, which codes for a signal peptide that is cleaved from the protein after transport. The longer exon 2 is 960bp in length and codes for the functional enzyme. The exons are separated by a 421bp intron. The region upstream of the transcription start site, including the UTR and promoter is 890bp in length. Boxes represent the start (ATG) and stop (TAA) codons. The intron is the region located between the arrows. The TATA box within the proximal promoter is underlined.

GCCATCCACT TCTAADTGCC TACCTACATC TICTTCATCC TAAATAAATA AGCTGCACGT AATGCGGCCAT CCAAGTGTAA TATGTAGATA CATCAAGGGA AGAGTGCAAC CATGCAGC 2518 TAGATTATT TATTTICGAG TITTAAAACT TITATTITTA TITTTGAGG AGGGTTAGAC TTATTGGCTG TGTGCATGGA GCTGAGGAG GGCGGAGGAT TCTTTIGATG TGTTTGTATC TUTACIGITA CIATICCACC AGAACTIACI TCATGACCAI ACATGGGATG CATGGACIAC GACGCAACGA GGAAGTAGGI GITACACAIC AGGUTAGI ATTITCIIAC CIGCTICGAA TCGACCGGGA GACAAAGACA CACCGCTTT TGACGAGGAT TUTGTGCTGA CGGACCAGGC TTGACGGGGT GICCGTGCC TTGAATGGAT GAAGACAICI AIAGTGGTAG CACGTAGA CUCCERCCC AATTCGCCAC CAGGATACAT AGGCAGCTAA GCTAGCAGCA ACCATGTTGC TICCATGTTT GCGTTGGTC TCTTCATTGC AAGGTTGGCT GCTGTTGCTA CCATTCACCT TUTTCTECT CTUTTACCAAA TAIAGGUTAA TAGUTACTTA CGUTGGGGAG GGGAAGGGGAA GGGGUTUTGG GGAAGAATTT TIGGGGGCAAA AGAGGGGAAA AGAAGGGAAA CGAAAGATCA TAACCCTGCA GGGGTGTCCC AACTIAGCCC ATCACAIGCT GCAGAGGTAA AAATAATAAT ACCCCTTATC TIAGGGACAA TCCGATCAGA CTCGGAATCC CGGTGCACAA GACATTTTGA CAATGGTAAA ACAAGTCCAG CAAGACCTCC CGGCGTGGT ACACGCTGAT AATAGCCACG GGTATCTCGT CTCAGGCGAT GGGCGATCCT ACGGGGAGCCA GATACCTIGA GITTCCCCCF GACGCCCCC CATAACCCCC GITGTGTGCG ATCCATCGCC GTCFITACG GCGFGATCGC CAACAACCTC CCCTCCGGGA GCGACGTGGT GCAGCTTAC 1561 AGGTCCAAGG CATCAACGG CATGCGCGATC TACTTCGCCG AGGGCGAAGC CCTCTCCCCG CTCGGCAACT CCGCCAACA CCGCCAACATC CTCTCCCCC AGTCGTACAT BACGBACGTG GCCCGCCTCC TGCCGGCGCCC CTGCTGGCCCA ACGTGTACCC CTACTTTTCC TACCGCGCAA ACCCGCGCGA CATCAGCCTC 2041 AACTACGCGA CETTCCAGCC AGGCACCACT STGCGACCA AGAACAACGG GCTGACCTAC ACTTGCCTCT TCGACGCCAT GGTGGACGCC GTGTATGCGG CACTGGAGAA GGCCGGCGC 2161 CCGGGGGTGA AGGTGGTGAT TTCCGAGAGC GGGTGGCGGT CGGGGGGGG GTTGCGGGGG TCGCGGGACA ACGGGGGGAC GTACAACCAG GGGCTGATCA ACCACGTCGG CGGGGGCACG CCCARGARC GGGAGCGCT GGAGACGTAC ATCTTCGCCA TGTTCAACGA GAACCAGAAG ACCGGGGATC CGACGAGAG GAGCTTCGGG CTGTTCAACC CGGACAAGTC GCCGGCCTAC AACTCGATAT ATCAATTGAA TGGAATGTCC TITACCGAAA AAAGCTAGTT AGGTTGGTCG ACCGTCTITT ATAGGCGGAA GGGTCACC CAACCAAGGA CATACATGCA CTTACTTGAG TCGAITGAGC ATTGCATCAT CATAIATAIT GATAIGAGIG GCGCCACAAC GCAATGCAAC AICAICGACC AIGTGAGCT ATTGCTCAT CCCCATCAIC AIGCGCAAAG TIGCAACCC CTGCTTGATC CATGCTCATT AAATGGTAGC AIGTGCAATT GGGCTCAGCA AACAAAGTCT ATTGATATTT GCGTCACCAA GCATCCATAC CAGCTTGCTG TGAACACCTC GAGCTGGGCA GCAMTATGCA ATTGGGCAAT AAGTGTAGCT GTTGCTGTAT GTGTTGATCC AAACAATTCT AGTGCAAGAT CTGAGTGAGT GGCGAGCTGAATAATGAATGAA TTGCGGGGG TACCAAAGCA GCCCTTTTCC GTTCATGTGG CAGGGGTAAA ATAGGAAATA TCGCAGGGGT AAACTTTCGG GCGCGACATT AACAAATTCC AATCTACCAC ATAACCACGG GCAGGGTT GCCGCCAGCA CUTCCAACCC GGCGTCCTGG GTACAAACA ATGTGCGTC CTACTACCCG GCCGTAACA TCAAGTACAT CGTGCGGGCC AACGAGGGTCC TGGGAGGGCGC CACGCAGAGC 1801 ATCGTCCCTG CCATGCGGAA CCTCAACGCG GCCCTTCCG CCGCGCCATC AAGGTGTCCA CCTCGAACGG GTTCGAACT CATTCCCACC CTCCGCCGGC ч

Figure 3-13: The full length genomic sequence of scGlu10.

The full-length sequence of scGlu10 was obtained through genomic walking. The coding sequence of the gene is 1041bp in length; this includes the 81bp exon 1, which codes for a signal peptide that is cleaved from the protein after transport. The longer exon 2 is 960bp in length and codes for the functional enzyme. The exons are separated by a 162bp intron. The region upstream of the transcription start site, including the UTR and promoter is 941bp in length. Boxes represent the start (ATG) and stop (TAA) codons. The intron is the region located between the arrows. The TATA box within the proximal promoter is underlined.

GEGCATCAAC GECATECCCA TCTACTTCGC CEACEGECAA GCCTCTCCC CECACA CTCCGECATC AGCCTCATCC TCEACAACCA CTCGCCAACA TCGCCGCCAG CCCCAGGGAG CAAGAATCT CCCTCTAGGA GGAACATT GAGGCGGCTC TTCGCACCAA GGATGAAAGT CTGGAAGGTC TTGTGCAACA GCGCACCAAG GAGTTGGAGG ACAAGGATAG CAMPGICAGE ATCTCAGACT TGAAGGCAAG GATCAACH CTGGAGGCTT CAAGGGAATE ACTIGAGTCE TGTGAGCAGT TGTTGTGCAA GGATCIGGAG GCCTCCCAAG GTCACCGGCA CTTCTCGATC GCCAGCCACC AGGTCCCCAG CECCAAGCTA GGACTCTTCT TCAATGAGCT GATCGAGAGGC ATGAAGAGGG GAGGCGGGGA CACTTTGCAC CGAGTCTCGG AGCTIFCCT AAGACGCCCT CTTCATGGTC CTGACGAATT TCACTTGCCG CCATCGGGAC CTCGATCTCG ACGATGGATT CAGGGCGCCCG CCAGGGGGTG CTGACGTTGT GGCTGCCAAG GAGAAAGTCG TGCCCCGAGC CGACATGGTC CTTCAAGTTT GAACGGCTC GCCGAGCGGC CAGTCTAATT ATCGGTCCAC TGCTGCCCTG TAATGAATCA GAACATATAT TTTGCATTA CTTACTCTAT CTCTCATAIT TCCGTGAAAC TGATATCTCT AGTCGGATTC TAGATGCGTG TTTATCCCTT TCAGCTCTAT ATGTTTGCAC TAIATAATCC GAAACCTATG TAIGTTTTGG ATCCATCACC AGCAGATACA TAGGGAGCTA AGCTAGCAGC A<u>ATG</u>CTAGA AACGATGTTG CITCCATGTT TGGGGTTGGT CTGCTTGGT AGGAGCGTAGC CAAGACALAT GTATCACAGE CAAACACGCA TITCACTGE CAATCCATCE SCETCATA SECCICATE SECAACAAAC TECCTCCCE SAGCBACGE STECACCTTA ACAGCTCCAA TECCATECES AACTICAACE DESCOTTIC DECESCESS TOAGETETS CACTICEATE DEFITEACE DEFICECAA CTCATTCCA CCTCCEDCE GCETETCCC GAAGGTGGTG ATTTCCGAGA GCGGGGGCG GTCGGCGGC GGGTTTGCGG CATCGCGGGG ACGTACAACC AGGGGCTGAT CAACCACGTC GGCGGGGGCA CGCCCAAGAA ACCICCACIC GATCCTIFIC CCGATCCTA TCCTCCTCA CTCAAAAC TIACTAACGA TCACGTTETC CCATCECCE TCAAGGATC CCTTCATAAC CTGFTGCCCA ACTTGCGTGA GGATCTCACA TECAGCACCA AGGAGGGGGA GETTCTCAAA GAGAAAACTC AGCAGGTCGA GACCCTCTTG GCTGATGTAC AATTGCATCT CTCCTCCAAG GCTCAAGAGCC TTGAAACTGC TITICITITI TIAATCATCT 1561 CACCTCCAAC GODGCGTCCT GGTACAGAA CAATGTGCGT CCCTACTACC CGGCCGTGAA CATCAAGTAC ATGGCTGCGG GCAAGGGGGGC GCCAGGCAGA GCATGGTGC GCAGTCETAC ATGACGACE TGCCCCGCT CCTGCCGACC ACCGCGCCC CCATGCTGCC CAACGTGTAC CCTACTTCC CGTACCGCCG AACCTCACCC TCAACTACCC GACGTICCAG COAGGCACCA CTGTGCGTGA CCAGAACAAC GGGCTGACCT ACACTTGCCT CTTCGACGCC ATGGTGGACG CGGTGTATGC GGCACTGGAC AAGGCGGGTG CGCCGGGGT 2161 GCGGGAGGGC CTGGAGAGGT ACAACTTGGC CATGTTCAAC GAGAACCAGA AGACCGGGGA TCCGACAAGG GGGAGGCTTCG GGCTGTTCAA CCCGGAGAAA TCGCGGGCCT ACGCCATCCA AGATGTAGAG GACAGGGTGA AGAATGATG TGACATGGTC AAACTATGGA CCAAGAGGCT GATGGAGATT GCCAAGTGCC TTGGTGACGA GGCTAAGGTG ATGGCGATGG ATGGCCGGGT ATAACCIGAA TITTACCCAT AAGAACATIG TITATITATI ATTAAATAAA AIGGTICATA ATAGTIGIGCC AIGTATAATT TTACAATAGT GCCGIGCIAT GTTC<u>FAN</u>CTG GCTACCTACA TCTTCTTCAT CCTAAATAAA TAAGCTGCAT GTAATGGGGC ATCCGAGTGT AATATGTAGA TAT 2363 ч

Figure 3-14: The full length genomic sequence of scGlu11.

The full-length sequence of scGlu11 was obtained through genomic walking. The coding sequence of the gene is 1041bp in length; this includes the 81bp exon 1, which codes for a signal peptide that is cleaved from the protein after transport. The longer exon 2 is 960bp in length and codes for the functional glucanase. The exons are separated by a 592bp intron. The region upstream of the transcription start site, including the UTR and promoter is 1238bp in length. Boxes represent the start (ATG) and stop (TAA) codons. The intron is the region located between the arrows. The TATA box within the proximal promoter is underlined.

AAACTAGCAT GAATTGAATA AAAGTATGTT GGGACAGTCA ATATTTTA TTCTGCCATG CATGCACATC TCTGGACCTA CCGGTACCTT TTAGCAGGGA ATACAAAATA TGGAATTCTA CCTTCGGAT AACCAAGGTC CACCAACCCC ACCGGATAIT CUTCAAAAAA AATTITTAAC CAACCCCACC CGACGAACC GCACCATCT GCCCCTCCC CUTCGCTCT CGTCCCGGCG CITGGAAGCC AAGATGAAGC TAATGATGCT TCTGGGTGCG GGCAGCATAT TGGAGGAGAI ACAGCTGCTG AGCGAAGCTAC GGCGGGGAGA AATATCGCCC ACTACATCAG CCCAATCIAC TGACAGGGTT AACCCAGAGG CACTTGGGTG GACAAAAAGG GICGTATGIT ICCITAATCA TGTCAATAIA CAIATTTTCT GAIGCAAGTA GGAGTTTTGC AGTCTGCACG ссассаедое деятасятае седесталое тассассыми сретлелале сатетиссии ссатетите септесиете исантесае септесное истастасе истасансе CCATCCATCA ATTTECTTTE CCCCCCTAAC CATECCATAG TAGGTTAGG TECATCCATE CTAAGTAGAT AGAAAATAGT ACAAGAGCAC GAGAGAAAGG TCAAGCAGGT GTGTGCAATC CCAGAAGACC GGGGGTCGA CGGAGGGGGAG CTTCGGGGTG TTCAACCCGG ACAAGTCGCC GGCCTACGCC ACCAGTTG<mark>T AM</mark>CTGGCTAC CTACATCTTA ATAAATAAGC TCATACCTGG TIATACATAT GGATGGGGCCC TATTATGCA CAGATCATAA AGCACGTGAA GGGTGGATGC TACGCGGGTA GCTCCGGGCT CCGGTAAAAA GGAGTTTGCG CTAAAACTGGG 1081 AAGCACATAG CIGCAAAAAC TITIGATGIT GICGAGAAGA ACCAIAGGCA GGGIGGICAC AATAAACCCI GAAATGITIG CATAATITA TAATAACG ACTIGCIAIA AIAAICGGG TECCEATAAG AGTGECATC GECCTITAG CTGTGETAGE CETTEACCTF ATGACTATE CTGGCGTGTC CTTTACTATT AATTAATATE TTTGATTTF TATTACTAAA TGTCATAGEA ATTATTCAAC AAGAATTTCT TTGCACTGCA TITTGAAAAT AATTGTATGC ACTCAAATTT CTTAAAAATA ACTCTTCCTT GCTTGGGTG GCGCAAACAA AAATATTAGG TACATATTT TITTICITCG AAATTGCCCA CCAAATTAAT TITGCATAAT AGTACTAGCA CATTACAAAA TICCATCAAC AAAATAGATA AATTATCCAG TGGTCCATTA AAAAACAGCA TGATGGAACT CATCGECETC TETTACGECE TEATCGECAA CAACCTECEC TECGGEGEGE ACGTGETECA ECTTACAGE TECAAGGECAT TECAAGGECAT GEGCATETAC TTEGECGAGE GEGAAGGECAT CTCCCCCCTC CCCAACTCCC CATCAGCCT CATCCTCGAC ATCGCTAGC ACCACCTCCC CAACATCGCC CCCAGCACCT CCAACGGCGC GTCCTGGCGTA CAGCAATG TGCGTCCTA 2281 CCCATCAAC GIGTCCACCT CGATCCGGTT CGACCGGTG CCCAACTCAT TCCCACCTC CGCCGGGGTG TTCGCGCAGGT CGTACATGAC GGACGTGGCC CGGCTCCTGG CCAGCGGC AAACATGUT COCCCCCCC TGCCCCCCCCC CTCAATCGCT GGTGCAAGA ACCCCGGGCUC CAGTTUTAC TTCATGCCGG TGACCGGCAA GTGCATCTCC ACACCTCGGA CTGGACCAAA GACATACTGC AAACCTGAAT GCTGTTGCTG TGATAGATT AAAAAAAAAT GCCGTCTTTG AAATTTCTGG CACTTATGAC ATTTATTATA TAATACATGT CTAGGAAATA GGATGGCAAT ATATTGGTAA CTTACTGAAA GTGAAATGTT TCCTTATCAT GACAATAACA TATTTTCTGA ATGCAAGTAG GTAGTTTTGC AGTTGACAGG CCTAGAGGAA ACATTATICT ATTITITAAG ACAAAAATAT TITATTI CGAATAGGCA TGACACTCCA ATCCTICGII TITICIGITIC TGCCATCITI AGCATCCTIA CGAACAAAAG AGACAATAAA CIACCCGGCC GIGAACAICA AGIACAICGC IGCCGGCAAC GAGGTCCIGG GAGGGCGCC GCAGAGCAIC GICCCIGCA IGCGGAACCI CAACGCGGGC CICICCGCCG CCGGCCICGG COCCCCCCG CTGGCCAACG TGTACCCCTA CTTCGCGTAC CGCGCAAAT CAGCCTCAAC TACGCGAAGT TCCAGCCAGG CACCACTGC CGTGACCGAGA ACAACGGGCT GACCTACACT TECCTCTTCE ACCCCATECT GEACECCETE TATECCECCAC TEGARAAGE DESCECCCE GECETEAAGE TEGTEATTTE CEAAAGECGE TEGECETEG CEGECEGETT TGCGCGCGTCC CCGGACGACCTA CACCAAGGGG CTGGTCAACC ACGTCGGGG GGGCACGCCC AAGAAGCGGG AGGGCGTGGA GACGTAACT TTCGCCATGT TCAACGAGAA TCCATGTAAT CCCCCATCCC ACTGTAATAT GTAGATATC 2919 ч

Figure 3-15: The full length genomic sequence of scGlu12.

The full-length sequence of scGlu11 was obtained through genomic walking. The coding sequence of the gene is 1041bp in length; this includes the 81bp exon 1, which codes for a signal peptide that is cleaved from the protein after transport. The longer exon 2 is 960bp in length and codes for the functional glucanase. The exons are separated by a 550bp intron. The region upstream of the transcription start site, including the UTR and promoter is 603bp in length. Boxes represent the start (ATG) and stop (TAA) codons. The intron is the region located between the arrows. The TATA box within the proximal promoter is underlined.

GIGCCAACAT CAACTGCGAC GACAGAGAGC CGTTCGGACC AGCTCTACCA GIGAGGGGGA TITIGACTAC GGACGGATC AAATCTTCCT TAATATTGCT GTTCAGCGCT CITCCAGTAA ATTCACCATC ACATTGTGTG GAAGCATTGT ACTAGTGGCC TCTACACAAC GGAGTCGGCC TACAAAGTGT AACTTTTTTA TTCATCGGCT CTCCCTTGGA GCATGCAATG TGGAGAATCT GGGCTCCACC CAAGGTCAAG TTCTTTGCTT GGCGAGCCAT CCAAAATAGA GTTTAGACCG CGAATAGATT GGCCAAGGGC GGTTGGCCTA ACTGTGGCCTA ATGCATGCAT GCAMIGCCA GAAACGAIGT TECTTCCATG TITECCETIG CTCCTTCAT TGGAGGGTIG CTGCTGCTC CTACCAGGT GTTGAGGATT CTCTGTGGCT CTTGTAGTAT TTTCTATCTA CTITECATEC ATECACCIAA CCIACTETCE GCATEGTIAC CEGEGCAAAC CAAATTCATE CATEGAGTIC BATCATECTE ITTTTAATE GACCACTEGA TAATTATCI ATTTTETEA TGGAATTITG TAATGTGCTA GTACTATTAT GCAAAATTAA TTTGGTGGGC AATTTCGAAG AAAAATTAT TGTCCTTTT GTTCGTAAGG ATGCTAAAGA TGGCAGAAAC AGAAAAAGA GCCATCCCCA TCTACTTCCC CGACGGGCAG GCCTTCCCG GGCTCGCCAA CTCCGGCAAC GGCCTACG TGACATCGG CACCCAGG CTCCCCGGC GACGTCGCCAAC GCGCCCTCCT GCCTACAGAA CAATGTCCGT CCCTACTATC CGCCCGTGAA CATCAAGTAC ATCGCTGCCG GCAAGGAGGC GCCACGAGG GCATCGCGA GCATCGTCCT TGCCATGCGG 1681 AACCTCAACG CGCCCTCTC CGCCGCGGC CTCGGCGCCA TCAAGGTGTC CACCTCGATC CGCTGGCCAA CTCCTTCCCG CCCTCGCCG GCGTGTTCGC GCAGTCGTAC GACGTTCCAG 2041 ATTICC6AGA GCGGGTGGCC GTCGGCGGGG GGGTTTGCGG CATCGCCGGG ACGTACAACC AGGGGGTGAT CAACCACGTC GGCGGGGGCA CGCCCAAGAA GCGGGAGGCG 2161 CTGGAGACCT ACATCTTCGC CATCTTCAAC GAGAACCAGA AGACCGGGGA TCCGAGGGAG AGGAGCTTCG GGCTGTTCAA CCCGGACAAG TCGCCGATCCA GTTCTAAC TITAATCGT GCACTTAACA TITTGTACAA AACTAGGACA ATGATGGGCA CAACCGCAAA CCCATGGACA TGGCACCTCT CATCAACATG GCATGA GGAAGAATTG GATGGTGGGA GAGAATGAAT GGTTGACCA TUTUTUTU AAAGTGGGTT CATCATTCAU UTATGGGGUT TG<u>UTAIAATA ATC</u>AGGGAGG TCATTCATGT TGGCAGATAU AGAGAGGAGU TATGGTAGGA AGGATIGGAG TGTCATGCCT ATTGGARAA ATTAAATATT TTTGTCTTAA AAAATAGAAT AATGTAAAAT ATGTAGGTAA TATTTTTGGT TGGGCCGCCG AAAGGAAGGA AGAGTTATTT GCCACTCTTA TCCGCATGCA TGTAGGTGTA CAATCCATCG GCGTCGGTA CGGCGTGATC GCCACCACCG TCCGCGCGGCGTG GTGCAGGTTT ACAGGTCCAA GGGCATCAAC CCGGGGGACCA CCTGGGGTGA CCAGAACAAC GGGCTGACCT ACACTTGCCT CTTCGACGCC ATGGTGGACG CCGTGTAGC GGCGTGGAG AAGGCCGGGC GGCGGGGGGT GAAGGTGGTG GAAGCGCIAA AGGATGGTGC TTGGTTTAAG ATGAAGATAA CGCCTAGTTT CTCTATAGAG CATTTTAGGC AATTTCTCGG GCTTTGGGCC ATCATCGGG ATTTTCACCT ACAGAAGGAT TCAAACATAT TAATTAATAG TAAACCGGAT ATGACGGACG TGCCCGGCT CCTGGCGAGC ACCGGCGGCC CCCTGCTGCC CAACGTGTAC CCCCACCT CGTACCGCGA CAACCGCGCG GACATCAGCC TCAACTACGC 2281 GCTACCTACA TCTTCTTCAT CCTAAATAAA TAAGCTGCAC GTAATGGGGC ATCGAAGTGT AATATGTAGA TTCATGCAGG GAAGAGTGCA ACCATGCATG TTAAGAAATT TGAGTGGATA CAATTATTTT CAAAAGGGG TGCAAAGAAA TTCTTGTGA ATAATTGGTA TGACATTTAG TAATACAAAA ч

The coding region of each gene was used to deduce the virtual amino acid sequence of each glucanase (Figure 3-16). These were aligned with the deduced amino acids sequence of three other known glucanase amino acid sequences. These glucanases were originally published without the 'sc' prefix used throughout this thesis. This prefix has been added to the names of these glucanases throughout this thesis for clarity and consistency. These glucanases were identified as scGlu2 (GenBank accession number AM181306), scGlu3 (GenBank accession number AM181307) and scGlu5 (GenBank accession number AM181309).

The amino acid alignment revealed that the first exon, which codes for the signal peptide, is not as highly conserved as might be anticipated. Although there was no difference in the predicted sequences of the first exons of scGlu10, scGlu11, scGlu2, and scGlu3, amino acid subsitutions were found in scGlu5 (Phe19Leu, Val22Ala), scGlu6 (Asp5His, Ala18Thr), scGlu9 (Asp5His, Ala18Thr, Phe19Leu) and scGlu12 (Ala21Pro).

Additionally, there were differences in the sequences in the second exon, including 14 sites of substitution within this 320 amino acid stretch; these sequence changes are shown in Figure 3-16 as unshaded regions.

90

Figure 3-16: Alignment of the deduced amino acid sequence of scGlu6, 9, 10, 11 and 12 with comparison to deduced amino acids sequence of published glucanase sequences.

Based on sequence alignments and predicted intron spice site, the coding sequences for scGlu6, 9, 10, 11 and 12 were deduced and used to predict the amino acid sequence of the gene product. The deduced amino acid sequences previously characterized (GenBank accession numbers AM181305, AM181307 and AM181309) were included in this comparison. All sequences were aligned using Clustal X. Amino acid identities are indicated by grey boxes and possible stop codons are indicated with an asterisk. The sequence identity amongst the glucanases was 94% or higher.

10 20 30 40 50 60 70 70 3146 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	31u10 MARNDVASMF AVALF IGAF AAVPTSVOS IGVCYGVIGNNL PSRSDVVOL YRSKG INGMRIYF ADGOALSALR 31u11 MARNDVASMF AVALF IGAF AAVPTSVOS IGVCYGVIGNNL PSRSDVVOL YRSKG INGMRIYF ADGOALSALR 31u12 MARNDVASMF AVALF IGAL PAAPTSVOS IGVCYGVIGNNL PSRSDVVOL YRSKG INGMRIYF ADGOALSGLR 4-2 MARNDVASMF AVALF IGAL PAAPTSVOS IGVCYGVIGNNL PSRSDVVOL YRSKG INGMRIYF ADGOALSALR 4-3 MARNDVASMF AVALF IGAF AAVPTSVOS IGVCYGVIGNNL PSRSDVVOL YRSKG INGMRIYF ADGOALSALR 4-3 MARNDVASMF AVALF IGAL AAVPTSVOS IGVCYGVIGNNL PSRSDVVOL YRSKG INGMRIYF ADGOALSALR 4-5 MARNDVASMF AVALF IGAL AAVPTSVOS IGVCYGVIGNNL PSRSDVVOL YRSKG INGMRIYF ADGOALSALR 4-5 MARKDVASMF AVALF IGAL AAVPTSVOS IGVCYGVIGNNL PSRSDVVOL YRSKG INGMRIYF ADGOALSALR 4-5 MARKDVASMF AVALF IGAL AAVPTSVOS IGVCYGVIGNNL PSRSDVVOL YRSKG INGMRIYF ADGOALSALR 4-5 MARKDVASMF AVALF IGAL AAVPTSVOS IGVCYGVIGNNL PSRSDVVOL YRSKG INGMRIYF ADGOALSGLR 4-5 MARKDVASMF AVALF IGAL AAVPTSVOS IGVCYGVIGNNL PSRSDVVOL YRSKG INGMRIYF ADGOALSGLR 4-5 MARKDVASMF AVALF IGAL AAVPTSVOS IGVCYGVIGNNL PSRSDVVOL YRSKG INGMRIYF ADGOALSGLR 4-5 MARKDVASMF AVALF IGAL AAVPTSVOS IGVCYGVIGNNL PSRSDVVOL YRSKG INGMRIYF ADGOALSGLR 4-5 MARKDVASMF AVALF IGAL AAVPTSVOS IGVCYGVIGNNL PSRSDVVOL YRSKG INGMRIYF ADGOALSGLR 4-5 MARKDVASMF AVALF IGAL AAVPTSVOS IGVCYGVIGNNL PSRSDVVOL YRSKG INGMRIYF ADGOALSGLR 4-5 MARKDVASMF AVALF IGAL AAVPTSVOS IGVCYGVIGNNL PSRSDVVOL YRSKG INGMRIYF ADGOALSGLR 4-5 MARKDVASMF AVALF IGAL AAVPTSVOS IGVCYGVIGNNL PSRSDVVOL YRSKG INGMRIYF ADGOALSGLR 4-5 MARKDVASMF AVALF IGAL AAVPTSVOS IGVCYGVIGNNL PSRSDVVOL YRSKG INGMRIYF ADGOALSGLR 4-5 MARKDVASMF AVALF IGAL AAVPTSVOS IGVCYGVIGNNL PSRSDVVOL YRSKG INGMRIYF ADGOALSGLR 4-5 MARKDVASMF AVALF IGAL AAVPTSVOS IGVCYGVIGNNL PSRSDVVOL YRSKG INGMRIYF ADGOALSGLR 4-5 MARKDVASMF AVALF IGAL AAVPTSVOS IGVCYGVIGNNL PSRSDVVOL YRSKG INGNRIYF ADGOALSGLR 4-5 MARKDVASMF AVALF IGAL AAVPTSVOS IGVCYGVIGNNL PSRSDVVOL YR FRANT FRAN	 110 120 130 140 150 160 170 171 171	210 220 230 240 250 260 270 51u6 YRDNPRDISLNYATFOPGTTVRDONNGLTYTCLFDAMVDAVYAALEKAGAPGVKVVISESGWPSAGGFAASP 1	310 320 320 330 340 350 350 360 350 350 350 350 350 360 350 350 350 350 350 350 350 350 350 35
5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	800 800 900 900 900 900 900 900 900 900	80000000000000000000000000000000000000	8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	8 8 9 9 9 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

3.4.2 Promoter Analysis

The full-length upstream region of each glucanse was analyzed using the online database of cis-acting regulatory regions known as PLACE – a database of cis-acting regulatory DNA elements. By convention, this is the region upstream of the start site of transcription. Since the lengths of the UTR was not determined experimentally, they were each estimated by subtracting the length of the coding region from the recovered cDNA sequence. The predicted 5' UTRs varied in length. Positions upstream of the start site of transcription, which considered to occur at the start codon (ATG), are referred to as negative numbers counting back from +1 where +1 is the A in ATG (i.e. the nucleotide at position -200 would be 200 base pairs upstream of ATG).

A long list of putative cis-acting regulatory regions for each promoter region was recovered from the PLACE analysis of each sequence. These were reviewed and only those that matched the following criteria are discussed within this thesis. Each element had to be located a specific distance from the assumed start of transcription. Transcription factors bind to these motifs and interact with transcriptional machinery. If the element is too close or too far from the start of transcription, factors that interact with that element may not be able to perform their specified functions. Although many papers give an exact location for each cis-element, this number was not strictly conserved and elements were still accepted if they fell within 50bp of the suggested location. Based on previous studies, some elements must be present in multiple copies which must be spaced at specific intervals in order to interact with trans-acting factors. If such a criterion existed for an element, it was adopted.

In addition to physical qualities, putative cis-acting elements were also screened for function, for instance glucanases are known to be involved in cell wall maintenance, seed and

93

floral organ development, and in response to dehydration, pathogen infection, wounding, and cold. Light regulation may also be important as cold acclimation is enhanced if plants are exposed to short days and long nights. Cis-elements known to be related to any of these functions were possible candidates for glucanase expression. Functions that are not known to be related to glucanases, such as Finally, only cis-elements determiend to be involved in the designated expression pattern based on experimentation were included in this study; elements that were only suggested by bioinformatic research were not considered.

Table 3-1 lists all of the putative cis-elements found within the promoters of the 5 glucanase genes. Putative cis-elements can be classified into a number of distinct categories. These include biotic or abiotics stresses, light regulation, metabolism and development.

Five different putative elements relating to cold were found within the promoters. At least one of these elements was found within the promoters of scGlu9, 10, 11 and 12. There were no cold-related elements within scGlu6. Both scGlu9 and scGlu10 contained 7 cold-related elements within their promoters.

The promoter scGlu6 did not contain any cold-related elements but did contain elements known to be related to disease resistance, metabolism, light regulation and most noticeably, cis-elements involved with development. In addition to cold-related elements, scGlu9 and 10 both contained elements relating to biotic and abiotic stress such as pathogen defense these promoters had fewer elements related to development than the other glucanse genes studied. The largest upstream sequence was acquired for scGlu11 and thus it contained the largest number putative cis-elements spanning all of the categories. Despite the large number of putative elements, the 3 elements involved in gene regulation by ABA are absent from this promoter.

 Table 3-1: Name, function and position of cis-acting regulatory elements located on each

 of the 5 glucanase putative promoters.

The online data base of plant cis acting elements know as PLACE was used to search promoter sequences for putative cis-acting regulatory elements. Each putative cis-element was carefully screened, and only those that met all criteria necessary for promoter function were included in the final list. The name, function, distance from the start site of translation (start codon, ATG) and whether the cis-element was located on the + or - DNA strand is indicated. Most of the putative cis-elements can be classified into groups based on their involvement in biotic or abiotic stress, light regulation, metabolism and development. The elements specifically involved in regulation of cold-related genes are shaded in gray.
Name of element	Function	Distance from start codon and strand specificity of element within the promoter.					References
		scGlu6	scGlu9	scGlu10	scGlu11	scGlu12	
2S-SEED-PRO- Banapa	Regulates storage proteins		(-)110				Stalberg <i>et al.,</i> 1996
ABRE-related	Dehydration response.		(-)591		(+)174 (-)173		Simpson <i>et al.,</i> 2003; Nakashima <i>et al.,</i> 2006
ARF-AT	Auxin Responsiveness. Unregulated by ABA. Found in ABA insensitive genes.		(+)242 (+)517 (-)479 (-)489 (-)824				Menhauser <i>et al.,</i> 2004; Goda <i>et al.,</i> 2004; Hagen & Guilfoyle, 2004
ASF1-motif CamV	Involved in response to auxins or salicylic acid. May be relevant in light regulation. May be involved in biotic stress and disease resistance.		(+)511 (+)528 (+)542	(+)822 (-)199 (-)470	(+)403	(+)363	Despres <i>et al.,</i> 2003
		(+)1047 (+)1145		(+)364	(+)791 (-)731 (-)937 (-)1020		
BIHDIOS	Disease resistance. Seed specific. Acts as	(-)244		(-)511	(-)1064	(-)369	Song <i>et al.</i> , 2005
CANBNNAPA	a repressor and an activator.	(-)99 (-)164)	(+)120				Ellerstrom <i>et al.,</i> 1996
CAC GTG motif	Involved in regulation of pathogen defence, ABA and light regulated gene transcription.			(+/-)173			Chandrasekharan et al., 2003; Hudson & Quail, 2003; Chakravarthy et al., 2003
CBF hv	Cold response. Binding site of the CBF gene family.		(+)177 (+)480 (-)177 (-)240	(+)542 (+)859	(+)1177	(-)634	Xue, 2002; Svensson <i>et al.,</i> 2006
CIACADIAN- LELHC	Genes regulated by the circadian rhythm.		(+)297 (-)107	(+)320 (+)417 (-)179 (-)206		(-)367	Piechulla <i>et al.,</i> 1998
CPBCSPOR	Cytokinin-enhanced protein binding.	(+)398)	()				Fusda <i>et al.,</i> 2005
CRTDRE hv CBF2	CRT/DRE element. Binds to CBF2. Cold responsive element.		(+/-)177				Xue, 2003
DOFCOREZM	Carbon Metabolism.	(+)24 (+)59 (-)153 (-)203	(+)161 (+)347	(+)66 (+)278 (+)844 (-)703 (-)1028	(+)218 (+)561 (-)88	(+)249	Yangisawa & Schmidt, 1999; Yangisawa, 2000 Diaz-Martin <i>et</i>
DRE/CRT At	penyaration and cold response. Found in the promoter of CBF3 and binds ICE1.			(+)859		(-)634	<i>al.</i> , 2005; Suzuki <i>et al.</i> , 2005; Skinner <i>et al.</i> , 2005

Name of element	Function	Distance from start codon and strand specificity of element within the promoter.					References
		scGlu6	scGlu9	scGlu10	scGlu11	scGlu12	
DPBFCDC3	Embryo Specific. Induced by GA and IAA. Found in genes that do not respond to ABA.	(-)96	(-)362				Finkelstein & Lynch, 2000; Lopez-Molina & Chia, 2000
ELRE PCRP1	Elictor response element. Involved in pathogen- resistance.			(-)517		(+)614 (-)494	Chen & Chen, 2000; Rushton <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2002; Laloi <i>et al.</i> , 2004
GAREAT	GA responsive element.	(+)34					Ogawa <i>et al.,</i> 2003
_GATA box	Required for high level light regulated and tissue specific expression.	(+)32 (+)56 (+)685 (+)968 (-)158 (-)178 (-)178 (-)196 (-)374 (-)451 (-)970	(+)126 (+)271 (+)664 (-)117 (-)130	(+)215 (+)992 (-)910 (-)968 (-)994 (-)1023	(+)248 (+)275 (+)565 (+)658 (-)119 (-)703 (-)1015	(+)276 (+)358	Lam & Chua, 1989; Gilmartin <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 1990; Benfey & Chua, 1990; Reyes et al, 2004; Rubio- Somoza <i>et al.</i> , 2006
GCC core	Involved in pathogen- response. Response to ethylene. Response to MeJa.		(-)280	(+)767 (+)807 (+)896	(-)374 (-)691		Brown <i>et al.</i> , 2003; Chakravarthy <i>et al.</i> , 2003
GT-1 consensus	For light regulated genes. May stabilize the TATA box.	(+)56 (+)105 (+)222 (-)293 (-)391 (-)577	(+)157 (-)12 (-)151 (-)461	(-)908 (-)1021	(+)213 (+)478 (+)964 (-)482 (-)804 (-)1032 (-)489	(-)341	Terzaghi & Chashmore, 1995; Villain <i>et al.</i> , 1996; Le Gourrierec <i>et al.</i> , 1999; Buschel <i>et al.</i> , 1999
GT-1 Cam4	pathogen and salt induced. Similar to GT-1 box.	(+) 105	(+)157				Park <i>et al.,</i> 2004
I box	Light regulation.	(+)32 (+)56		(+)215		(+)276	Terzaghi & Cashmore, 1995
LTRE1 hvBLt49	Low-temperature- responsive-element. Involved in defense		(+)155	(+)860 (+) 1059 (-)1002	(+)310	(-)634	Dunn <i>et al.,</i> 1998 Chakravarthy
MYB1-LePr	response.		(+)385				<i>et al.</i> , 2003
MYB core	Element found in genes responsive to water stress.		(+)52 (+)752	(+)411 (-)437		(+) 560 (+)611 (-)11 (-)171 (-)407 (-)569	Lusher & Eiseman, 1990; Urao <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 1993; Solano <i>et al.</i> , 1995
MYBST-1	GA regulated expressoin	(+)31		(-)1023	(+)247 (+)274	(+)357	Baranowskij et al., 1994
MYCAT-RD22	ABA and drought responsive element.	(-)161		(+)247			Abe <i>et al.,</i> 1997; Busk & Pages, 1998

Name of element	Function	Distance					
		scGlu6	scGlu9	scGlu10	scGlu11	scGlu12	References
MYC consensus AT	Dehydration and cold response. Found in the promoter of CBF3 and binds ICE1.	(+/-)801	(+/-)729	(+/-)762	(+/-)751 (+/-)885 (+/-)1060	(+/-)11	Abe <i>et al.</i> , 2003; Lee <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2005; Hartman <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2005
POL A Sig1	Signal for polyadenylation must be -2 to -30 upstream of ATG.		(-)5 (-)9 (-)31		(+)17		Loke <i>et al.,</i> 2005
PRE ATP-PRO DH	Found in genes that respond to hypoosmolarity.	(+/-)811	(+)325 (-)274		(-)518 (-)535		Satoh <i>et al.</i> , 2004; Welmeier <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2006
TATCCA-Os AMY	Sugar and hormone regulation.	(-)30					Lu <i>et al.,</i> 1998; Lu <i>et al.,</i> 2002; Chen <i>et al.,</i> 2006
T-box GAPB	Light activated gene transcription	(+)152		(+)702		(-)423 (-)630	Chan <i>et al.,</i> 2001
WRKY71 Os	Pathogenesis-related. Represses GA pathways.	(+)244 (+)504 (-)765 (-)1048 (-)1146	(+)315 (+)394 (+)511 (+)528 (+)542 (-)203	(+)511 (+)565 (+)822 (-)200 (-)365 (-)471 (-)518	(+)410 (+)451 (+)731 (+)937 (+)1020 (+)1064 (-)37 (-)506 (-)792 (-)1136	(+)64 (+)363 (+)369 (+)615 (-)495	Eulgem <i>et al.,</i> 1999; Eulgem <i>et al.,</i> 2000; Zhang <i>et al.,</i> 2004; Xie <i>et al.,</i> 2005

3.5 RT-PCR Analysis

To test the validity of the cis-elements in directing gene expression, the transcript abundance of each gene was evaluated under several conditions. Semi-quantitive RT-PCR was used to monitor the level of glucanase mRNA produced by each gene after cold treatment, pathogen infection, wounding and treatment with the hormones MeJa and ethephon. A freshly pollinated winter rye flower was also tested for the presence of glucanase transcripts. cDNA was synthesized from total RNA extracted from a freshly pollinated winter rye flowers or leaves before treatment, and at specific time points after each treatment. Each cDNA pool was used in RT-PCR reactions using primers specific to scGlu6, 9, 10, 11 and 12 as well as primers against 18S rRNA as an internal control (Figures 3-17, 3-18, 3-19, 3-20, 3-21).

Based on these analyses scGlu9 was expressed three weeks after the onset of cold treatment, 8 days after infection with pink snow mould, in small concentrations after wounding, and after 2 days of ethephon. scGlu10 was also expressed after cold treatment, but expression was stronger than that of scGlu9 and observed after only 1 week of cold treatment. Transcripts of scGlu10 were still present after 3 weeks of cold treatment, but are present at a low concentration. scGlu10 was also weakly expressed after pathogen infection and dehydration. The last glucanase expressed under cold conditions was scGlu11, which were evident after 1-week cold treatment. These levels were still evident after 3 weeks of cold treatments with MeJa and ethephon. Transcripts of scGlu11 are evident 2 days after MeJa treatment and only 12 hours after treatment with ethephon. The transcript of the final glucanase, scGlu12 is only seen 1 hour after treatment with MeJa. None of the cDNA pools tested positive for scGlu6 although the primers specific to scGlu6 were able to amplify this gene's sequence from genomic DNA.

Figure 3-17: Results of the semi-quantitative RT-PCR reactions performed to test expression of the five glucanases after cold exposure.

Each of the five glucanases were tested for expression in leaves after cold treatment. cDNA made from total RNA extracted from cold-treated and control plants before onset of treatment, after 1 day of treatment, 7 days of treatment and 3 weeks of treatment. These cDNAs were used as templates semi-quanitative RT-PCR reactions using primers specific to scGlu6, 9, 10, 11 and 12 as well as primers against 18S rRNA which was included as an internal control. Results show that scGlu9, 10 and 11 transcripts are expressed under cold conditions. scGlu9 mRNAs are present after 3 weeks, while expression of scGlu10 and scGlu11 can be detected after 7 days cold treatment.



Figure 3-18: Results of the semi-quanitative RT-PCR reactions performed to test expression of the five glucanases after pathogen infection.

Each of the five glucanases were tested for expression in leaves after infection by the pink snow mold *M. nivale*. cDNAs made from total RNA extracted from plants prior to infection and after eight days of infection were prepared. These cDNAs were used as templates in RT-PCR reactions using primers specific to scGlu6, 9, 10, 11 and 12. Primers against 18S rRNA was included as an internal control. Results show that scGlu9 and scGlu10 transcripts are present expressed after pathogen infection.



Figure 3-19: Results of the semi-quanitative RT-PCR reactions performed to test expression of the five glucanases in the pollinated flower and after wounding.

The transcript abundance of each of the five glucanases (scGlu6, scGlu9, scGlu10, scGlu11 and scGlu12) in pollinated flowers and wounded winter leaves was determined using semiquantitative RT-PCR. cDNAs made from total RNAs extracted from pollinated floral organs and the leaves of plants before and 24 hours after wounding. These cDNAs were used in RT-PCR reactions using primers specific to scGlu6, 9, 10, 11 and 12. The level of 18S rRNA was tested an internal control. Transcripts of both scGlu9 and scGlu11 are expressed after wounding. scGlu11 is also weakly expressed in freshly fertilized flower organs.



Figure 3-20: Results of the semi-quanitative RT-PCR reactions performed to test expression of the five glucanases after dehydration and rehydration.

RT-PCRs were performed in order to determine which of the five glucanases is expressed before, during and after dehydration. Using total that RNA was extracted from winter rye. The primers used in these reactions were specific to scGlu6, 9, 10, 11 and 12 and 18S rRNA. Results showed that scGlu10 mRNAs are present during and after dehydration.



Figure 3-21: Results of the semi-quanitative RT-PCR reactions performed to test transcript abundance of the five glucanase genes after treatment with 15mM MeJa and 10mM ethephon.

RT-PCRs were performed in order to determine which of the five glucanases is expressed after treatment with the phytohormone methyl jasmonate and the ethylene releasing chemical ethephon. Total RNA was extracted from winter rye leaves before, during and after dehydration and made into cDNA. This cDNA was used in RT-PCR using primers specific to scGlu6, 9, 10, 11 and 12 as well as primers against 18S rRNA. scGlu11 and scGlu12 were responsive to treatment with MeJa and scGlu9 and 11 to treatment with ethephon.



4 Discussion

4.1 Treatments leading to the expression of antifreeze activity

Previous studies by Marilyn Griffith and co-workers determined that apoplastic extracts produced by winter rye plants after treatment with cold, drought or ethephon contain AFPs while extracts from plants treated with ABA, salicylic acid or pathogen infection do not (Hiilovaara-Teijo *et al.*, 1999; Yu *et al.*, 2001; Yu & Griffith, 2001). Other signaling molecules, such as MeJa and hydrogen peroxide are known to increase the levels of PR proteins and enhance cold tolerance. Preliminary immunological studies indicate that the apoplast of MeJa-treated winter rye contained at least one β -1,3-endoglucanase, chitinase and thaumatin-like protein (Merz, 2005). In addition, the apoplastic extract of these plants displayed weak antifreeze activity. Unfortunately, a thorough comparison between the level of antifreeze activity between plants treated with other signaling molecules and hormones was not conducted. Moreover, the effect of hydrogen peroxide on the apoplastic proteins in winter rye has never been tested.

Cold and ethephon treatments cause winter rye to excrete AFPs in to the apoplast (Hon *et al.*, 1994; Yeh *et al.*, 2000). This was again evident in these results as apoplastic extracts induced the formation of ice crystals with hexagonal shapes in the antifreeze assay (Figure 3-1). Although previous reports indicated that CA winter apoplast causes the formation of ice crystals with bipyramidal shapes, the concentration of apoplastic extracts used in the research reported in this thesis is too low to expect ice crystals to form these structures. Doubling the concentration to $2\text{mg} \cdot \text{ml}^{-1}$ lead to bipyramidal structures (results not shown) but this is approximately 4 times higher than native concentrations (Yu & Griffith, 1999).

The physical appearance of ethephon treated plants was compared to control plants and to plants treated with MeJa or hydrogen peroxide. Ethephon-treated plants appeared to have decreased anthocyanin within their leaves. Anthocyanins are water-soluble red-blue plant pigments that are produced in leaves in response to intense light, and in some fruit, during ripening (Taiz & Zeiger, 2006). In leaves, this pigment protects plants from photo-damage and photoinhibition by absorbing UV and blue-green light. The decreased level of anthocyanin production in ethephon-treated leaves suggests that the plants were sprayed with the hormone after the lag phase of anthocyanin production. Treatment with ethylene and ethylene-producing compounds at this time is known to decrease the levels of anthocyanin within plants. If the plants had been sprayed with ethephon during the early lag phase of anthocyanin synthesis the plants would have had a higher pigment content (Craker *et al.*, 1971).

Application of MeJa to plants causes dramatic physiological changes in plants not seen in any of the other treatments. The normally green leaves of winter rye developed a marked purple-red colour after only two days of MeJa treatment. In addition, their leaf tips began to curl and senesce. These dramatic phenotypic changes were not expected (Cheong & Choi, 2003). MeJa is involved in the upregulation of plant pigments including anthocyanins and carotinoids, and is a known inducer of senescence. However, the degree of damage to the tips of the treated winter rye leaves indicates that the concentration of MeJa required to produce the minimal amount of antifreeze activity observed in these samples is approaching toxic concentrations. For this reason it is unlikely that MeJa is the main signaling molecule involved in accumulation of antifreeze activity. MeJa signaling likely plays a larger role in the upregulation of PR-proteins for pathogen defense. Another possibility is that winter rye uses another jasmonate, such as jasmonic acid to induce antifreeze activity. Although MeJa and jasmonic acid play similar roles in plants, each has distinct contributions to fine tune gene regulation. Thus, the high concentration of MeJa used in this research may have been sufficent to induce a pathway that this molecule does not normally affect. In addition, because a high dose of MeJa was sprayed on the plants, it is possible that cellular processes demethylated a small amount of the MeJa causing a normal response to jasmonic acid resulting in the upregulation of PR-like antifreeze proteins within the apoplast. Further studies must be conducted with regards to the induction of apoplastic antifreeze proteins by MeJa and other jasmonates in order to clarify their roles.

Treatment with 200mM hydrogen peroxide causes winter rye to excrete AFPs into its apoplast. Hydrogen peroxide is known to be produced by some plants in response to cold temperatures (Okuda *et al.*, 1991; Hung *et al.*, 2005) and improves survival of tomatoes after chilling injury (Chih-Wen *et al.*, 2006). However, this is the first report of hydrogen peroxide inducing antifreeze activity in plants. Increased growth rate and decreased anthocyanin levels were also associated with hydrogen peroxide treatment. These unexpected side effects should be studied in detail, as they have not been reported previously. It is possible that these effects were seen in winter rye because of the young age of the tissue. It is also possible that these effects are monocot or even cereal specific as most of the work on hydrogen peroxide signaling has been performed on older plants and on dicots such as tomato and tobacco. It is also possible that hydrogen peroxide acts indirectly to produce antifreeze activity as there are a number of proteins specifically involved in hydrogen peroxide perception (Hancock *et al.*, 2006). These proteins have additional roles, such as ethylene perception, or involvement in metabolic pathways such as glycolysis (Hancock *et al.*, 2006). Hydrogen peroxide is

potentially involved in a large signaling cascade involving other plant hormones, such as ethylene that may lead to the accumulation of AFPs in the winter rye apoplast. Additional research will be necessary to determine the role of hydrogen peroxide on winter rye cold acclimation and growth. Understanding all of the signaling molecules needed to produce antifreeze activity in winter rye is a major step toward understanding complex expression pathways involved in cold acclimation.

4.2 Survey of β -1,3-endoglucanses of winter rye

Previous studies have relied on 1D SDS-PAGE to profile proteins within the winter rye apoplast. Although it appears that analysis of proteins within the NA apoplast were accurate, the analysis of cold-acclimated apoplastic proteins was incomplete.

It is unknown how many glucanases in total are present within the leaf of CA and NA winter rye. Two-dimensional SDS-PAGE on these extracts was performed to address this question. The stained gels were nearly identical, although there were a few proteins that were noticeably absent within the CA extract when compared to the protein profile of NA extract (see circled peptides in Figure 3-6). Immunoblots of these gels with anti-glucanase antibodies reveal the presence of NA β -1,3-endoglucanases and 3 CA β -1,3-endoglucanases (Figure 3-8). Each blot appeared to have a few points of weak signal which may be an additional β -1,3-endoglucanases. Immunoblots using IEF strips with a narrower pH range would help elucidate the validity of these spots.

One-dimensional SDS-PAGE analysis of apoplastic proteins lead researchers to the conclusion that these extracts contained 13 apoplastic proteins, seven of which are AFPs, 2 are β -1,3-endoglucanses. These results were successfully replicated (Figure 3-2) and the presence of two β -1,3-endoglucanases within these protein samples (Figure 3-3) was

confirmed by immunoblot analysis. The conclusions drawn from 1D-SDS PAGE analysis remain identical to previous conclusions.

Two-dimensional SDS-PAGE analysis of CA apoplastic extracts were in contrast 1D results. The data suggest that there there are at least 25 apoplastic polypeptides in these extracts (Figure 3-7). Immunoblot analysis (Figure 3-9) of the same samples indicated the presence of at least 1 basic and 4 acidic β -1,3-endoglucanases. The immunoblot showed 1 area of weak signal that may be a less abundant glucanase. Further analysis of these spots is essential before definitive conclusions are reached.

The identities of the original cold-induced apoplastic proteins were originally determined through sequencing of the isolated polypeptide (Hon *et al.*, 1995). Normally this method reveals if a protein band contains more than one polypeptide as was the case for a 35kDa band which contained a glucanase and a 36kDa chitinase. However, if a gel band contained proteins that were completely identical at their N-terminal there would be no conflicting signal, and nothing to indicate to the researchers additional proteins were present within that sample. In the absence of this information, scientists could be lead to false conclusions about the number of proteins within a sample, and is undoubtedly, what has happened in this situation. Immunoblot analysis shows that there are at least three glucanases within the apoplast of cold-acclimated winter rye, each with a slightly different pI value. This unique pI value is what allows these proteins of similar sizes to separate into distinct dots on a 2D SDS-PAGE. In fact, there may be additional glucanases with the same pI value within each dot on this 2D-PAGE.

This representation of the protein content within the CA apoplast may also be true for the chitinases, thaumatin-like proteins and lipid transfer proteins known to be present within

114

the CA apoplast. The results presented in this thesis show that the process of apoplastic protein accumulation during cold acclimation is more complex than previously thought. Complete understanding of the changes that occur in this extracellular compartment must be realized in order to fully understand its functional capacity. This could be accomplished by re-focusing extracts using IEF strips with a narrower pH range, and by immunoblot analysis using antibodies raised against all major apoplastic proteins: β -1,3-endoglucanses, chitinases, thaumatin-like proteins and lipid transfer proteins.

4.3 Promoter analysis and expression patterns of 5 β -1,3endoglucananses of winter rye

It is impossible to determine the function of a glucanase based on its predicted protein sequence, as the similarities between winter rye glucanases are far too great. Due to the fact that the non-coding regions of cereal genomes, especially their promoter regions are evolving at a far greater pace then the coding regions (Guo and Moose, 2003) one of the aims of this research was to link cis-elements found within the promoter region of each gene to gene expression and possibly function.

Promoters are critical non-coding regions located directly upstream of the transcriptional start site. These regions work collectively with regulatory machinery or with other regulatory regions, such as motifs found in the intron, to direct RNA polymerase transcription initiation of the downstream region. The critical motifs within the promoter are referred to as cis-acting elements, they are generally quite short (4-6 nt) and are often conserved between genes that are regulated by similar transcriptional triggers. For instance, genes which are upregulated by MeJa would be expected to contain motifs known to interact with transcriptional factors within the MeJa transcriptional pathway. These genes may have

nothing in common with each other, for instance one gene may code for a membrane-bound channel protein and the other may code for a pathogenesis-related protein, but both are upregulated through a transcriptional pathway involving MeJa and so both could contain identical MeJa cis-elements within their promoters.

Many plant cis-elements have been reported, and the number of known cis-elements grows everyday. The online plant cis-element database PLACE, allows researchers to search a putative promoter for known cis-elements. The resulting data provide a valuable starting point for promoter analysis but must be processed thoroughly to gain meaningful results; the sequences of cis-elements are short and thus may occur by chance. False conclusions can be made if database results are taken at face value. Promoters are mostly composed of non-functional sequence, that is each motif can be separated by hundreds of nucleotides that have nothing to do with the regulation of the gene. Because the length of each motif is so short there is a degree of probability that the regions in between active motifs could match the sequence of a known cis-element. Although there is a sequence match, this site may have nothing to do with the regulation of the gene; the sequence may have arisen in this area by chance.

To avoid mis-leading false positivies researchers must carefully filter the results to narrow down the number of putative cis-elements within a promoter region. This is done by analyzing each match to ensure that the specific conditions for the element to work as a regulatory region are in place. Many elements must be within a certain distance of the transcription start site in order to be active. Spacing is critical as elements often act by forming regulatory loops of certain sizes to enhance or silence transcription or interact with components of protein complexes. Some cis-elements are required to be present in multiple copies, and each copy may or may not require specific spacing between repeats in order to interact with transcriptional machinery or other regulatory regions. Some cis-elements must work in concert with another distinct motif, or a repeat of several other motifs in order to form specific structures within the promoter.

The results presented in this thesis were evaluated to ensure that all cis-elements presented met all known functional criteria. The results were also screened to remove matches that were improbable based on their description in the literature. Although the presented ciselements were rigourously screened, their inclusion in this analysis does not constitute proof that the elements are functional. There is still a high probability that at least some of the elements exist by chance. Promoter deletion analysis would be helpful in testing these, but this is next to impossible given that winter rye is not transformable.

In its place, semi-quantitative RT-PCR was used to test whether glucanase expression could be predicted by the placement of cis-elements within the promoter. RNA was extracted at specific time points from plants treated with cold, pathogens, wounding, dehydration, MeJa or ethephon. RT-PCR analysis of each sample was performed using primers specific to each of the five glucanases genes.

The promoter of scGlu6 contained motifs involved in disease resistance, seed development, carbon metabolism, light and growth regulator response. There were no cold-related elements within this promoter. Based on the trends and number of cis-elements within this promoter scGlu6 may be involved in seed production, germination, and carbon metabolism within the seed.

No scGlu6 transcripts were detected in any of the samples tested. The primers used in these reactions were known to be gene specific as they were also used for amplification of genomic analyses. The lack of scGlu6 amplification from these cDNA pools suggests two

117

possibilities – it is either a pseudogene or it is expressed under conditions not tested in these experiments. Although pollinated floral organs were used as an RT-PCR sample to evaluate floral/pollen tube expression, the flower may have been in the wrong stage of seed production for glucanase expression. scGlu6 may be involved in germination, and cDNA pools from young seedlings were not created for this study. In addition, there are a number of other treatments and stresses and different sampling time points that may have resulted in transcript production from this glucanase gene. Another possibility is that scGlu6 is a pseudogene, the regulatory regions of the gene may have mutated to the point where they no longer control transcription initiation. The coding region may encode for a glucanes, but the cellular machinery will not let the gene be realized as a protein. Although it is possible that scGlu6 is a pseudogene, this is the less likely scenario as the published scGlu6 sequence was obtained from a cold-treated cDNA library. A sequence cannot be obtained from a cDNA library unless the transcript was present within the at the time of RNA extraction.

The putative promoters of scGlu9 and scGlu10 contained a diverse array of elements involved in carbon storage, biotic and abiotic stresses, light regulation and development as well as regulation by hormones such as ethylene and MeJa. These promoters contained the greatest number of individual elements related to cold-induced regulation. RT-PCR analysis showed that transcripts of scGlu9 were present after treatment with ethephon and low temperature, and were low after wounding and pathogen infection. Wounding and pathogen infection also regulate scGlu9 mRNA transcript levels, but to a lesser extent. A similar story was found for scGlu10. Promoter analysis shows that scGlu10 contains at least 4 cold-related cis-acting elements along with elements involved in other biotic and abiotic stresses, light regulation, carbon metabolism, and regulation by hormones such as MeJa. This gene is likely transcribed after treatment with cold, dehydration and infection with a pathogen.

Both cold and dehydration conditions induce antifreeze activity (Yu & Griffith, 2001) where as no antifreeze activity is seen in the apoplast of pathogen infected winter rye (Hiilovaara-Teijo *et al.*, 1999). Although both scGlu9 and scGlu10 are expressed under cold and dehydration conditions, neither may be responsible for the acquired antifreeze activity in the apoplast of CA winter rye. Instead, they may be involved in protection against pathogens such as the snow mould *M.nivale* which thrives at cold temperatures. If these proteins act as AFPs, their presence alone may not be enough to contribute antifreeze activity to the plant. Complexes of AFPs involving glucanases, chitinases and thaumatin-like proteins (Yu & Griffith, 1999) or changes to salt concentrations (Stressmann *et al.*, 2003) that are present after cold acclimation may be a requirement for antifreeze activity *in vivo*.

The promoter of scGlu11 contained similar cis-elements to the promoters of the glucanases already discussed. However, the expression pattern of scGlu11 differed from scGlu9 and scGlu10. Only low levels of scGlu11 transcripts were detected in cold-treated plants. This is in contrast to the abundant scGlu11 transcript level present after wounding. Treatment with MeJa and ethephon also resulted in the accumulation of scGlu11 mRNA. The transcript levels after wounding strongly suggest that scGlu11 has a large role in healing damaged plant tissues. Both MeJa and ethylene are involved in wound responses (Ryan & Pearce, 2001) which would agree with scGlu11 RT-PCR transcript abundance estimates. It would be interesting to know if the apoplast of wounded plants possesses antifreeze activity. If it does, then the correlation between the cold response and wound response of scGlu11 would be easy to explain. If the apoplast of wounded plants does not possess antifreeze activity this

may be due to a lack of expression of other proteins, compounds or salts that are essential for antifreeze activity. Another reasonable explanation for the presence of scGlu11 in both cold and wounded tissues is that the process of chilling a plant slightly damages the plant tissues. This damage is far from life threatening, but may be enough to induce proteins that are strongly responsive to wounding.

The promoter of the last gene studied, scGlu12, does not contain many known ciselements, but those present are involved in biotic and abiotic stresses, light regulation, and carbon metabolism; all are similar to the cis-elements of the other genes. Remarkably, this promoter does not contain any elements specifically related to regulation by MeJa, which is the only treatment that resulted in detectable scGlu12 transcript levels. It is possible that other treatments affects scGlu12 mRNA levels, but this change is triggered at a time outside those tested in this study. Alternatively, treatment with a different pathogen, or changing light levels may lead to mRNA. At the very least, the fact that transcription of scGlu12 was induced by MeJa proves that this is not a pseudogene, as a transcript can be produced and there is nothing within the deduced amino acid sequence to suggest that a functioning protein would not be possible if the transcript were translated.

In summary, these promoters provide an interesting set of cis-elements that suggest glucanases are expressed in response to a variety of signals consistent with their known function.

4.4 Evolution of antifreeze proteins

The ultimate goal of this thesis was to identify cold-responsive glucanse genes and compare their promoter sequences with glucanases not expressed in the cold. The presence of known cis-elements consistent with glucanase expression patterns supports the conclusion that regulation of transcription initiation is involved in determining the abundance of mRNA transcripts. To appreciate the presented results and those of others studying this topic, it is necessary to have a consistent definition of an antifreeze protein. Plant antifreeze proteins are polypeptides that act *in vivo* to adsorb onto the surface of ice crystals and modify their growth (as reviewed by Griffith & Yaish, 2005). The key to this definition is the phrase '*in vivo*'. Studying a protein that only exhibits antifreeze activity *in vitro* under laboratory conditions and therefore provides no protection to a plant will not advance research in the cold-tolerance field. Yet, for over twenty year researchers have been using a nanoliter osmometer to test for antifreeze activity *in vitro*. It has been assumed that if a plant extracted ice modify in protein can structure ice *in vitro* it must also have this function *in vivo*. This assumption is flawed, but until a procedure to assay for ice-binding *in vivo* is developed, the assumption will stand.

The assumption that proteins that bind to ice *in vitro* must also bind ice *in vivo* is likely true for bacteria, invertebrates and vertebrates that specifically produce antifreeze proteins with the sole purpose of ice-modification. It would be evolutionary unfavorable for these organisms to produce a polypeptide without purpose. The antifreeze proteins in plants are very different from those produced by these non-photosynthetic organisms. With the exception of two species known to produce antifreeze proteins with no homology to any other known protein (Fei *et al.*, 2001; Wang & Wei, 2003, Pudney *et al.*, 2003), over-wintering plants excrete antifreeze proteins with dual activity into their apoplast (reviewed by Griffith & Yaish, 2005). At the same time, these plants will produce nearly identical proteins with similar functions elsewhere in the cell that apparently do not possess antifreeze activity. Or do they? Although there have been studies to show that plants infected with pathogens and those treated with hormones such as ABA and salicylic acid excrete pathogenesis-related proteins without

antifreeze activity into their apoplast, there have been no studies to determine if the PRproteins located within the cell have antifreeze activity. This raises a number of questions. First, did plant antifreeze proteins evolve from pathogenesis-related proteins or did some pathogenesis-related proteins simply loose their ability to bind ice? Take the family of β -1,3endoglucanses, for example, not all glucanases are excreted into the apoplast; some work inside the cell for maintenance and repair. Do only these excreted proteins have antifreeze activity?

A recent paper published by Yaish and his colleagues in 2006 provides evidence that glucanases extracted from non-acclimated tissue have a small degree of antifreeze activity if they are at concentrations of 2.5 mg·mL⁻¹or higher. This result is contrary to all previous publications on winter rye AFPs. The difference between this study and those done earlier lies in the concentration at which the antifreeze proteins are kept during the antifreeze assay. Other studies routinely tested antifreeze activity at 1 mg · mL⁻¹ or at native concentrations which are approximately 0.5 mg·mL⁻¹ (Yu & Griffith, 1999. At these concentrations, NA glucanase does not have antifreeze activity (Yaish *et al.*, 2006). It is clear that although NA glucanases do not have the ability to modify ice *in vivo*, these proteins can modify ice *in vitro* if placed at concentrations higher then that found in nature. From this, we can conclude that all glucanases possess some degree of ice-modifying capability which varies between the proteins. This suggests that the glucanases have not gained the ability to modify ice, but some glucanases have gained mutations that enhance this ice modifying ability. It would be interesting to test this hypothesis on purified glucanase from a tropical plant, such as banana.

Glucanases with antifreeze activity are key proteins in winter rye cold-defense, yet winter rye antifreeze activity cannot be attributed to the presence of ice-binding glucanases alone. Maximum antifreeze activity is only achieved if glucanases are expressed along side of other AFPs and cellular molecules. The evolution of glucanases with antifreeze activity is closely linked to the evolutionary changes that lead to their co-expression with other critical cellular components. The amount of information needed to fully understand the process of cold-acclimation is truly phenomenal. Still, the research presented this thesis provides a clearer understanding of antifreeze activity in winter rye, and the knowledge and suggestions presented offer numerous opportunities for future research on this complex subject.

5 References

- Abe H., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K., Urao T., Iwasaki T., Hosokawa D., Shinozaki K. (1997) Role of Arabidopsis MYC and MYB homologs in drought- and abscisic acidregulated gene expression. Plant Cell 9:1859-1868.
- Abe H., Urao T., Ito T., Seki M., Shinozaki K., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K. (2003) Arabidopsis AtMYC2 (bHLH) and AtMYB2 (MYB) function as transcriptional activators in abscisic acid signaling. Plant Cell 15: 63-78.
- Altschul S.F., Madden T.L., Schäffer A.A., Zhang J., Zhang Z., Miller W., and Lipman D.J. (1997) Gapped BLAST and PSI-BLAST: a new generation of protein database search programs. Nucleic Acids Research 25:3389-3402.

Andrews C.J. (1996) How do plants survive ice? Annals of Botany 78: 529-536.

- Antikainen, M., Griffith, M., Zhang, J., Hon, W.C., Yang, D.S.C., Pihakaski-Maunsbach, K. (1996) Immunolocalization of antifreeze proteins in winter rye leaves, crowns, and roots by tissue printing. Plant Physiology 110: 845-857.
- Antikainen M., Griffith M. (1997) Antifreeze protein accumulation in freezing-tolerant cereals. Physiologia Plantarum 99: 423-432.
- Baranowskij N., Frohberg C., Prat S., Willmitzer L. (1994) A novel DNA binding protein with homology to Myb oncoproteins containing only one repeat can function as a transcriptional activator. European Molecular Biology Organization Journal 13:5383-5392.
- Beffa R., Meins F. (1996) Pathogenesis-related functions of plant β -1,3-glucanases investigated by antisense transformation a review. Gene 179:97-103.
- Benfey P.N., Chua N.H. (1990) The cauliflower mosaic virus 35S promoter: combinatorial regulation of transcription in plants. Science 250:959-966.
- Brown R.L., Kazan K., McGrath K.C., Maclean D.J., Manners J.M. (2003) A role for the GCC-box in jasmonate-mediated activation of the PDF1.2 gene of Arabidopsis. Plant Physiology 132:1020-1032.
- Burke M.J., Gusta L.V., Quamme H.A., Weiser C.J., Li P.H. (1976) Freezing injury in plants. Annual Review of Plant Physiology 27:507-528.

- Buchel AS, Brederode FT, Bol JF, Linthorst HJM. (1999) Mutation of GT-1 binding sites in the Pr-1A promoter influences the level of inducible gene expression in vivo. Plant Molecular Biology 40:387-396.
- Bull A.T, Chesters C.G. (1963) The enzymic degradation of laminarin. 1. The distribution of laminarinase among micro-organisms. Biochemical Journal 86:28–31.
- Bull A.T. Chesters C.G. (1966) The biochemistry of laminarin and the nature of laminarinase. Advanced Enzymology and Related Areas of Molecular Biology 28:325–364.
- Busk P.K., Pages M. (1998) Regulation of abscisic acid-induced transcription. Plant Molecular Biology 37:425-435.
- Chan C.S., Guo L., Shih M.C. (2001) Promoter analysis of the nuclear gene encoding the chloroplast glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase B subunit of Arabidopsisthaliana. Plant Molecular Biology 46: 131-141.
- Chakravarthy S., Tuori R.P., DAscenzo M.D., Fobert P.R., Despres C., Martin G.B. (2003) The tomato transcription factor Pti4 regulates defence-related gene expression via GCC box and non-GCC box cis elements. Plant Cell 15: 3033-3050.
- Chandrasekharan M.B., Bishop K.J., Hall T.C. (2003) Module-specific regulation of the betaphaseolin promoter during embryogenesis. Plant Journal. 33: 853-866.
- Chen C., Chen Z.(2000) Isolation and characterization of two pathogen- and salicylic acidinduced genes encoding WRKY DNA-binding proteins from tobacco. Plant Molecular Biology 42: 387-396.

- Chen P.W., Chiang C.M., Tseng T.H., Yu S.M. (2006) Interaction between Rice MYBGA and the Gibberellin Response Element Controls Tissue-Specific Sugar Sensitivity of alpha-Amylase Genes. Plant Cell 18: 2326-2340.
- Cheong J.J., Choi Y.D. (2003) Methyl jasmonate as a vital substance in plants. Trends in Genetics 19: 409–413
- Chinnusamy V., Ohta M., Kanrar S., Lee B.L., Hong X., Agarwal M., Zhu J.K. (2003) ICE1: a regulator of cold-induced transcritome and freezing tolerance in *Arabidopsis*. Genes and Development 17:1043-1054.
- Chinnusamy V., Schumaker K., Zhu J.K. (2004) Molecular genetic perspectives on cross-talk and specificity in abiotic stress signalling in plants. Journal of Experimental Botany. 55: 225-236.
- Chinnusamy V., Zhu J., Zhu J.K. (2006) Salt stress signaling and mechanisms of plant salt tolerance. Genetic Engineering 6:141-177.
- Davies P.L., Sykes B.D. (1997) Antifreeze proteins. Current Opinion in Structural Biology 7 :828-834.
- Despres C., Chubak C., Rochon A., Clark R., Bethune T., Desveaux D., Fobert P.R. (2003) The Arabidopsis NPR1 disease resistance protein is a novel cofactor that confers redox regulation of DNA binding activity to the basic domain/leucine zipper transcription factor TGA1. Plant Cell 15: 2181-2191.

- DeVries A. (1986) Antifreeze glycopeptides and peptides: Interactions with ice and water. Methods in Enzymology 127, 293-303.
- Diaz-Martin J., Almoguera C., Prieto-Dapena P., Espinosa J.M., Jordano J. (2005) Functional Interaction between Two Transcription Factors Involved in the Developmental Regulation of a Small Heat Stress Protein Gene Promoter. Plant Physiology 139: 1483-1494.
- Dubouzet J.G., Sakuma Y., Ito Y., Kasuga M., Dubouzet E.G., Miura S., Seki M., Shinozaki K., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K. (2003) OsDREB genes in rice, Oryza sativa L., encode transcription activators that function in drought-, high-salt- and cold-responsive gene expression. Plant Journal 33: 751-763.
- Doxey A.C., Yaish, M.W., Griffith, M. McConkey, B.J. (2006) Ordered surface carbons distinguish antifreeze proteins and their ice-binding regions. Nature Biotechnology. 24:852-855.
- Dunn M.A., White A.J., Vural S., Hughes M.A. (1998) Identification of promoter elements in a low-temperature-responsive gene (blt4.9) from barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.). Plant Molecular Biology 38:551-564.
- Ellerstrom M., Stalberg K., Ezcurra I., Rask L. (1996) Functional dissection of a napin gene promoter: identification of promoter elements required for embryo and endospermspecific transcription. Plant Molecular Biology 32:1019-1027

- Eulgem T., Rushton P.J., Schmelzer E., Hahlbrock K., Somssich I.E. (1999) Early nuclear events in plant defence signalling: rapid gene activation by WRKY transcription factors. European Molecular Biology Organization Journal 18:4689-4699 (1999).
- Eulgem T., Rushton P.J., Robatzek S., Somssich I.E. (2000) The WRKY superfamily of plant transcription factors. Trends in Plant Science 5: 199-206.
- Finkelstein RR, Lynch TJ. (2000) The Arabidopsis abscisic acid response gene ABI5 encodes a basic leucine zipper transcription factor. Plant Cell 12: 599-609.
- Fusada N., Masuda T., Kuroda H., Shimada H., Ohta H., Takamiya K. (2005) Identification of a Novel Cis-Element Exhibiting Cytokinin-Dependent Protein Binding in Vitro in the 5'-region of NADPH-Protochlorophyllide Oxidoreductase Gene in Cucumber. Plant Molecular Biology 59: 631-645
- Gidoni D., Brosio P., Bond-Nutter D., Bedbrook J., Dunsmuir P. (1989) Novel cis-acting elements in Petunia Cab gene promoters Molecular and Genetics 215: 337-344
- Gilmartin P.M., Sarokin L., Memelink J., Chua N.H. (1990) Molecular light switches for plant genes. Plant Cell 2:369-378
- Goda H., Sawa S., Asami T., Fujioka S., Shimada Y., Yoshida S. (2004) Comprehensive comparison of auxin-regulated and brassinosteroid-regulated genes in Arabidopsis.
 Plant Physiology 134: 1555-1573.
- Griffith, M., Ala, P., Yang, D.S.C., Hon, W.C. and Moffatt, B.A. (1992) Antifreeze proteins produced endogenously in winter rye leaves. Plant Physiology 100: 593-596.

- Griffith, M. and McIntyre, H.C.H. (1993) The interrelationship of growth and frost tolerance in winter rye. Physiolgy of Plants 187:335-344.
- Griffith M., Antikainenen M. (1996) Extracellular ice formation in freezing-tolerant plants. Advances in Low Temperature Biology 3:107-139.
- Griffith M., Antikaninen, M., Hon, W., Pihakaski-Maunsbach, K., Yu X., Chun, J.U., Yang,D. (1997) Antifreeze proteins in winter rye. Physiologia Plantarum 100: 327-332.
- Griffith M., Yaish M.W.F. (2004) Antifreeze proteins in overwintering plants: a tale of two activities. Trends in Plant Science 9:399-405.
- Guy C. (2003) Freezing tolerance of plants: current understanding and selected emerging concepts. Canadian Journal of Botany 81:1216-1223.
- Hall T.A. (1999) BioEdit: a user-friendly biological sequence alignment editor and analysis program for Windows 95/98/NT. Nucleic Acids Symposium Series 41:95-98.
- Hagen G., Guilfoyle T. (2002) Auxin-responsive gene expression: genes, promoters and regulatory factors. Plant Molecular Biology 49 :373-385.
- Hancock J. Desikan R., Harrison J., Bright J., Hooley R., Neill S. (2006) Doing the unexpected: proteins involved in hydrogen peroxide perception. Journal of Experimental Botany 57:1711-8.
- Harper R.M., Stowe-Evans E.L., Luesse D.R., Muto H., Tatematsu K., Watahiki M.K., Yamamoto K., Liscum E. (2000) The NPH4 locus encodes the auxin response factor

ARF7, a conditional regulator of differential growth in aerial Arabidopsis tissue. Plant Cell 12: 757-770.

- Hartmann U., Sagasser M., Mehrtens F., Stracke R., Weisshaar B. (2005) Differential combinatorial interactions of cis-acting elements recognized by R2R3-MYB, BZIP, and BHLH factors control light-responsive and tissue-specific activation of phenylpropanoid biosynthesis genes. Plant Molecular Biology. 57: 155-175.
- Heidecker G., Messing J. (1986) Structural analysis of plant genes. Annual Reviews in Plant Physiology 37:439-466 (1986).
- Higo K., Ugawa Y., Iwamoto M. and Korenaga T. (1999) Plant cis-acting regulatory DNA elements (PLACE) database. Nucleic Acids Research 27:297-300.
- Hiilovaara-Teijo M., Hannukkala A., Griffith M., Xiao-Ming Y., Pihakaski-Maunsbach K (1999) Snow-mold-induced apoplastic Proteins in Winter Rye Leaves Lack Antifreeze Activity. Plant Physiology 121: 665-673.
- Hon W.C., Griffith M., Chong P., Yang D.S.C. (1994) Extraction and isolation of antifreeze proteins from winter rye (*Secale cereale L*) leaves. Plant Physiology 104:971-980.
- Hon W.C., Griffith M., Mlynarz A., Kwok Y.C., Yang D.S.C. (1995) Antifreeze proteins in winter rye are similar to pathogeneisis-related proteins. Plant Physiology 109:879-889.
- Huala E., Dickerman A., Garcia-Hernandez M., Weems D., Reiser L., LaFond F., Hanley D., Kiphart D., Zhuang J., Huang W., Mueller L., Bhattacharyya D., Bhaya D., Sobral B.,

Beavis B., Somerville C., and Rhee S.Y. (2001) The Arabidopsis Information Resource (TAIR): A comprehensive database and web-based information retrieval, analysis, and visualization system for a model plant. Nucleic Acids Research 29:102-1055.

- Hudson M.E., Quail P.H. (2003) Identification of promoter motifs involved in the network of phytochrome A-regulated gene expression by combined analysis of genomic sequence and microarray data. Plant Physiology 133: 1605-1616.
- Inukai Y., Sakamoto T., Ueguchi-Tanaka M., Shibata Y., Gomi K., Umemura I., Hasegawa Y., Ashikari M., Kitano H., Matsuoka M. (2005) Crown rootless, Which Is Essential for Crown Root Formation in Rice, Is a Target of an AUXIN RESPONSE FACTOR in Auxin Signaling. Plant Cell 17: 1387-1396.
- Jeffree, C.E., Read, N.D., Smith, J.A.C. and Dale, J.E. (1987) Water droplets and ice deposits in leaf intercellular spaces: redistribution of water during cryofixation for scanning electron microscopy. Planta 172: 30-37.
- Jin, W., Horner, H.T., Palmer, R.G. and Shoemaker, R.C. 1999. Analysis and mapping of gene families encoding β-1,3-glucanases of soybean. Genetics 153: 445-452.
- Joshi C.P. (1987) Putative polyadenylation signals in nuclear genes of higher plants: a compilation and analysis. Nucleic Acids Research 15:9627-9640.
- Katagiri F., Lam E., Chua N.H. (1989) Two tobacco DNA-binding proteins with homology to the nuclear factor CREB. Nature 31: 727-730.
- Kim S.Y., Chung H.J., Thomas T.L. (1997) Isolation of a novel class of bZIP transcription factors that interact with ABA-responsive and embryo-specification elements in the Dc3 promoter using a modified yeast one-hybrid system. The Plant Journal 11: 1237-1257.
- Klinedinst S., Pascuzzi P., Redman J., Desai M., Arias J. (2000) A xenobiotic-stress-activated transcription factor and its cognate target genes are preferentially expressed in root tip meristems. Plant Molecular Biology 42: 679-688.
- Krol, M., Griffith, M. and Huner, N.P.A. (1984) An appropriate physiological control for environmental temperature studies: comparative growth kinetics of winter rye.
 Canadian Journal of Botany 62: 1062-1068.
- Laloi C., Mestres-Ortega D., Marco Y., Meyer Y., Reichheld J.P (2004). The Arabidopsis cytosolic thioredoxin h5 gene induction by oxidative stress and its W-box-mediated response to pathogen elicitor. Plant Physiology. 134:1006-1016.
- Lam E., Chua N.H,. (1989) ASF-2: A factor that binds to the cauliflower mosaic virus 35S promoter and a conserved GATA motif in cab promoters. Plant Cell 1:1147-1156.
- Lee B.H., Henderson D.A., Zhu J.K.(2005) The Arabidopsis Cold-Responsive Transcriptome and Its Regulation by ICE1. Plant Cell. 17: 3155-3175.
- Le Gourrierec J., Li Y.F., Zhou D.X. (1999) Transcriptional activation by Arabidopsis GT-1 may be through interaction with TFIIA-TBP-TATA complex. Plant Journal 18:663-668.

- Leubner-Metzger G, Meins F Jr. (1991)Antisense-transformation reveals novel roles for class I beta-1,3-glucanase in tobacco seed after-ripening and photodormancy. Journal of Experimental Botany 52:1753-1759
- Levitt J. (1972) .Responses of plants to environmental stresses. Academic Press, New York.
- Loke J.C., Stahlberg E.A., Strenski D.G., Haas B.J., Wood P.C., Li Q.Q. (2005) Compilation of mRNA polyadenylation signals in Arabidopsis revealed a new signal element and potential secondary structures. Plant Physiology. 138: 1457-1468.
- Lopez-Molina L., Chua N.H, (2000) A null mutation in a bZIP factor confers ABAinsensitivity in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Cell Physiology 41: 541-547.
- Lu C.A., Lim E.K., Yu S.M. (1998) Sugar response sequence in the promoter of a rice alphaamylase gene serves as a transcriptional enhancer. Journal of Biological Chemistry 273:10120-10131.
- Lu C.A., Ho T.H.D., Ho S.L., Yu S.M. (2002) Three Novel MYB Proteins with One DNA Binding Repeat Mediate Sugar and Hormone Regulation of alpha-Amylase Gene Expression. Plant Cell 14: 1963-1980.
- Luscher B., Eiseman R.N. (1990) New light on Myc and Myb. Part II. Myb. Genes and Development. 4:2235-2241.
- Menkens A.E., Schindler U., Cashmore A.R. (1995) The G-box: a ubiquitous regulatoryDNA element in plants bound by the GBF family of bzip proteins. Trends inBiochemistry 20:506-510.

- Merz, J. (2005) Antifreeze proteins of winter rye (secale cereale L) plant and cell culture after treatment with methyl jasmonte. Diplome Thesis. University of Applied Science Berlin.
- Nakashima K., Fujita Y., Katsura K., Maruyama K., Narusaka Y., Seki M., Shinozaki K., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K. (2006) Transcriptional regulation of ABI3- and ABAresponsive genes including RD29B and RD29A in seeds, germinating embryos, and seedlings of Arabidopsis. Plant Molecular Biology 60:51-68.
- Nag R., Maity M.K., Dasgupta M. (2005) Dual DNA binding property of ABA insensitive 3 like factors targeted to promoters responsive to ABA and auxin. Plant Molecular Biology. 59: 821-838.
- Nemhauser J.L., Mockler T.C., Chory J. (2004) Interdependency of brassinosteroid and auxin signaling in Arabidopsis. PLoS Biology 2:E258.
- Ogawa M., Hanada A., Yamauchi Y., Kuwahara A., Kamiya Y., Yamaguchi S. (2003) Gibberellin biosynthesis and response during Arabidopsis seed germination. Plant Cell 15: 1591-1604.
- Oh S.J., Song S.I., Kim Y.S., Jang H.J., Kim S.Y., Kim M., Kim Y.K., Nahm B.H., Kim J.K. (2005) Arabidopsis CBF3/DREB1A and ABF3 in transgenic rice increased tolerance to abiotic stress without stunting growth. Plant Physiology 138: 341-351.
- Olien, C.R. (1967) Freezing stresses and survival. Annual Review of Plant Physiology 18: 387-408.

- Okuda T., Matsuda Y., Yamanaka A., Sagisaka S. (1991) Abrupt increase in the level of hydrogen peroxide in leaves of winter wheat is caused by cold treatment. Plany Physiology 97:1265-1267.
- O'Neill S.D., Kumagai M.H., Majumdar A., Huang N., Sutliff T.D., Rodriguez R.L. (1990) The alpha-amylase genes in Oryza sativa: Characterization of cDNA clones and mRNA expression during seed germination. Molecular and General Genetics 221:235-244.
- Park H.C., Kim M.L., Kang Y.H., Jeon J.M., Yoo J.H. Kim M.C., Park C.Y., Jeong J.C., Moon B.C., Lee J.H., Yoon H.W., Lee S.H., Chung W.S., Lim C.O., Lee S.Y., Hong J.C., Cho M.J. (2004)Pathogen- and NaCl-induced expression of the SCaM-4 promoter is mediated in part by a GT-1 box that interacts with a GT-1-like transcription factor. Plant Physiol. 135: 2150-2161.
- Pasquali G., Erven A.S.W., Ouwerkerk P.B.F., Menke F.L.H., Memelink J. (1999) The promoter of the strictosidine synthase gene from periwinkle confers elicitor-inducible expression in transgenic tobacco and binds nuclear factors GT-1 and GBF. Plant Molecular Biology 39:1299-1310.
- Piechulla B., Merforth N., Rudolph B. (1998) Identification of tomato Lhc promoter regions necessary for circadian expression. Plant Molecular Biology 38:655-662.
- Prasad T.K., Anderson M.D., Stewart C.R. (1994) Acclimation, hydrogen peroxide, and abscisic acid protect mitochondria against irreversible chilling injury in maize seedlings. Plant Physiology 105:619-627.

- Qin F., Sakuma Y., Li J., Liu Q., Li Y.Q., Shinozaki K., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K. (2004) Cloning and functional analysis of a novel DREB1/CBF transcription factor involved in cold-responsive gene expression in Zea mays L. Plant Cell and Physiology 45: 1042-1052.
- Redman J., Whitcraft J., Johnson C., Arias J. (2002) Abiotic and biotic stress differentially stimulate as-1 element activity in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell Reports 21: 180-185.
- Rushton P.J., Reinstadler A., Lipka V., Lippok B., Somssich I.E. (2002) Synthetic plant promoters containing defined regulatory elements provide novel insights into pathogen- and wound-induced signalling. Plant Cell. 14: 749-762.
- Rubio-Somoza I., Martinez M., Abraham Z., Diaz I., Carbonero P. (2006) Ternary complex formation between HvMYBS3 and other factors involved in transcriptional control in barley seeds. Plant Journal 47: 269-281.
- Sakai, A. and Larcher, W. (1987) Frost Survival of Plants: Responses and Adaptation to Freezing Stress. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Satoh R., Nakashima K., Seki M., Shinozaki K., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K. (2002) ACTCAT, a novel cis-acting element for proline- and hypoosmolarity-responsive expression of the ProDH gene encoding proline dehydrogenase in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiology 130:709-719.
- Satoh R., Fujita Y., Nakashima K., Shinozaki K., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K. (2004) A novel subgroup of bZIP proteins functions as transcriptional activators in hypossmolarity-

responsive expression of the ProDH gene in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell Physiology 45: 309-317.

- Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K. (2000) Molecular response to dehydration and low temperature: differences and cross-talk between two stress signaling pathways. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 3:217-223.
- Shinozaki K., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K., Seki M. (2003) Regulatory network of gene expression in the drought and cold stress responses.Current Opinions in Plant Biology 6:410-417.
- Siberil Y., Benhamron S., Memelink J., Giglioli-Guivarc'h N., Thiersault M., Boisson B.,
 Doireau P., Gantet P. (2001) Catharanthus roseus G-box binding factors 1 and 2 act as
 repressors of strictosidine synthase gene expression in cell cultures. Plant Molecular
 Biology 45: 477-488.
- Simpson S.D., Nakashima K., Narusaka Y., Seki M., Shinozaki K., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K.
 (2003) Two different novel cis-acting elements of erd1, a clpA homologous
 Arabidopsis gene function in induction by dehydration stress and dark-induced
 senescence. Plant Journal 33: 259-270.
- Skinner J.S., von Zitzewitz J., Szucs P., Marquez-Cedillo L., Filichkin T., Amundsen K.,
 Stockinger E.J., Thomashow M.F., Chen T.H., Hayes P.M (2005). Structural,
 functional, and phylogenetic characterization of a large CBF gene family in barley.
 Plant Molecular Biology 59: 533-551.

- Solano R., Nieto C., Avila J., Canas L., Diaz I., Paz-Ares J.. (1995) Dual DNA binding specificity of a petal epidermis-specific MYB transcription factor (MYB.Ph3) from Petunia hybrid. European Molecular Biology Organization Journal 14:1773-1784
- Somerville C., Koornneff M. (2002) A fortunate choice: the history of Arabidopsis as a model plant. Nature Reviews: Genetics 3:883-889.
- Song F., Goodman R.M, Zheng Z. (2005) Up-regulation of OsBIHD1, a rice gene encoding BELL homeodomain transcriptional factor, in disease resistance responses. Plant Biology 7: 459-468.
- Stalberg K., Ellerstom M., Ezcurra I., Ablov S., Rask L. (1996) Disruption of an overlapping E-box/ABRE motif abolished high transcription of the napA storage-protein promoter in transgenic Brassica napus seeds. Planta 199:515-519.
- Stressmann M., Kitao S., Griffith M., Moresoli C., Bravo L.A., Marangoni A.G. (2004) Calcium interacts with antifreeze proteins and chitinase from cold-acclimated winter rye.Plant Physiology 135:364-76.
- Suzuki M., Ketterling M.G., McCarty D.R. (2005) Quantitative statistical analysis of cisregulatory sequences in ABA/VP1- and CBF/DREB1-regulated genes of Arabidopsis. Plant Physiology.139: 437-447.
- Svensson J.T, Crosatti C., Campoli C., Bassi R., Stanca A.M., Close T.J., Cattivelli L. (2006) Transcriptome analysis of cold acclimation in barley albina and xantha mutants. Plant Physiology 141:257-270.

- Teakle G.R., Manfield I.W., Graham J.F., Gilmartin P.M. (2002) Arabidopsis thaliana GATA factors: organisation, expression and DNA-binding characteristics Plant Molecular Biology. 50 :43-57
- Terzaghi W.B., Cashmore A.R. (1995) Light-regulated transcription Annual Review of Plant Physiology Plant Molecular Biology 46:445-474
- Thompson J.D., Higgins, D.G., Gibson T.J. (1994) CLUSTAL W: improving the sensitivity of progressive multiple sequence alignment through sequence weighting, position specific gap penalties and weight matrix choice. Nucleic Acid Research 11:4673-4680.
- Terzaghi W.B., Cashmore A.R. (1995) Light-regulated transcription. Annual Review of Plant Physiology Plant Molecular Biology 46:445-474.
- Ulmasov T., Hagen G., Guilfoyle T.J. (1999) Dimerization and DNA binding of auxin response factors. Plant Journal 19:309-319.
- Urao T., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K., Urao S., Shinozaki K. (1993) An Arabidopsis myb homolog is induced by dehydration stress and its gene product binds to the conserved MYB recognition sequence. Plant Cell 5:1529-1539.
- Van Buskirk HA, Thomashow MF (2006) Arabidopsis transcription factors regulating cold acclimation. Physiology of Plants 126: 72-80
- Villain P., Mache R., Zhou D.X. (1996)The mechanism of GT element-mediated cell typespecific transcriptional control. Journal of Biology and Chemistry 271:32593-32598.

- Weltmeier F., Ehlert A., Mayer C.S., Dietrich K., Wang X., Schutze K., Alonso R., Harter K.,
 Vicente-Carbajosa J., Droge-Laser W. (2006) Combinatorial control of Arabidopsis
 proline dehydrogenase transcription by specific heterodimerisation of bZIP
 transcription factors. European Molecular Biology Organization Journal 25:31333143.
- Xiang C., Miao Z., Lam E., (1997) DNA-binding properties, genomic organization and expression pattern of TGA6,a new member of the TGA family of bZIP transcription factors in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Molecular Biology 34: 403-415.
- Xie Z., Zhang Z.L., Zou X., Huang J., Ruas P., Thompson D., Shen Q.J. (2005) Annotations and functional analyses of the rice WRKY gene superfamily reveal positive and negative regulators of abscisic acid signaling in aleurone cells. Plant Physiology 137:176-189.
- Xue G.P. (2002) Characterisation of the DNA-binding profile of barley HvCBF1 using an enzymatic method for rapid, quantitative and high-throughput analysis of the DNA-binding activity. Nucleic Acids Research 30: e77.
- Xue G.P. (2003) The DNA-binding activity of an AP2 transcriptional activator HvCBF2 involved in regulation of low-temperature responsive genes in barley is modulated by temperature. Plant Journal 33: 373-383.
- Yaish M.W, Doxey A.C., McConkey, B.J., Moffatt B.A., Griffith M. (2006) Cold-active winter rye glucanases with ice-binding capacity. Plant Physiology 141:1459-1472

- Yang T., Poovaiah B.W. (2002) Hydrogen peroxide homeostasis: activation of plant catalase by calcium/camodulin. Procedures of the National Acadamy of Science USA 99:4097-4102.
- Yanagisawa S., Schmidt R.J., (1999) Diversity and similarity among recognition sequences of Dof transcription factors. The Plant Journal 17:209-214.
- Yanagisawa S. (2000) Dof1 and Dof2 transcription factors are associated with expression of multiple genes involved in carbon metabolism in maize. The Plant Journal 21:281-288.
- Yeh S., Moffatt B.A., Griffith M., Xiong F., Yang D.S., Wiseman S.B., Sarhan F., Danyluk J., Xue Y.Q., Hew CL., Doherty-Kirby A, Lajoie G. (2000) Chitinase genes responsive to cold encode antifreeze proteins in winter cereals. Plant Physiology 124:1251-64.
- Yu, X.M. and Griffith, M. (1999). Antifreeze proteins in winter rye leaves form oligomeric complexes. Plant Physiol. 119(4): 1361-1369.
- Yu X.M., Griffith M. (2001) Winter rye antifreeze activity increases in response to cold and drought but not abscisic acid. Plant Physiology 112:78-86.
- Yu X.M, Griffith M., Wiseman S.B. (2001) Ethylene induces antifreeze activity in winter rye leaves. Plant Physiology 126:1232-1240.

- Zhang Z.L., Xie Z., Zou X., Casaretto J., Ho T.H., Shen Q.J. (2004) A rice WRKY gene encodes a transcriptional repressor of the gibberellin signaling pathway in aleurone cells. Plant Physiology 134:1500-1513.
- Zhou D.X. (1999) Regulatory mechanism of plant gene transcription by GT-elements and GT-factors. Trends in Plant Science 4:210-214.